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@ Digital China Holdings Limited 2015 Annual Report

Company Profile A& fN

Digital China Holdings Limited was founded by way of a spin-
off from the former Legend Group in 2000 and was listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
in 2001 (Stock Code: 00861.HK).

Over the decade since its incorporation, DC Holdings has moved
for business transformations on several occasions in response
to changes in the new era. What remains unchanged is the
Company’s mission of contributing to building a “Digitalized
China.” In its early years, DC Holdings was focused on the
building of a complete IT service value chain providing end-to-end
integrated IT services and became China’s largest integrated
IT services provider. In 2010, DC Holdings officially unveiled
its Sm@rt City strategy and commenced comprehensive
deployment of a Sm@rt City business network. Today, it has
firmly established itself as the prime name in Sm@rt City
construction in China, leading the market in terms of idea,
technology and implementation.

In 2015, further to its acquisition of Zhongnong Xinda in 2014,
DC Holdings acquired Clesun Tech (f£%8), a leading name in
agricultural 10T, invested in Mymyty China E-commerce Co.,
Ltd. (##/{E =12, an expert in county-level agricultural branded
e-commerce) and Cuncunle (1%, a village-level social media
platform), and established Yangling Agricultural Cloud Service
Corporation (#52 2¥ZRZ B MR AR]) in 2015, in a move to
further improve its business network in the Internet agriculture
sector. On the back of its extensive business deployment in
China, DC Holdings has developed businesses in Internet +
urban services, Internet + agriculture, Internet + manufacturing
in in-depth integration with various industries with the support
of cloud computing and big data technologies, with a strong
commitment to grow into China’s leading cloud services provider
and big data expert.
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Financial Highlights BF 75 2

FY2015 FY2014 FY2013* FY2012/13 FY2011/12
—ZE—F —ZE— - fT-= -F—=/ —F——/
Bt B MEr  —Z=Z#FE —ZHF
HK$Sm HK$m HK$m HK$m HK$m
ARl SIS EE ABEEr BA¥EET B¥EET
For the Year REER
Revenue A 68,343 52,265 73,499 70,319
Profit/(loss) from Operating R ()
Activities 1,305 (180) 2,114 1,945
Profit attributable to equity [SWNGIEE
holders s 701 84 1,372 1,245
Earnings per Share (HK cents) &M &F GB1L) 65.37 7.87 128.01 116.32
Dividends per Share (HK cents) &% % 8 GEL) 20.00 17.80 38.80 39.80
At Year-end REER
Total Assets BEE 33,708 30,100 28,408 26,822
Shareholders’ Funds BEES 8,600 7,726 7,826 6,821
Financial Ratio B gt &=
Return on Equity (%) BRESEHRE(ED L) 815 1.09 17.47 18.25
Interest Cover (times) MEEEL XD 5.22 -0.63 7.31 5.93
Current Ratio (times) B B (15) 118 1.36 1.44 1.36
Total Interest Bearing Debts to Hf & HE & %R
Shareholders’ Funds Ratio BEa xR
(times) 0.94 0.78 0.70 0.59

Revenue Profit/(loss) from Profit Attributable
PPN Operating Activities to Equity Holders
BERH (BR) B 2 5] I 5 FE 15 it F1
HK$m HK$m HK$m
AMEET BY¥EET BY¥EET
80,000 2,500 1,500
1,945
70,000 2000 - 1,245
60,000 '
1,500
50,000 1308 800
40,000 1,000 701
681 600
30,000 500
20,000
@] 300 199
10,000 84
(180)
0 500 0
FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY
11/12 12/13 13* 14  15¢ 1/12 12/13 13* 14 15+ 11,12 12/13 13* 14  15¢

*  Due to adjustment of financial year end, FY2013 refers to the nine months ended 31 December 2013

* FEMERER T ZHERBEE_E—=F+-A=+—RHILNEA

# Due to the completion of the disposal of the traditional distribution business, the revenue, operating profits
and profits attributable to equity holders include continuing operations only
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JAN
21-Jan

29-Jan

MAR
1-Mar

APR
20-Apr

MAY
1-May

Zhuhai entered into a sm@rt city strategic
cooperation framework agreement with Digital
China, pursuant to which the two parties will work
closely under the Sm@rt Zhuhai strategic planning
and create the “Sm@rt Zhuhai Integrated Service
Platform” as an open and integrated support hub
to start with.

Digital China officially entered into a strategic
agreement with ALiCloud, pursuant to which
the two parties intend to be engaged in in-
depth cooperation in sm@rt city-related cloud
operations, with the aim of full-scale convergence
through the provision of cloud computing services
in the government service and corporate service
sectors.

On 1 March, DCITS entered into strategic
partnership with the China Certified Tax Agents
Association (“CCTAA”) to establish Shenzhou Yitai
Information Service (Beijing) Company Limited.
Later in August, www.leshui365.com, which was
jointly developed and operated by CCTAA and
Shenzhou Yitai, was officially launched.

On 20 April, Digital China entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with Shenyang Machine
Tools Group to jointly establish Createlligence
Investment Co., Ltd. in preparation for Industry
4.0.

On 1 May, DC Holdings invested in Mymyty and
Cuncunle to optimise its business network in the
agricultural sector.
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Significant Events X250l E&

5-May

JUN
24-Jun

29-Jun

JUL
1-Jul

4-Jul

6-Jul

On 5 May, Digital China entered into a framework
cooperation agreement with Shanghai Jiaotang
University for the joint development of a united
sm@rt-city laboratory and a joint talent training
programme, with a view to full cooperation in R&D,
technology and talent training.

On 24 June, Long An Alliance was set up with
DCITS and Sugon as promoters and several
backbone companies in the domestic IT industry
chain, including Loongson, Tong Tech and China
Standard Software as initial members, and its
debut product was a “safe and reliable integrated
solution (platform)”.

On 29 June, an agreement was signed in
connection with the “China-EU Sm@rt City
Laboratory”, the first united laboratory for sm@rt
cities between China and EU.

On 1 July, DCITS announced the acquisition of
Clesun Tech to tap the business of agricultural
Internet of Things.

On 4 July, Digital China signed the sm@rt city
cooperation agreement with the City Council
of Manchester, the United Kingdom at the
Manchester Town Hall, signifying the first
confirmed project for the “China-EU Sm@rt City
United Laboratory”.

On B July, the Sm@rt City Joint Innovation Centre
at Shanghai Jiaotong University was officially
established.
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15-dul

AUG
1-Aug

7-Aug

SEP
8-Sep

15-Sep

On 15 July, DCITS completed the acquisition of
Clesun Tech with the subscription of 51.0114%
shares in Clesun Tech for a total consideration
of approximately RMB35.71 million, with a view
to optimising its strategic business network
development.

On 1 August, Yangling Agricultural Hi-tech Industry
Demonstration Zone Management Committee
signed a strategic cooperation agreement with
Digital China, pursuant to which the two parties
will jointly create the “Yangling Agricultural Cloud”
and apply for establishment of Xinnong Bank,
the first agricultural Internet bank of China. On
31 August, Yangling Agricultural Hi-tech Industry
Demonstration Zone Management Committee
entered into strategic cooperation with Digital
China.

On 7 August, Digital China proceeded with the
conditional disposal of its distribution business to
Shenxin Taifeng (000034.5Z), a domestic-listed
A-share company. As disclosed by the two parties,
the amount of the transaction was RMB4.01
billion, which was 13 times of the net profit of
Digital China’'s distribution business for 2014.

On 8 September, DCN pioneered in the industry
as one of the first in China to pass OpenFlow V1.3
uniformity certification.

On 15 September, DCITS became the first
recipient in China of class one qualification for
maintenance services. The China Information
Systems Integration and Service Industry Alliance
was officially established and DCITS was elected
vice president (corporate) of the Alliance, while
Li Jun, vice president of DCITS, was elected vice
president (personal] of the Alliance.
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Significant Events X250l E&

16-Sep

25-Sep

OCT
16-Oct

19-Oct

28-0Oct

NOV
1-Nov

ModelB@nk4.0, the “Internet +
Banking” new-generation |T application
architecture of DCITS was presented in a
sensational launch as the first “Internet+” banking
IT application architecture solution in China.

Omnipotent

On 25 September, the “2015 Internet + Data
Liberalization Innovative Venture Contest” was
officially commenced in Weihai, Shandong.

On 16 October, Digital China (Tianjin) Finance
Lease Limited hosted a session to promote
agricultural machine leasing in association with
the Qigihar Municipal Agricultural Committee and
Agriculture Machine Bureau.

On 19 October, the “Online Meeting Room”
(Zhongguancun Innovative Business Venture
Service Platform), which was the ‘“integrated
corporate service platform” among the “one centre
and three platforms” created by Digital China, was
launched by Premier Li Kegiang.

On 28 October, DCITS entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with OKIl in China in
connection with the ATM business sector.

On 1 November, Wuhan Technology Park was
granted the title of “China Optical Valley IC
Design Industrial Park” by Wuhan Optical Valley
Management Committee.
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5-Nov

12-Nov

17-Nov

DEC
18-Dec

Dec

On 5 November, Digital China hosted a
presentation to announce its Internet + Agriculture
Strategy, as Yangling Agricultural Cloud was
unveiled by Feng Xinzhu, Deputy Governor of
Shaanxi Province, and Guo Wei, Chairman of
Digital China.

On 12 November, supply chain management
sector reported record-high transaction volumes
for the e-commerce “Single Day sales”, as the
number of service orders increased by 150%.

On 17 November, Henan Province entered into
a strategic cooperation agreement with Digital
China to drive the implementation of Henan's
“Internet+” strategy. It was first province with a
population size of over 100 million and the first
large province in Central China to partner with
Digital China.

On 18 December, the Sm@rt City integrated
citizen service platform of Digital China was
officially implemented in Beijing as the new version
of “Beijing Web” went online.

Instant Logistics has become the third-party
logistics service provider for all of the big three
telecom carriers after the Supply Chain Business
Segment signed up with China Telecom.

In mid-December, DCITS undertook to build
the first quantum application project in the
international market, while winning another tender
for the second phase of the quantum encrypted
communication main network of the “Beijing-
Shanghai Telecommunication Main Line”.
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Business Group: Holding Company
EBEE ERER

Date of award Name of award

BREH

1/12/2015 Most Influential IT Enterprises
in China 2015

1/7/2015 Fortune China 500

Business Group: Digital China IT Services
EBEE WNBEESRE

Date of award Name of award

ERRR

1/12/2015 Top 10 Software and
Information Service Enterprises
in China 2015

1/11/2015 QOutstanding Big Data
Application Service Provider
2015

1/11/2015 Benchmark IT Service
Enterprise in China 2015

1/11/2015 Most Influential IT Service
Enterprises in China 2015

1/9/2015 Leading Information Service
Enterprises in China 2015

1/9/2015 First Ranking in Level of
Satisfaction for IT Information
Service

1/9/2015 First Class | Qualifications for
Operational and Maintenance
Services in China

1/7/2015 Cloud Service Operator 2015

1/7/2015 Top 10 Praviders of Military
Industry Solutions in China
2015

1/7/2015 Top 10 Providers of Power
Industry Solutions in China
2015

1/7/2015 Top 10 Providers of

Government Sector Solutions in
China 2015

RELRE
BHEEEEEFEREND
8 E R E500%

RELRE

201EEHEEAAES
RETAREELES

0BEFAABERREHR

0REREITREEEC £

S

BEFETRERAYENC £
ROSEEFEIEE N REEECESE
TEEREREEE—

rEEEESRE -REE

BERBELHE

BHRETEEITENRD

2015FETEE N

05T ERRITEFEE

Authority

ITEC 2015

Fortune (Chinese Edition)

Authority

China Center for Information
Industry Development China
Software Testing Centre
CCID Think-tank Software
and Information Service
Industry Research Institute
Software and Integrated
Circuit Magazine

Business Partner

CCID Consulting Company
Limited China Federation of
T

CCID Consulting Company
Limited China Federation of
IT Promotion

China Information Weekly
China Federation of IT
China Association for
Quality Users Committee,
MIT Electronic Technology
Intelligence and Research
Institute, CCW Research
Office for Qualifications

in Information Systems
Integration, China
Information Technalogy
Industry Federation
Business Partner

Business Partner

Business Partner

Business Partner
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Awards #2718

1/7/2015

1/7/2015

1/7/2015

1/6/2015

1/6/2015

1/5/2015

Top 10 Praviders of Financial
Industry Solutions in China
2015

Top 10 Providers of
Telecommunication Industry
Solutions in China 2015

Top 100 Solution Providers in
China 2015

Best Intermediary Product in
the Software Industry of China
2015 — DCITS Sm@rtESB
Leading Software Enterprises in
China 2015

Top 5 Leading Service
Providers in the Financial
Service Industry of China 2015

Business Group: Internet Agriculture

ABER DRARR

Date of award

BEER

12/1/2016

Name of award

Outstanding [Internet+]
Case Award 2015

Business Group: Sm@rt City Service Group

EREE 23T

Date of award

EERH
2015/11

2015/

2015/1

Name of award

Sino-European Green and
Sm@rt City Innovation Award
(Benxi)

Sino-European Green and
Sm@rt City Innovation Award
(Changshu)

Sino-Eurapean Green and
Sme@rt City Innovation Award
(Nantong)
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20BEEPEE REEABHREH

30

2015F [E[ 5 B 48+]
BAEH%

30

B ERE B AR R (RF)

TESENEZNMAHE(ER)

PREENERRTATR(ER)

Business Partner

Business Partner

Business Partner

China Software Industry
Association China
Information Weekly
China Software Industry
Association China
Information Weekly
Software and Information
Service Magazine, China
Center for Information
Industry Development

Authority

Digital China and Internet
Development Summit Forum
(Ecanomic Information Daily)

Authority

First Sina-European Green
and Sme@rt City Award
2015

First Sino-Eurapean Green
and Sm@rt City Award
2015

First Sino-European Green
and Sm@rt City Award
2015
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2015 is a year that Digital China transformed from traditional IT distribution to
Internet-based operations with full encouragement and endeavor. Following the
successful disposals of our distribution businesses during the year, Digital China
Holdings has become a company fully dedicated to Internet services.

—E-HFHEN

i REETBHEERESRITOHOEMEACEENN—F -

FHRDEEDHEMRARER 2R GMNBBERETEAD —BEEEBHAR

BHATF o

Dear Shareholders of Digital China,

2015 has been a most extraordinary year in every sense
of the word. While stock market and foreign exchange
market are extremely volatile, thanks to shareholders’
support, Digital China has successfully completed the
largest disposal transaction of our traditional distribution
business which is so determined and as well as breathtaking.
With comprehensive applications of Cloud and Big Data
technologies, bold moves were made with careful trials to
facilitate various types of services in the areas of agriculture,
manufacturing, healthcare, city services, venture business,
urban administration, taxation, banking and IT services, as
we endeavoured to realise transformation and upgrade of
our traditional distribution channel services to IT and Internet
services.

What’'s happening at Digital China during the past year:

2015 is a year that Digital China transformed from
traditional IT distribution to Internet-based operations with
full encouragement and endeavor. Following the successful
disposals of our distribution businesses during the year,
Digital China Holdings has become a company fully dedicated
to Internet services. The present and future focus of the
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Chairman’s Statement ¥ &%

Mr. GUO Wei

Company is and will be on businesses commanding high added
value and growth potential, such as Internet city services
(Sme@rt City), Internet agriculture, Internet healthcare,
Internet manufacturing, Internet logistics and corresponding
financial services, under the guidance of Sm@rt City strategy
through in-depth integration with various industries on the
back of Internet-related, Cloud Computing and Big Data
technologies.

The emergence, development and application of the
Internet has forever revolutionised the way in which people
comprehend this world, and all industrial forms have also
changed accordingly. In line with this trend, Digital China
had proposed the Sm@rt City development strategy in 2011
and finally confirmed the correct pathway after three years
of exploration and implementation: from the provision of
informatisation solutions for government departments to
the formation of a business model for Internet city services
comprising primarily “Internet + citizen services”, “Internet +
enterprise services” and “Internet + government services”,
Digital China has evolved into a leading integrator of contents
and provider of data applications in China Smart City industry.
In October 2015, the Innovative And Venture Services
Platform built by Digital China for Zhongguancun went online
with Premier Li Kegiang inaugurating the ceremony. Following
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the implementation of the pan-universities innovative industry
belt in Beilin, Xi'an and the enterprise service platforms in
Shanghai Free Trade Zone and Changshu, Digital China’s
outstanding ability in “Internet + enterprise services” has
been well recognised by the Government. As of now, Digital
China has signed up 37 cities for Internet city services,
including large cities such as Beijing and Chengdu, as well
as small- or medium-sized cities such as Longyan and
Changshu, covering a total resident population of over 125
million. Relevant operations have already commenced in
some of these cities. Following the full strategic partnership
agreement with Hebei Province in 2014, Digital China further
entered into comprehensive strategic cooperation with
Henan Province in 2015, in areas ranging from Internet
agriculture to Internet city services.

Since the official commencement of the agricultural
informatisation business through the acquisition of 100%
equity interests in Zhongnong Xinda by DCITS in mid-2014,
Digital China has become the largest and strongest company
in agricultural informatisation sector of China. We have
been far ahead of the nationwide market for the farmland
right registration which is worth as much as RMB30-40
billion. Capitalising on opportunities presented by the
business of farmland rights registration, Zhongnong Xinda
built a multi-functional land asset securitisation platform
(namely, agricultural property exchange platform) within its
agricultural Internet eco-system to provide “one-stop and
full-cycle” services for governments and farmers. This has
effectively facilitated the exchange and trading as well as
value enhancement of agricultural land, thereby driving the
development of villages and increasing the income of farmers.
In connection with this business segment, we invested in
Clesun Tech, a leading agricultural I0T company in China, as
well Cuncunle (Ff#744) and Mymyty (7 /M Z &12), both leading
brands in rural community, in 2015. Such acquisitions have
enriched the platform’s applications in precision agriculture
and e-commerce. Also during the year, Digital China formed
a joint venture with Xian Yangling, the only national-level
agricultural hi-tech industry showcase zone, together to
establish the first standardized, authoritative and operable
agricultural big data centre in China. At a time of agricultural
informatisation setting for exponential growth, Digital China’s
Internet agriculture business segment will become a new
growth driver for the Company.

2015, is a year that Digital China pushing forward the
more in-depth company structure reform. To better align
with the changes in corporate management brought about
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by the Internet, we started our full-scale structural reform
in 2014. The fleet management model has been adopted,
and the Company has been reorganised, or decentralised,
into 5 primary business groups under the guiding principles
of strategic focus, process controllability and independent
accounting. Through organisational reforms, we have
released the potential staff value to the fullest extent.
Through the design of a virtualised organisational structure,
we have broken up the constraints imposed by traditional
hierarchies and created a new eco-system. In 2015, we,
the people of Digital China succeeded to stand the test and
assure stable operations of the 5 major business groups
against a complex macro-economic landscape.

(1) Sme@rt City Service Group — Following the official
implementation of the Internet + Sm@rt City
strategy in 2014, more than 30 platforms for
citizen services, enterprise services and government
services were gradually put into construction or
commenced operation. The launch of the City Public
Information Service Platform 5.0, a core supporting
system for Sm@rt City based on the urban virtual
imaging infrastructure, in 2015 has accelerated the
implementation and deployment of our Sm@rt City
service platform products. In future, we will actively
explore Internet services on the aforesaid platforms as
we continue to expand our coverage of cities, seeking
to unveil the commercial value with the aid of Cloud
Computing and Big Data analysis.

(2) Digital China Group — 2015 has been a vyear of
immense significance to our distribution business, as
we completed the disposal transaction of this business.
It has been a determined severance by Digital China
Holdings in the process of its full transformation
into industrial Internet services; it has also been a
reincarnation for the traditional distribution business.
You will no longer be reading about the distribution
business in the financial reports of Digital China in
the future. However, as the business becoming an
independently operated listed company in the A share
market, we remained firmly convinced that the Digital
China brand will continue to enjoy a new lease of life in
“‘omni-channels, proprietary brands and Cloud services”
business areas.

(3) Digital China Information Technology Service Company
Ltd (“DCITS”) — As China continues to drive economic
transformation with full force, information technology
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will be playing an even more important role in the new
cycle of industrial upgrade. In 2015, DCITS benefited

from the rapid informatisation of key industries
in China’s national economy, including financial,
telecommunications, government and enterprise

service and agriculture and maintained sound
business development. In particular, our agricultural
informatisation business was making swift progress
under the guidance of our ‘“Internet agriculture”
strategy with the acquisition of Clesun Tech and the
joint venture formation of Yangling Agricultural Cloud
Service Corporation (#5% 2 2Z iRk A 5]), covering
areas such as farmland right registration and trading,
agricultural Internet of Things (“IOT”), agricultural Big
Data and origin certification for agricultural produces.
By the end of the year, farmland right registration
services had been provided for 460 counties across
the nation. Regarding to the traditional systems
integration business, DCITS completed the construction
of the indoor modulation system of the technical
certification and application showcase project for
the “Beijing-Shanghai Telecommunication Main Line”,
a national strategic project in quantum encrypted
communication, while also winning the tender for
the construction of the main network of the “Beijing-
Shanghai Telecommunication Main Line”. In future,
DCITS will continue to pursue business model innovation
and business value enhancement on the back of its
existing strengths in technical services and software
development, aiming to grow into China’'s most valuable
Cloud platform service provider with the benefit of
synergies developed under Digital China's Internet
service strategy.

Supply Chain Management Strategy Unit — In 2015,
our Supply Chain Management Business has fully
integrated with Internet. With the optimised
“intermediary platform” service model of our
e-commerce business integrating orders, accounting,
systems and process management, we provided
effective assistance to Huawei and other famous
brand manufacturers in the development of online
sales. Our logistics business had provided efficient
services to branded vendors during the annual
“‘November 11th” e-commerce sales initiative for 6
years, leveraging its solid technologies and proven
experience in e-commerce warehousing and storage.
Our maintenance business reported substantial
improvements in profitability for offline physical stores

(4

MMBEIERERAR 201568 @

Chairman’s Statement ¥ &%

EEENEZNERMEE - —F
—HF HMNEERERER B
E BE REFBREESHT

EERLEHNREER  EBRER
HER AT BXREBLEBE
[(EM@EX I BREETNESE
BR - HHBEENMK - AEKILEG

EREERBAR  XBEBE L
BENRE RED ﬁﬁ%ﬂ BEX
%( TJ% ?E AR /}rﬁ J% [0 n.m =5 YE ﬂZ %Z
EFEQRD/EEA60ME M H IR
HTERNLORERERE - £FR X
MEKEBRE - BERMES

HMESTKTEREBKERE T
RE Lﬁfﬂﬁ%%ﬁjﬁmm & M g
RREBIEAEAB A RGNER
VWE-—FTHEETFTRTBEINE
B ITBRWEENERIER o KK

1IN {5 B 12 R B Bl AR 75 S =X A
FRZMNESBEN L  FENRER

BB EER - B
BN BB BIRBEBRR - KA
TEXABENEFERBE -

HEBEEBRARL — —F—5
FoHEBEEXG2MED B

BY - EWMEBRABLERTE
1% ZmkonRERE AR [Hh

BIRBEN XN EREZH
ZmEHANEGHEEER - YR
X BRECENAREAIEREN
HiAMEEmMEs & FaX
AR iR e [ &+ — BT
EE o IEEBBBEIRINE]



@ Digital China Holdings Limited 2015 Annual Report

Chairman’s Statement ¥ &%

thanks to the mobile Internet access formed through
the “K-boy” Wechat platform. In future, the Company
will continue to introduce innovations to the supply-
chain informatisation business. With flexible application
of resources available from the capital market and
increased investments, we are aiming to become the
leading brand name in Internet supply chain in China.

(5) Financial Service Strategy Unit — As an important
support for the industrial Internet platform of Digital
China, our Financial Service Business leverages our
brand reputation, market position, channel resources
and technological strengths to obtain financial licenses
for Internet micro-credit loans, third-party payments,
factoring and financial leasing. Strong efforts have
been made to develop relevant businesses and positive
synergies with other business groups, especially
Internet agriculture, have been achieved. Chongging
Micro-credit Loan Company reported sound operations
with stringent risk control, while the development
of new financial products were enhanced to meet
the diversified financing needs of customers. The
outstanding loan balance as at year-end amounted to
over RMB1.3 billion.

It has been 15 years since the listing of Digital China.
Following the completion of the disposal of our distribution
business, our revenue will drop substantially. After 5
years of development, the Sm@rt City model that we have
been advocating has won extensive recognition across
the industry in terms of our technological approach and
stronger competition has also emerged. While Cloud
and Big Data technologies are growing in sophistication
globally, there are still many bottlenecks in technologies
to be resolved through exploration and innovation. In this
regard, the challenge is particularly strong in relation to
industry-oriented deep web technologies. On the path to
the full transformation into an Internet enterprise, we will
be more focused, more integrated and more open-minded.
We are profoundly aware that it is far more difficult to
transform a traditional enterprise than to build a new one.
The transformation of a traditional enterprise requires
not just changes in technologies and models, but also a
comprehensive revolution in concepts, technologies, people
and culture. Furthermore, it requires back-up from capital
market and understanding from investors. Digital China has
built strong capabilities to integrate and process cross-
industry data, a diverse customer base and extensive brand
recognition. We need to be market-sensitive, but we should
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not allow ourselves to follow the masses blindly. \We should
be disciplined and objective, and yet we must commit our
efforts with greater boldness. In 2016, we will recruit talents
and incentivise new ventures and innovation to the greatest
possible extent through the development of a new incentive
regime, so that innovation will become a genetic character
of Digital China. We will also look to improve our network-
based and virtualised organisational structure, with a view to
maximising working efficiency. In 2016, we will continue to
drive our transformation in a resolute manner and expedite
developments in new businesses such as Sm@rt City, Sm@rt
healthcare, Sm@rt manufacturing and social credit on the
basis of our core industrial Internet services, so as to
generate new driving forces for the Company’s development
into a genuine Cloud and Big Data company. May | take this
opportunity to express gratitude on behalf of the board to
investors for your support of Digital China’s transformation,
and to all members of our staff for their relentless efforts
towards the fulfilment of our goals.
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The Chinese economy was burdened by industrial
transformation under the driving force of information
technology in 2015. Meanwhile, the global capital market
together with the foreign exchange market was extremely
volatile. Confronted with such complicated conditions in
the macro-economy, capital and foreign exchange markets,
Digital China continued to progress forward steadfastly in its
transformation into an industrial Internet services company.
In 2015, we successfully completed the disposal of our
traditional distribution business (the Discontinued Operation,
namely, Digital China Group) and transformed into a pure
Internet service company on all fronts including strategy,
business and finance. Today, information technologies such
as Cloud Computing, Mobile Internet, the Internet of Things
(I0T) and Big Data have become important drivers for social
development and industrial transformation. In future, Digital
China’s business exposure will be on high value-added and
high growth potential businesses, such as Internet Sm@rt
City services, Internet agriculture, Internet healthcare,
Internet manufacturing, Internet logistics and relevant
financial services, based on Internet, Cloud Computing and
Big Data technologies while fully integrated with traditional
businesses.

11 Completion of the disposal of the traditional

distribution business

The company announced in August 2015 the disposal
of 100% equity interests in its traditional consumer
and corporate distribution business (the “Discontinued
Operation”, namely, Digital China Group) for a cash
consideration of RMB4.01 billion. On 18 December
2015, the transaction was approved by the China
Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC). On 7 March
2016, the company was natified by Shenxin Taifeng, the
buyer in the transaction, that procedures required for
the change in shareholder of the Digital China Group
were completed on the same date. Accordingly, the
disposal was completed on 7 March 2016 pursuant to
the terms of the equity transfer agreement. Upon the
completion of the transaction, Digital China Group was
no longer a subsidiary of the Company. The Company
has received the Consideration (after deducting
applicable tax payment) of RMB3.76 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$4.46 billion) on 21 March 2016 and
the special cash dividend of HK$3.20 per share of the
Company will be payable on or around Tuesday, 19 April
2016 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on Monday, 11 April 2016.
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The traditional distribution business, namely, Digital
China Group, was presented as “Discontinued
Operation” in the results for the financial year under
review (12 months ended 31 December 2015), while
the remaining businesses, namely, the IT Service
Business (Digital China Information Technology Service
Company Ltd. (“DCITS")), Supply Chain Management
Business and New Business (including Sm@rt City
and financial services) were presented as “Continuing
Operations”. In view of the impact of the disposal of
Digital China Group on the fund allocation and business
classification of the company, the corresponding scopes
or bases of the business groups have been adjusted
as follows:

1. The investment of financial products utilizing
surplus funds of the Distribution Business was
transferred out of the Financial Services of the
New Business segments and reallocated to Digital
China Group, and

2. Service fee-based businesses under Digital China
Group was transferred out of Digital China Group
and reallocated to the Supply Chain Service
segment.

Results of comparative financial periods were restated
as appropriate. In addition, starting from this report
of annual results, revenue generated from operations
based on the service-fee model in the Supply Chain
Management Strategy Unit will be presented in net
amount. For details, please refer to Section 2.2 below.

The
while temporary losses resulted from exchange

Internet business development continues

rate brings volatility for profit

For the financial year under review, revenue from
company’s Continuing Operations amounted to
approximately HK$10.631 billion, representing a year-
on-year decline of 12.55% (if revenue generated
from operations based on the service-fee model in
the Supply Chain Management Business in 2014
was presented in net amount, then revenue slightly
decreased by 1.24% yoy), while profit from operating
activities from Continuing Operations was approximately
HK$681 million, increased 22.37% compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year; profit
attributable to shareholders of Continuing Operations
amounted to approximately HK$199 million, decreasing
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by 34.82% as compared with the corresponding period
of last financial year. Overall gross profit margin for
the period was 20.85%, 5.61 percentage points higher
than the corresponding period of last financial year.
Foreign exchange losses for the period amounted
to approximately HK$150 million, which represented
non-cash losses arising from revaluation of debt
denominated in foreign currencies as a result of the
change in the USD to RMB exchange rate. Excluding
the effect of foreign exchange losses, profit from our
Continuing Operations attributable to shareholders
of the parent company amounted to approximately
HK$319 million, an increase of 4.01% as compared
to the corresponding period of last financial year. As
the foreign exchange trade exposure of the Continuing
Operations would be minimal in future after the
disposal, the management is actively adjusting its loan
policy, which will determine the currency of its new
loans by taking into full consideration factors such
as interest rates, exchange rates and the nature of
businesses concerned. \We expect exchange risks in
future to be controlled.

Operating expenses of the Continuing Operations for
the full year increased by 27.80% year-on-year, mainly
reflecting the foreign exchange losses which were
included in the other operating expenses. Administrative
expenses together with selling and distribution costs
increased by 18.50%, year-on-year, and accounted
for 11.21% of total sales, up from 8.27% in the last
financial year. Such increase was mainly attributable to
the increase in staff headcount by about 24%, year-on-
year, to capture the business expansion of DCITS, as
well as the general increase in the demand for human
resources driven by the development of the Internet
business especially the rapid development of Sm@rt
City.
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1.3 Sme@rt City service is heralding fast development

of strategic new businesses

During the past year, 2015, China's Sm@rt City
industry was overly clamorous: Internet companies,
smart devices companies, and even property
development companies, were crushing into while
dazzling ideas and applications were brought out.
As one of the first-movers of China's Sm@rt City
industry, Digital China had gone through the stage
of urban informatisation characterized by project-
based solutions, during which it fostered the ability
to integrate and process cross-sector data, which
established a diverse customer base and a well-known
brand. After years of implementation and investment,
we firstly initiated a new business model of providing
various services to the government, enterprises and
citizens via the Internet based on an information
platform which served to integrate, apply and output
data collected from different government sectors. Since
the first service contract-based platform launched in
2014, our platforms servicing government, enterprises
and citizen have been initiated in 37 cities among
which 16 are in operation. Following the provincial
strategic partnership agreement with Hebei Province,
Digital China entered into a comprehensive cooperation
agreement with Henan Province on Sme@rt City and
other related Internet services in 2015. The company’s
Internet business in urban services, corporate services,
public sector services and agricultural services are
expected to roll out rapidly in future in this mega
province with a population of over 100 million.

As an IT company with solid background, Digital China
has been making capital investments in technologies on
a long-term basis in order to enhance service efficiency
and quality. The City Public Data Service Platform 5.0
based on a number of innovative technologies, such
as virtual imaging, deep web data collection and cloud
services, was launched in 2015 representing a huge
upgrade from version 3.0 launched in 2014. Due to the
constant upgrading of our core platform system, we
have substantially shortened the platform construction
period and enhanced the efficiency of data integration
to provide a solid foundation for the promotion of
Sme@rt City services.
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CONTINUING OPERATIONS
2.1 Digital China Information Service Company Ltd. 2.1

(DCITS): leading IT service provider in China’s
IT industry specialised in proprietary software,
services, Cloud Computing and Big Data analysis
and persisting with the strategy of integrating

Sme@rt City and Sm@rt Agriculture

As an important pillar in technology underpinning the
industrial Internet service strategy of Digital China,
DCITS benefitted from the rapid informatisation
of major industries in China, including financial,
telecommunications, state-owned enterprises and
agriculture while sustaining rapid development on the
back of continuous business innovation. For the full
year of 2015, DCITS reported revenue of approximately
HK$8.156 billion, representing a 0.25% growth
comparing to the corresponding period of last financial
year. Gross profit margin was 2.32 percentage points
higher as compared with the corresponding period of
last financial year to 25.5%. Net profit attributable
to shareholders of the parent company amounted to
HK$424 million, representing growth of 20.53% as
compared with the corresponding period of last financial
year.

Technical Service and Application Software
Development Business: The company continues
innovations of its technical services and enters into
new sectors such as testing and outsourcing services,
as informatisation development pursues and technology
upgrades. Technical service revenue for the financial
year under review amounted to HK$2.109 billion,
largely unchanged from the corresponding period
of last financial year, while gross profit margin was
25.50%, an improvement of 2.32 percentage points
compared with the corresponding period of last
financial year. Meanwhile, as companies in the financial,
telecommunications, and state-owned enterprises
pursues further reforms, corporate customers aims
to achieve business process optimisation, efficiency
enhancement and IT architectural restructuring,
providing a strong growth driver for the company’s
application software development business. For the
reporting period, revenue from this sector grew 3.66%,
year-on-year, to HK$681 million, while gross profit
margin was 8.90 percentage points higher at 37.40%,
as we enhanced the R&D together with Cloud and Big
Data development while expediting the launch of new
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products. Our financial Cloud platform added 33 new
clients in banking sector, while in the taxation service
sector, the self-developed management decision-making
platform for management has been applied in 16
provinces across the country, resulting in the further
expansion of our taxation services on Big Data.

Agricultural Informatisation Business: new
urbanisation and agricultural modernisation have
become important drivers for China’'s economic
transformation and upgrade. As the foundation
for agricultural modernisation, the farmland right
registration business has been rapidly growing with the
strong support of governments at all levels, while the
farmland exchange transactions are rolling out as well.
The company’s agricultural informatisation business
reported revenue of approximately HK$331 million
under the main business executor Zhongnong Xinda,
representing more than 80% growth as compared with
the corresponding period of last financial year. During
the reporting period, the company made significant
progress in its “Internet agriculture” strategy with the
acquisition of further interests in Clesun Tech, the joint
venture formation of Yangling Agricultural Cloud Service
Corporation (5% 2 % Z k7 2 7)), and the expansion
of its business scope from land right registration and
trading to agricultural IOT, agricultural Big Data and
so on. In the farmland right registration business, we
further expanded our coverage beyond Hebei Province
to three new provincial platforms for Ningxia, Shaanxi
and Tianjin, capitalising on the opportunity presented
by the central government’s initiative to drive trial
operations at the provincial level. As of now, the
company has provided farmland right registration
services for 460 counties across the nation and
developed trading platforms for more than 70 counties.
On the basis of land trading and large-scale agricultural
operations, we are actively seeking opportunities
and developing profound financial, technical and data
services.
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2.2

Systems Integration Business: \We continued to
downscale our traditional Systems Integration Business
in tandem with the company’s business transformation
and in view of intense competition and meagre
profitability of the business. For the financial year under
review, the Systems Integration Business reported
revenue of HK$4.522 billion, representing a 4.36%
decrease as compared with the corresponding period
of last financial year. Gross profit margin was 10.54%,
1.09 percentage points lower as compared with the
corresponding period of last financial year. Benefitting
from the government’s implementation of the security
controllability strategy, during the financial year under
review we passed the technical certification testing
and completed the construction of showcase project of
the indoor modulation system for the “Beijing-Shanghai
Telecommunication Main Line”, a national strategic
project in quantum encrypted communication, while also
winning the tender for the construction of the main
network of the “Beijing-Shanghai Telecommunication
Main Line”. Our lead role in the application of
guantum communication technologies has highlighted
our distinctive competitive advantage of integrated
informatisation systems.

Supply Chain Management Strategy Unit:
creation of the “intermediary platform”
integrated e-commerce service model,

development of logistics services for corporate
customers and actively expansion of 020 self-

branded maintenance services

From the financial year under review, the Supply
Chain Management Business started to account
for its revenue on the basis of services provided
instead of including invoiced income generated from
e-commerce business (Gross Merchandise Volume),
in order to more accurately reflect the true income
and profitability level of the Supply Chain Business.
For the financial year under review, overall revenue
amounted to approximately HK$2.080 billion, declining
by 47.47% year-on-year, mainly because invoiced
income was booked in revenue of 2014 whereas
invoiced income was no longer booked in revenue of
2015. Benefiting from the high value-added logistics
software services, gross profit margin increased to
16.60%, up by 8.20 percentage points compared with
the corresponding period of last financial year. Segment
result increased by 3.04%, year-on-year due to rising
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labor cost. E-commerce supply chain service, logistics
and maintenance accounted for 45.86%, 40.94% and
13.20%, respectively, of total revenue.

E-commerce supply chain service: Given the fast
penetration of online shopping and our outstanding
professional software development and management
capabilities, as well as our deep collaboration with
major IT brands, such as Huawei and Dell, to effectively
assist Huawei and other branded customers to expand
their online retail network. Regarding to e-commerce
services, we implemented a system for the dispatch
of merchandise from separated warehouses which can
be seamlessly connected to the official websites of
branded customers and other e-commerce platforms,
including T-MALL, JD.COM, AMAZON.COM, YHD.COM
and GOME. This enables us to establish professionalism
in e-commerce ‘“intermediary platform” service
integrating orders, accounting services, systems and
process management.

Logistics Business: For the financial year under
review, the Logistics Business sustained fast growth
and reported revenue of approximately HK$852
million, representing a 25.56% increase year-on-year.
In 2015, we further solidified our leading position
in the logistics service for the communications
industry, as we completed coverage for the top three
telecommunications operators by signing up E-surfing
of China Telecom for corresponding logistics services.
Regarding the specialized e-commerce logistics, we
maintained the efficiency and quality of logistics
services for our customers during annual Single Day
E-commerce Sales (November 11th) for over GB-year
operation while order volume doubled this vyear,
enhancing our industry position and reputation.

Maintenance Business: For the financial year under
review, our Maintenance Business reported revenue of
approximately HK$275 million, representing an 8.51%
growth compared to the corresponding period of last
year, thanks to comprehensive Internet marketing
efforts against a background of reducing warranty
orders from traditional IT manufacturers. The “K-boy”
Wechat platform established in 2015 has created a
professional image in IT maintenance services and
formed a mobile Internet access for our maintenance
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2.3

services. Through an 020 model combining online
marketing channels such as Wechat and various
Internet search engines and offline deliveries at physical
maintenance stores, the post-warranty services
provided by the maintenance stores to individuals
and corporate customers were significantly boosted,
reporting in substantial improvements in offline
profitability.

“Internet+”: to

New Business based on

accelerate development of internet-based Sm@rt

City and financial services, developing new

directions for strategic businesses and foster
new growth drivers in proactive response to the

national strategy of “Internet+”

For the financial year under review, the New Business
segment comprised Sm@rt City services and financial
services. Following coming market development in the
relevant industries, the segment will further comprise
more new businesses of Digital China based on Internet
services, such as Internet healthcare and Internet
manufacturing, in future. In 2015, the New Business
reported revenue of approximately HK$394 million,
representing substantial growth year-on-year that
signified the enormous market potential and sound
revenue model of our New Business. Our Internet-based
Sm@rt City services entered into fast track to record
revenue of over HK$60 million for 2015, as compared
to less than HK$4 million for 2014. Moreover, the
full-year revenue of our financial services recorded
significant growth too. The management expects the
New Business to sustain high growth rates in future
on the back of ongoing technological improvements
and proven experience complemented by continuous
capital investments. In terms of profit, the Sm@rt City
business, which derives its revenue mainly from Internet
services, will continue to target at market expansion
and increasing investment of construction while
rapidly increasing the number of service contracts.
The financial service, which is mainly engaged in loan
business, will continue to focus on risk control and seek
to maintain stable profitability as it serves a clientele
comprising mainly customers of various business
platforms within the company.
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Sme@rt City Service Business: The company continued
to increase investments in the construction of
Internet-based Sm@rt City informatisation platforms
and related services. Through the three platforms
of integrated citizen service, integrated enterprise
service and integrated city administration, operation
and customization services were provided to citizens,
enterprises and city administrators respectively. In
future, the company will continue to make strong
efforts to expand its coverage of cities and enhance
its ability to commercialize data, with a view to rapid
revenue growth.

As at the end of the financial year under review, we
have covered 37 cities/areas regarding the services,
which will be gradually put into construction and
operation. Our integrated citizen service platforms
are currently operating in 16 cities covering a total
population of 125 million including mega cities like
Beijing and Chengdu as well as mid-small cities like
Longyan and Changshu.

The company made several breakthroughs in integrated
enterprises service platform in 2015: In September,
the Internet platform of the “Xi'an Pan-Universities
Innovative Industry Belt” officially commenced operation.
In October, the “Zhongguancun Innovative Venture
Service Platform” built by Digital China in association
with Zhongguancun Management Committee went
online with Premier Li Kegiang officiating the ceremony.
The “Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Public Service Platform for
Technological Innovation” created by Digital China and
Beijing Economic and Technological Development Zone
also went online in the same month. Towards the end
of last year, we commenced construction of enterprise
service platforms for Weifang and Shanghai Free Trade
Zone. To explore the commercialization of government
data, the company formed a joint venture with Benxi
Government to promote the construction and operation
of the Benxi Internet healthcare services under the PPP
(Public-Private-Partnership) model.

Financial Service Business: leveraging the brand
reputation, industry position, channel resources and
technological strengths of Digital China to obtain
financial business licenses for Internet micro-credit
loans, third-party payments, factoring, finance leasing,
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so as to provide diversified financial services for the
broad customer base on the company’s industrial
Internet platforms.

Since its commencement over a year ago, the
proprietary Financial Business has been focused on
the development of financing businesses relating to the
agricultural and IT sectors in line with the industrial
Internet strategy of Digital China, leveraging customer
resources and channel strengths derived from
different business sectors with notable synergies. In
Heilongjiang, one of China’'s major agricultural provinces,
a dedicated team has been set up to serve four
major categories of customers: modern agricultural
machinery cooperative organization, individuals
with large-scale crops, farm growers and breeding
companies. At the end of the financial year under
review, the loan balance provided by our proprietary
Financial Business amounted to close to RMBB0O
million. Looking to 2016, we will continue to focus on
agriculture-related financial services in Xinjiang, the
largest plantation area of China, in tandem with the
promotion of our farmland right registration and trading
platform. In addition, we will also continue to make
efforts in our traditional stronghold of e-commerce
logistics and leverage our existing customer resources
and expertise to develop a diverse range of supply
chain financial products. In connection with Internet
city services, namely the Sm@rt City business, we
are looking to play a role in the financial aspect of
the government’s Internet city services, leveraging
government resources and data resources assembled
by our Sm@rt City business as it continues to expand
in scale and volume.

Chongging Digital China HC Micro-credit Finance Co.,
Ltd., a joint venture formed by Digital China and HC
International, is another important component of
our Financial Business, which is engaged in lending
business leveraging the membership of and transaction
information available on HC International’'s online
trading platform. The joint venture has emphasized on
the design and development financial products since
its commencement more than one year ago, and
has seen rapid business growth on the back of new
products such as “HC Finance”, “Auto Finance” (£ 5
¥) and “Mortgage Finance” (£ &). Currently, it's
covering over 1,600 customers. At the end of 2015,
the loan balance of its lending business amounted
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to approximately RBMB1.375 billion. The company
has persisted in stringent risk control in business
development to assure health business growth.
Currently, its non-performing loan ratio stood at
approximately 1.4% which is below the market average.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
2.4 Digital China Group: In the corporate IT sector,

provision of products and solutions covering

application structures, such as system,

network, storage and security. In the consumer
electronics sector, consolidation of online and
offline resources to provide customers with
end-to-end services centered on omni-channel

marketing strategy

Digital China Group (the disposed traditional distribution
business) reported revenue of approximately
HK$59.712 billion for the financial year under review,
representing a 6.23% growth as compared with the
corresponding period of last financial year. Profit
attributable to shareholders of the parent company
for the period amounted to approximately HK$462
million, increasing by 17.04% as compared with the
corresponding period of last financial year.

Consumer Business: Revenue of the Consumer
Business in 2015 increased by 5.39% to HK$37.267
billion, while gross profit margin remained largely
unchanged at 3.38% as compared with the
corresponding period of last year. Profitability of
the Consumer Business through traditional channels
continued to shrink as market shares and prices
continued to be squeezed by e-commerce and other
new channels. Meanwhile, expansion of the omni-
channel business was reaping benefits, as our full-year
revenue generated from e-commerce and offline retail
channels (CES) such as GOME and SUNING increased
by approximately 13% and 20% (in BMB terms),
respectively. The sub-segments of products delivered
varied performances: the desk top market continued
to shrink, while consumer IT products sustained fast
growth in full-year revenue driven by LeTV and Apple
products.
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Corporate Business: The Corporate Business seized
the opportunity presented by the domestic brands
to deliver full-year revenue of HK$22.445 billion,
representing a 7.64% vyear-on-year growth. Affected
by a higher percentage shares for domestic brands,
overall gross profit margin was 0.85 percentage
points lower at 7.91% compared with last financial
year. Regarding the network business, sales of Huawei
products continued to grow strongly, driving a 20.47%
year-on-year growth in the full-year revenue for network
products. In the server business, the Lenovo server
business was back on track upon completion of the
integration, driving a 14.47% year-on-year growth in
the full-year revenue for server products. Software
and storage products reported year-on-year declines
in revenue owing to the continued decline of sales for
international brands.

Business risks

As at the end of the financial year under review,
approximately 55% of the bank loans of the Continuing
Operations were denominated in US Dollar or Hong
Kong Dollar, around 10% of the bank loans were
denominated in Euros while substantially all of the
company’s businesses were operated in Mainland
China. Hence, the depreciation of RMB against
foreign currency will result in the company incurring
foreign exchange losses. As the foreign exchange
trade exposure of the Continuing Operations would be
minimal, the management is actively adjusting its loan
policy, which will determine the currency of its new
loans by taking into full consideration factors such
as interest rates, exchange rates and the nature of
businesses concerned. We expect any exchange risks
in future to be within our control. Moreover, the
company and its subsidiaries are actively investing
in or forming joint ventures in the sectors of Sm@rt
City, Internet agriculture, Internet healthcare, Internet
manufacturing and relevant financial services. Given
exceptional volatility in the capital market, impairment
in such investments might occur. The company has
established an investment committee comprising mainly
the chairman, directors and senior management of
the company, which conducts comprehensive due
diligence and voting processes in respect of material
investments. The company has also set up a post-
investment management department to conduct regular
inspections and analysis on the investment projects and
investee companies and to report to the investment
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committee regarding the progress of various projects.
The company continued to improve its internal
information security administration system during the
period, as all departments across the company showed
stronger risk awareness.

Environmental policy and performance

The mission of Digital China is to realise the
digitalisation of the country. In this process, the
company is governed by two main principles: a strong
sense of responsibility and the pursuit of sustainable
innovation, to the ends that the community will benefit
as a whole. As such, the company is committed to the
most strict environmental and social standards, striving
to assure compliance with all laws and regulatory
provisions relating to its operations, including those
relating to health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and environment, so that a firm foundation
is provided for the sustainable development of its
business. Currently the company is not involved in any
environmental lawsuit. The company also commits its
resources on an ongoing basis to upgrade its office
air-conditioning and heating systems and other network
equipment, to increase its energy efficiency while
lowering power consumption and carbon emission.
We encourage our employees to actively participate
in third-party environmental groups, while our primary
Sm@rt City operation and service also hold the
construction of smart, digitalized, low-carbon cities as
its mission.

Important relationships with staff, customers,

suppliers and other parties

Since its establishment, the number of business
partners of Digital China has grown from 25 to almost
300, while major clients are from telecommunications,
financial, government, energy and transportation
sectors. As the company drives the expansion of new
businesses, it always keeps in mind the interests of
its stakeholders, including its employees, customers,
suppliers, and business partners.

People represent the most crucial factor contributing to
the success of an enterprise. The company persists in
the implementation of an employee hiring and incentive
regime that is originated from corporate culture. It is
dedicated to set up internal and external trainings for
employees, while a staff club has been established to
organise recreational activities regularly and enhance
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the internal communications. The company was named
in the “Best Employers 2013” nomination hosted by
CCTV. With one of the most sophisticated IT systems
employed in the industry, the company provides an
efficient workplace and smart office setting for all
staff. It is one of the first companies to advance from
traditional OA to a synergised system based on \Web
2.0, while actively adopting various applications on the
mobile terminal.

As a customer-oriented service supplier, the company
treats customers as an important aspect of its value.
All employees are required to abide with the most
rigorous code of ethical and professional conduct
in their interaction with customers, while multiple
channels for feedback have been set up to enhance
customer satisfaction and loyalty. The customers of
the company as a whole are diversely distributed in
different industries. Its IT services focus mainly on
large customers in the telecommunications, financial
and government sectors, while Sm@rt City serves
mainly local governments. The major customers of
the supply chain services are branded manufacturers,
as compared to SMEs for the financial services. The
recognition of revenue generated from the government
and state-owned enterprises is subject to turnover
periods for procurement and anti-corruption initiatives,
while SME customers are associated with greater risks
in trade receivables as they are more subject to macro-
economic fluctuations. Nevertheless, the company
has made thorough preparations in terms of contract
recognition and accounting treatment to deal with the
aforesaid issues.

The company works with a broad range of suppliers,
including soft/hardware IT manufacturers and
upstream/downstream suppliers of the logistic services
value chain. The company has formulated rigorous
procurement policies and uniform standards, on the
basis of which regular reviews of the performance of
suppliers and contractors are conducted. Measures
have been taken to lower supply chain risks by
minimising concentration of suppliers.
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Management Outlook

Digital China celebrates its 15th anniversary in
2016. In retrospect, Digital China has grown from
a distribution business department of Legend Group
with annual turnover of less than RMB10 billion to
China’s largest IT product distributor with turnover
reaching to RMB80 billion, and to a software and
Internet service company with 4 listed subsidiaries
covering IT services, supply chain services, Sm@rt City
services, agriculture, finance and healthcare related
internet services. In future, Digital China, will continue
to operate its businesses through multiple principals,
which are independent from and yet synergistic with
one another, under the same brand of Digital China
with Sm@rt City as the core strategy. Our operations
in the capital market will also be handled through a
diversified capital structure instead of a single listed
entity.

Corporate transformation does not happen overnight,
not to mention the transition from a traditional
business to an Internet business, which is extremely
challenging as it requires a comprehensive change in
strategies, concepts, technologies, human resources
and incentives. As a listed company, it further requires
the support of the capital market and investors, so that
it can leverage capital resources to increase investment
in new businesses and ensure rapid expansion.

As we confront the faltering economy and the fast-
changing Internet world, we need to base on our
traditional businesses with huge potentials, and make
fast and precise utilization of new technologies while
resorting to versatile Internet concepts on the back of
our formidable strengths in technology research and
development, so as to provide comprehensive Internet
services to the government, enterprises and citizens
from the perspective of data and content.

This is the best of times; this is the worst of times.
We need to act in tandem with the trends, but we
should not allow ourselves to drift listlessly. The road
to transformation is a thorny one, but prospects are
promising. With duty, passion and innovation, we at
Digital China stand steadfast and ready to lead at a
historic moment of monumental change.
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Capital Expenditure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group mainly finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows, bank borrowings and banking facilities.

The Group had total assets of HK$37,486 million at 31
December 2015 which were financed by total liabilities of
HK$26,192 million, non-controlling interests of HK$2,421
million and equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent of HK$8,873 million. The Group’s current ratio at
31 December 2015 was 1.21 as compared to 1.16 at 31
December 2014.

During the vyear ended 31 December 2015, capital
expenditure of HK$326 million was mainly incurred for
the acquisition of properties, office equipment and IT
infrastructure facilities.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s continuing operations
had cash and bank balances of HK$3,342 million, of which
about HK$2,960 million were denominated in Renminbi.

The aggregate borrowings from continuing operations of the
Group as a ratio of equity attributable to equity holders of
the parent was 0.73 at 31 December 2015. The aggregate
borrowings of the Group as a ratio of equity attributable
to equity holders of the parent was 1.49 at 31 December
2015 as compared to 0.94 at 31 December 2014. The
computation of the said ratio was based on the total
interest-bearing bank borrowings of HK$13,253 million (31
December 2014: HK$8,125 million) and equity attributable
to equity holders of the parent of HK$8,873million (31
December 2014: HK$8,600 million).
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At 31 December 2015, the denomination of the interest- RZE—RAFFTZA=1+—0H FTEEH
bearing bank borrowings of the Group was shown as follows: MERITERMERELLNT

Denominated in  Denominated Denominated

United States in EURO  Denominated in Hong Kong
dollars dollars in Renminbi dollars Total
AETEE UBRBEHE UAREHE WB¥THE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T AT T ok BB T
Continuing operations GBI LR
Current Vi)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, M ERITEF - &K
unsecured 2,170,619 673,582 792,885 650,000 4,287,086
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, M2 RITER - FiKHE
secured — — 47,692 — 47,692
2,170,619 673,582 840,577 650,000 4,334,778
Non-current FERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, M SERITEF - &K
unsecured 775,000 — — — 775,000
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, K EIRITER - HIEE
secured — — 1,401,903 — 1,401,903
775,000 — 1,401,903 — 2,176,903
Interest-bearing bank borrowings R B4 A B R
from continuing operations B HELE
as stated in the condensed EBZMBRT
consolidated statement of B
financial position 2,945,619 673,582 2,242,480 650,000 6,511,681
Discontinued operation Ee -
Current Vi)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, M2 IRITEK « EIKHE
unsecured 4,366,540 — 2,175,148 200,000 6,741,689
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ~ JEHBELEEBK L
from a discontinuing operation RITEK 4,366,540 — 2,175,149 200,000 6,741,689
Total @t 7,312,159 673,582 4,417,629 850,000 13,253,370

AEEFBELERB2ETRITETE
14508 B TS RBBR TASE
ZETHBRR AR -_T—HF+—
A=+—BHEEBEE%207288 TR
FEIAMEZ T E AR EFEER -

Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings from continuing
operations of HK$1,450 million extended by financial
institutions to certain subsidiaries of the Group were secured
by land use right and properties with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$2,072 million at 31 December
2015.

BRERAESEFRERKEEL 2 BRI
MEIRTTER D AIBEEINM3E B T LB
BR177BBLAEHERAR-ZE—X

Included in the Group's current and non-current bank
borrowings from continuing operations of HK$1,113 million
and HK$2,177 million respectively represented the term

loans which are repayable from 2016 to 2025. All of the
Group’s bank borrowings from continuing operations were
charged at floating interest rates except for the loan
balances with an aggregate amount of HK$757 million which
were charged at fixed interest rates as at 31 December
2015.
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The Group’s total available credit facilities at 31 December
2015 amounted to HK$32,818 million, of which HK$3,704
million were in term loan facilities, HK$14,038 million were
in trade lines and HK$15,076 million were in short-term and
revolving money market facilities. At 31 December 2015,
the facility drawn down was HK$3,503 million in term loan
facilities, HK$5,937 million in trade lines and HK$8,008
million in short-term and revolving money market facilities.

The total available credit facilities from the Group’s continuing
operations at 31 December 2015 amounted to HK$12,247
million, of which HK$3,330 million were in term loan facilities,
HK$3,893 million were in trade lines and HK$5,024 million
were in short-term and revolving money market facilities. At
31 December 2015, the facility drawn down from Group’s
continuing operations was HK$3,289 million in term loan
facilities, HK$911 million in trade lines and HK$3,222 million
in short-term and revolving money market facilities.

Under the normal course of business, the Group has
issued performance bonds to some customers for potential
claims of non-performance in order to satisfy the specific
requirements of these customers. As no material claims had
been made by the customers under such performance bonds
in the past, the management considers that the possibility
of realisation of any actual material liabilities arising from
such performance bonds is remote.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

Human Resources

At 31 December 2015, the Group had approximately 6,800
(31 December 2014 (restated): approximately 5,200) full-
time employees. The majority of these employees work in the
PRC. The Group’s continuing operations offers remuneration
packages in line with industry practice. Employees’
remuneration includes basic salaries and bonuses. With
the decrease in the total number of staff to cope with its
business requirements, the Group’s continuing operations has
recorded a 17.34% increase in staff costs to approximately
HK$1,639 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 as
compared to approximately HK$1,397 million (restated) for
the corresponding period of the last financial year. In order
to attract and retain a high caliber of capable and motivated
workforce, the Company offers share-based incentive
schemes to staff based on the individual performance and
the achievements of the Company’s targets. The Group’s
continuing operations is committed to providing its staff
with various in-house and external training and development
programs.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EE2EHE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. GUO Wei
BRARE

Mr. GUO Wei, aged 53, is the Chairman and an Executive Director
of the Group and is responsible for the strategic development and
management of the Group. Mr. Guo had been the Vice Chairman,
the President and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group since
February 2001 and was appointed as the Chairman of the Board of
the Company in December 2007. He is also a Director of certain
subsidiaries and associates of the Company. Mr. Guo obtained a
Master’s Degree from the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy
of Science (formerly known as Graduate School of the University
of Science and Technology of China) in 1988. He joined the Legend
group in 1988 and was once an Executive Director and Senior
Vice President. Mr. Guo was awarded such major prizes included
China's Top Ten Outstanding Youths (2002), kE#HTFKE
@ {48 (Practical and Outstanding Youth of Achievement) (2002)
by the China Association for Science and Technology, China’s Top
Ten Outstanding Youths in Technology Innovation (1998), Future
Economic Leader of China (2003), and the First Annual China Young
Entrepreneurs Creative Management Golden Honour (2005). He was
also selected as the 50 Most Powerful Businesspeople in China by
Fortune Magazine (Chinese version) in 2011 and 2012.

Mr. Guo is currently the Chairman of Digital China Information
Service Company Ltd. and Shenzhen Shenxin Taifeng Group Co.,
Ltd. (all listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange), an Independent
Non-executive Director of China Southern Airlines Company Limited
(listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, The Shanghai Stock Exchange and The New York Stock
Exchange), a Non-executive Director of HC International, Inc. (listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited)
and an Independent Director of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
Co., Ltd. (listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange). In addition, he
is a Director of Kosalaki Investments Limited which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Mr. Guo was a Director of
DigiWin Software Co., Ltd. (listed on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen
Stock Exchange). Besides, Mr. Guo is currently a Standing
Committee Member of the 12th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a member of the 4th
Advisory Committee for State Informatization and the Chairman
of the 6th Council of China Non-Governmental Science Technology
Entrepreneurs Association. He was the Chairman of Beijing
Informatization Association. He has over 28 years of experience in
business strategy development and business management.
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Mr. LIN Yang
ML

Mr. LIN Yang, aged 48, is the Chief Executive Officer and an
Executive Director of the Group and is responsible for the overall
business management of the Group. He is also a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lin graduated in 1988
with a Bachelor’s Degree in Computing Communications from the
Xidian University and in 2005 with a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business.
Mr. Lin is currently the Vice Chairman of Digital China Information
Service Company Ltd. (listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange).
He was previously the Executive Vice President and the President
of the Group and was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group in April 2011. He joined the Legend group in 1990
and has over 25 years of management experience in distribution
business. Mr. Lin was awarded the Lifetime Achievement Award
by the IT Channel Elite Panel in 2001 and recognised as the Most
Influential Figure in IT Distribution of 20 Years in 2005. In 2013,
he was also selected as one of the Leaders of the Year 2012 of
the China Information Industry and Top-10 Annual Icons of the Year
2012 of Zhongguancun. Besides, Mr. Lin has been appointed as the
Director for IT Channel Profession Council, under the MIIT (Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology).
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Non-executive Director
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Mr. Andrew Y. YAN
8 7k 5t 4

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, aged 58, is a Non-executive Director of the Company.
He received his Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering from the Nanjing Aeronautic
Institute in the PRC in 1982 and a Master of Arts’ Degree in International
Political Economy from Princeton University in 1988. Mr. Yan joined the Company
in December 2007. He is currently the Founding Managing Partner of SAIF
Partners (“SAIF”) and a Director of Sparkling Investment (BVI) Limited and SAIF
Il GP Capital Ltd. which are substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Prior to joining SAIF,
he was the Managing Director and Head of the Hong Kong office of the Emerging
Markets Partnership (AIG Asian Infrastructure Fund's Principal Adviser) from
1994 to 2001. From 1989 to 1994, he worked in the World Bank, the renowned
Hudson Institute and Sprint International Corporation as an Economist, Research
Fellow and a Director for the Asia Pacific Region respectively in Washington
D.C.. From 1982 to 1984, he was the Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane
Corp.. Mr. Yan is a recipient of China’s national “Thousand Talents Program” and
served as a member of its Selection Committee in 2012. He is also a Director
of Peking University Endowment Investment Committee, and was a Founding
Director of China Venture and Private Equity Association. He was voted by
the China Venture Capital Association as “The Venture Investor of the Year” in
both 2004 and 2007. He was also selected as one of the “Fifty Finest Private
Equity Investors in the World” by the Private Equity International in 2007, “No.
1 Venture Capitalist of the Year” by Forbes (China) in 2008 and 2008. He was
the “Venture Capital Professional of the Year” by Asia Venture Capital Journal in
2008. Under Mr. Yan's leadership, SAIF was voted as “VC Firm of the Year” by
the China Venture Capital Association in 2004 and 2007 and it was also named
as “The Best Performing Fund in Asia” by Private Equity International in 2005,
2006 and 2008, “The Best Growth Investment Fund of the Year” in 2008.

Currently, Mr. Yan is an Independent Non-executive Director of CPMC Holdings
Limited, Cogobuy Group, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation and China
Resources Land Limited; a Non-executive Director of Guodian Technology &
Environment Group Corporation Limited, China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited and
eSun Holdings Limited (all listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, other than that China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation
is also listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange, The London Stock Exchange and
The New York Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan is also an Independent Director of Sky
Solar Holdings Ltd. (listed on the NASDAQ, USA), TCL Corporation (listed on The
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and BlueFocus Communication Group Co., Ltd. (listed
on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan is a Director of ATA
Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ, USA) and ATA Online (Beijing) Education Technology
Co., Ltd. (listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations System of
China (also known as the New Third Board)). For the past 3 years, he was an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited and
Fosun International Limited; a Non-executive Director of MOBI Development Co.,
Ltd. (all listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited),
an Independent Director of Giant Interactive Group Inc. (the shares of which
were withdrawn from listing on The New York Stock Exchange in July 2014),
a Director of China Digital TV Holding Co., Ltd. (listed on The New York Stock
Exchange), Acorn International, Inc. (listed on The New York Stock Exchange)
and Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd. (listed on The Shenzhen Stock
Exchange) as well as the Chairman and a Non-executive Director of NVC Lighting
Holding Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited).
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Independent Non-executive Directors

BIYFHTES

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis
BEXREE

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, aged 51, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Management conferred by Guangzhou Jinan University, the People’s
Republic of China. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and The Society
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors, and a Certified Tax Advisor
of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) and has over 28 years of experience in
auditing, taxation, management and financial advisory. Mr. Wong
joined the Company in August 2006. Previously, Mr. Wong worked
for KPMG, an international accounting firm, for 6 years and the
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited for 2 years. Mr.
Wong has the appropriate professional qualifications, accounting
and related financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
as well as a member of the Nomination Committee of China Oriental
Group Company Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited); and an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of Wai
Kee Holdings Limited, Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings
Limited and Greenheart Group Limited (all listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of GCL-Poly Energy
Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited) which will take effect from 1 April 2016.
He was an Independent Non-executive Director of eForce Holdings
Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited). Mr. Wong is the Managing Director of Union Alpha
C.P.A. Limited and a Director of Union Alpha CAAP Certified Public
Accountants Limited, both being professional accounting firms, and
a Founding Director and member of Francis M C Wong Charitable
Foundation Limited, a charitable institution.
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Ms. NI Hong (Hope)
ARy |

Ms. NI Hong (Hope), aged 43, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Ms. Ni received her J.D. Degree from
the University of Pennsylvania Law School and her Bachelor’s
Degree in Applied Economics and Business Management from
Cornell University. Ms. Ni joined the Company in September 2010.
Currently, Ms. Ni is an Executive Director and the Chief Investment
Officer of Cogobuy Group (listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Ms. Ni has been the Chairman
of Inspire Capital since 20038. From August 2004 to January
2008, Ms. Ni served as the Chief Financial Officer and Director for
Viewtran Group, Inc. (“Viewtran”), and subsequently served as its
Vice Chairman until early 2009. Prior to joining Viewtran, Ms. Ni
spent six years as a Practicing Attorney at Skadden, Arps, Slate,
Meagher & Flom LLP in New York and Hong Kong, specializing in
corporate finance. Prior to that, Ms. Ni worked at Merrill Lynch’s
investment banking division in New York.

Ms. Ni is currently serving as an Independent Director and acting
as the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of
the Compensation and Nomination Committee at JA Solar Holdings,
Co. Ltd.,, a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: JASO) and an
Independent Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Compensation Committee of ATA Inc., a NASDAG-
listed company (NASDAQ: ATAI). Ms. Ni is a Director of ATA Online
(Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations System of China (also known
as the New Third Board)). Ms. Ni is also an Independent Director
at KongZhong Corporation, a NASDAQG-listed company (NASDAQG:
KONG).
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Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter
IRERE

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, aged 57,
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ong holds a Master of

is an Independent Non-

Science Degree and a Bachelor of Science Degree major in Electrical
Engineering from Columbia University (New York City). He is acting
as the Responsible Officer (Types 1 and 2) of Licensed Corporation
for Alpha Securities Company Limited and Alpha Futures Company
Limited respectively under the registration of Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ong joined the Company in
September 2010.

Mr. Ong awarded the BBS, Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the Hong Kong SAR in 2008. Mr. Ong served on the board of
The Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from 1998 to 2008 and took
the chair of the board from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Ong also joined
the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals advisory board from 2008 to
2009. Mr. Ong served on the hospital governing committee of the
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from 2002 to 2013. He is also a
Founding Member and Chairman of the Green Investment Promotion
Association.
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Dr. LIU Yun, John
2l aEL
Dr. LIU Yun, John, aged 52, has been an Independent Non- gt At-m BZT-WF=A=-+

executive Director of the Company since 25 March 2014. He
was the Chief Business Officer of Qihoo 360 Technology Co. Ltd.
from January 2014 to August 2015. Prior to that, he held senior
positions in various renowned companies in the communication
or networking or software arena as follows: Corporate Vice
President and Head of Greater China of Google Inc. from 2008
to 2013; Chief Executive Officer, China Operations of SK Telecom
Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2007; General Manager, Greater China
of FreeMarkets Inc. from 2000 to 2002; Chief Executive Officer,
China Operations of SITA Communication from 18898 to 2000;
General Manager, Telecommunication Group of The Lion Group from
1997 to 1999 and Country Director, Greater China of Singapore
Telecommunications Limited from 1884 to 1997. Dr. Liu currently is
an Independent Non-executive Director of ARM Holdings Plc. (listed
on the London Stock Exchange).

Dr. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Mathematics in 1983 and obtained his Ph.D in
Telecommunications Network Management from Technical University
of Denmark in 1997. In 2011, Dr. Liu undertook a Senior Executive
Program of Harvard Business School.
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Ms. YAN Xiaoyan
B+

Ms. YAN Xiaoyan, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 27 May
2014. She is currently the Chairperson of Bank of Beijing Consumer
Finance Company. She is also an Advisor to The People’s Government
of Beijing Municipality, the Vice President of the Listed Companies
Association of Beijing, the Assistant Secretary General of the China
Volunteer Service Federation and the Vice Director General and
Secretary General of the China Volunteer Service Foundation. Ms.
Yan has served in the financial sector for about 40 years. She
has taken up senior positions at The People’s Bank of China and
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China and served as a Director
and a Vice President of Bank of Beijing (listed on The Shanghai
Stock Exchange) since 1996 and appointed as the President and
the Vice Chairperson since 2002 and 2010 respectively. Ms. Yan
was also the President of the Bth Executive Committee of Beijing
Banking Association. Ms. Yan is a female financial entrepreneur
with outstanding acumen and leadership rarely seen in the banking
sector.

Ms. Yan is a senior economist, holding a Master’s Degree in
Economics from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics
and a Master’'s Degree in Management from Xiamen University.
She is a tutor to graduate students and visiting professor at the
Central University of Finance and Economics, a school-level part-
time professor at Xi'an Jiaotong University and an instructor at the
post-doctorate research station of Bank of Beijing.
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Mr. LAI Daniel, 855, JP I
FEERTE S 5 Bas uP

Mr. LAl Daniel, B85, Jr, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 October
2015. He is a seasoned Information Technology professional with over
40 years’ experience in Hong Kong, Mainland, and Australia. He is a
graduate of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (“PolyU”) and Griffith
University with a Master’s Degree in Technology Management. He is a
Distinguished Fellow of Hong Kong Computer Society, a Fellow of The
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, and a Fellow of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Mr. Lai has been appointed as Professor of Practice (Computing) in
the Department of Computing, PolyU for the period of 19 September
2015 to 18 September 2017. He was also the Interim Vice President
(Administration) of PolyU from 18 March 2015 until 18 September
2015. Mr. Lai was the Government Chief Information Officer of the
Hong Kong SAR Government (the “Government”) from January 2012 to
January 2015. Prior to joining the Government, Mr. Lai was the Head
of Information Technology (“IT”) at MTR Corporation Limited from 1999
to 2011 and held senior managerial positions in IT field at The Hong
Kong Jockey Club in Hong Kong and Australia between 1978 and 1998.

Mr. Lai was an independent non-executive director of Tradelink Electronic
Commerce Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited) from 20 May 2011 to 1 January 2012. He
was also a director and an alternate director of Hong Kong Cyberport
Management Company Limited (wholly-owned by the Government)
respectively, and a director of Hong Kong Internet Registration
Corporation Limited, Hong Kong Domain Name Registration Company
Limited, E-Business Solutions Limited, Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency and Pearl River Delta IT Cooperation and Exchange Centre.

Mr. Lai contributed significantly in promoting the application of IT in Hong
Kong and the region. He has held many positions in public services and
higher education institutions including President of Hong Kong Computer
Society, President of Asian Pacific Information and Communications
Technology Confederation, Chairman of PolyU's Department of Computing
Advisory Committee, Chairman of Computer Science Departmental
Advisory Committee of City University of Hong Kong, and also Adjunct
Professor of the Graduate University of Chinese Academy of Sciences
and the Zhongshan Institute of the University of Electronic Science and
Technology of China.

In recognition of his contribution to the development and promotion of
IT, Mr. Lai was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004. He was
appointed a Justice of Peace in 2001. He has received numerous local,
regional and international awards for his achievements.

M BB AR R A

20154 & @

Directors and Company Secretary

BEENAAIWE
-
.
-+
WEBERE  BBS, P N T —RF

+ﬂ+£B%§E%$QTﬁ4#%ﬁ%$°ﬁ
%—@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ&?ﬁ'ﬁéﬁxwmﬁﬁw
RIEBN T FEAMMBRER REEREE

TRE(EKRD IF%@%%K?W@M&"
BHRLTEN - FREEEHBGAERLE &
BTRMBERINEEAEEZEERGE -

5]

¥
mo

.

BALEZEREARE uﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁ&
EFHE-T-—RFAATABE_ZT—+tFhA
FABL - BAR-T—RF= ﬂ+h5§:f
—AFAATNESREHERXEFERIREGT
B) - MAER T —F-—AZ_ZT—HF—f
HEEEEERINTREBRF (R &R
R - EMABSZAE  BEER—AAN
FE_Z-—FHHBEEEHABAERAAE
ARK(ERBMKDEE - —AE\FE-AN
NEYHE BEELERNEEEFTIRERR
MEMNEEZEARAMIERER -

i

RZE——FRAZF+HE_ZE——-F—HF—H
HE BAEETEZBEFESBERAAARN
EBBERSGMARARER L) 2B IEH
TER FACHFECESHGEEEEEAR
ANEl (BN 2EHB)ICEEREMEES - UR
EBEMATMERERAT - FAEEAME
RAR - ZFEEERAF EERERERBR

R = AR & {F B 22 % # 0 (Pearl River Delta
IT Cooperation and Exchange Centre)Z &%

BELHERBEREAMNEARRERLE
ﬁiﬁa%DWEmﬁéE%% kEEHRE
RREEZERYE - £F: BEEREgER -
DAEARBAMEBREEIR BEABEFAHE
BEREMZESLE ABMTABEMMEZ
FEMEZESIR FEMBERABHR LR
MBEFHEARBRUBREFEHE -

#8504 70— T U A 4 AR 8 227 2 5(BBS) 0 B
REHBARNBRERIER T EZ AR -
R-FZ-—FRZE/AFHL(IP) RBES
BEAM - @R EREE -



) Digital China Holdings Limited 2015 Annual Report

Directors and Company Secretary
EERAFIWE

Company Secretary
NEAME

Mr. WONG Chi Keung
ITE®BELE

Mr. WONG Chi Keung, aged 48, is the Company Secretary of
the Company. Mr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences and is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 26 years of experience in financial
management and corporate administration. He is mainly responsible
for the financial reporting and listing issues of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (% &

The Group is committed to promote the highest standards
of corporate governance so as to enhance its transparency,
accountability and corporate value to the shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles, code provisions and certain recommended
best practices set out in the “Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report” (the “Code”) and
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 December 2015 (the “Reporting
Period”), the Company has complied with the code provisions
set out in the Code throughout the Reporting Period, except
the following deviations from certain code provisions with
considered reasons as given below:

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company were not
appointed for any specific term. Since all Directors (save for
the Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director) are
subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general
meeting in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-Laws”) and shall be eligible for re-election. The Board
considers that the retirement of Directors by rotation at
each annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-
Laws has given the shareholders of the Company the right
to approve the continuation of the service of the Directors.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Under the Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to one-
third shall retire from office, the Chairman of the Board or
the Managing Director shall not, whilst holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation. Therefore, Mr. GUO Wei,
the Chairman of the Board, shall not be subject to retirement
by rotation. Given the existing number of Directors of the
Company, not less than one-third of the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting, by
which each Director (other than the Chairman of the Board)
will retire by rotation once every three years at the minimum.
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Code Provision A.5.1 stipulates that company should
establish a nomination committee which is chaired by the
chairman of the board or an independent non-executive
director and comprises a majority of independent non-
executive directors.

The Company does not establish a Nomination Committee
at present. The Company considers that the setting up of a
Nomination Committee may not be necessary as the Board
has the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as
addition to the Board according to the Bye-Laws, therefore,
the Board has been able to assume the responsibilities of
a Nomination Committee. The Board will identify and assess
whether the candidate has the balanced composition of skills
and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
businesses of the Company and suitably qualified to become
board members.

Code Provision D.1.4 stipulates that directors should
clearly understand delegation arrangements in place.
Company should have formal letters of appointment for
directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment.

The Company has not entered into any written letters
of appointment with its Non-executive Director or any
Independent Non-executive Directors. However, the Board
recognizes that (i) the relevant Directors have already been
subject to the laws and regulations applicable to directors
of a company listed on the Stock Exchange, including the
Listing Rules as well as the fiduciary duties to act in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders; (i) all
of them are well established in their professions and have
held directorships in other listed companies; and (iii) the
current arrangement has been adopted by the Company for
years and has proved to be effective. Therefore, the Board
considers that the relevant Directors are able to carry out
their duties in a responsible and effective manner under the
current arrangement.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company followed the
recommended best practices set out in Code Provision C.1.6
by publishing quarterly financial results. In order to reduce
the administrative burden of the Group and allow the Group
to devote more of resources towards the development of
its business, the Board, on 29 March 2016, resolved not
to continue such practices for the first three-month and
nine-month periods of each financial years and announced
the reasons on the same date in accordance with the Code
Provision C.1.7.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its
code of conduct for Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry with the Directors, all of the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
as set out in the Model Code throughout the Reporting
Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Compaosition

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Board comprised
ten Directors, including three Executive Directors, one
Non-executive Director and six Independent Non-executive
Directors. During the Reporting Period, one additional
Independent Non-executive Director was appointed. An
Executive Director resigned with effect from 8 March 2016.
To the best knowledge of the Company, the Board members
have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
heading “Directors and Company Secretary” on pages 39 to
48 of this annual report.

Role and Function

The Board takes responsibility for the formulation of the
overall strategy and the leadership and control of the Group
such as the Group’s long term objectives and strategies,
the approval of the Group’s corporate and capital structure,
financial reporting and controls, internal controls and
risk management, material contracts, communication
with the shareholders, the Board membership and other
appointments, remuneration of Directors and other key
senior management, delegation of authority to Board
committees and corporate governance matters.
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During the Reporting Period, two general meetings were held
and the Board held four regular meetings at approximately
quarterly intervals and four ad hoc meetings where the
Directors attended the Board meetings either in person or
by means of electronic communication.

Appointments and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the Bye-Laws to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board. Only the qualified candidates
will be proposed to the Board for consideration and the
selection criteria are mainly based on the assessment of
their professional qualifications, experience and their possible
contribution to the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed six Independent Non-executive
Directors, one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all the Independent Non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group are segregated, which are held by Mr. GUO Wei
and Mr. LIN Yang respectively. Mr. GUO is responsible for
the strategic development and management of the Group
whereas Mr. LIN is responsible for the overall business
management of the Group.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 with specific
written terms of reference. The Audit Committee comprises
three members and all of them are Independent Non-
executive Directors. The Audit Committee is currently
chaired by Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis (who possesses
the appropriate professional qualification or accounting or
related financial management expertise), with Ms. NI Hong
(Hope) and Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter as members.

To comply with the amendment to the Code Provision C.3.3
with effect from 1 January 2016, an amended Terms of
Reference for Audit Committee was approved and adopted
by the Board on 31 December 2015 and with effect from
1 January 2016. The latest Terms of Reference for Audit
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively.

Under the amended Terms of Reference for Audit Committee,
the Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, the
following:

i. monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of
the Group;

ii. reviewing the Group’s financial controls, risk

management and internal control systems;

iii.  reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies
and practices;

iv.  reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal audit function and ensuring
coordination between the internal and external auditors;
and

V. performing the Group’s corporate governance function
delegated by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Function

Under the Terms of Reference for Audit Committee now in
place, the Audit Committee has been delegated by the Board
to perform the following corporate governance function:

i. to develop and review the Company’'s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

il. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

iii. to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

iv.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

V. to review the Company’'s compliance with the Code and
the disclosure in this Report as set out under Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held four
regular meetings at approximately quarterly intervals where
the members attended either in person or by means of
electronic communication.

For the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with senior management and the Auditors of the Company
their respective audit findings, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, legal and regulatory
compliance, and discussed auditing, internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters. The Board has,
through the Audit Committee, conducted regular reviews on
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group
and discussed matters related to corporate governance
function during the Reporting Period.

The Audit Committee has no disagreement with the Board
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
the Auditors of the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 31
August 2006 with specific written terms of reference. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three members with
majority being Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is currently chaired by Mr. ONG
Ka Lueng, Peter, an Independent Non-executive Director,
with Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, a Non-executive Director, and Mr.
WONG Man Chung, Francis, an Independent Non-executive
Director, as members.

The latest Terms of Reference for Remuneration Committee
is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among
others, the following:

i. making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy; and

ii. making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management, which includes benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments and on the
remuneration of Non-executive Director.

As there was no major change in the remuneration policy,
no Remuneration Committee Meeting was held during the
Reporting Period. The Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board by way of written resolution
during the Reporting Period regarding the remuneration of
certain Directors.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the Reporting Period
are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTOR'S ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT
MEETINGS

EEHFE B

The attendance of each Director at the following meetings RMERAN  FESHEUNTEREZL
during the Reporting Period is set out below: BEIMAT
Board members Committee members Number of meetings attended/held
ESgR8 ZE8HE HE/BTEEAH
Annual Special
Audit  Remuneration Audit  Remuneration General General
Committee Committee Board Meeting Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
B o BRE BRE
ENERE FMzEg Ezg ZE% Z5% HAExg Bixg
Regular ~ Ad Hoc
& 5 5 5l
Executive Directors HTES
GUQ Wei (Chairman) BRFE) - — 4/4 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 0/1
TEA TEA
LIN Yang WG (BEEHTE) — - 3/4 4/4 N/A N/A 01 1/1
[Chief Executive Officer] A TE R
Non-executive Director FRTES
Andrew Y. YAN Bt - Member 2/4 3/4 N/A 0/0 0/1 0/1
8 T
Independent Non-executive BYFHTEE
Directors
WONG Man Chung, Francis & X% Chairman Member 4/4 2/4 4/4 0/0 1/1 0/1
NI Hong (Hope) Ra Member - 4/4 2/4 4/4 N/A 0/1 1/1
®E& TEA
ONG Ka Lueng, Peter EX S Member Chairman 2/4 3/4 1/4 0/0 0/1 0/1
ME I
LIU Yun, John ElPD - - 4/4 4/4 N/A N/A 0/1 1/1
TEA THEA
YAN Xiaoyan EEES - — 4/4 3/4 N/A N/A 0/1 0/1
@R TEA
LAI Daniel, 85, o HBHE - s8s P - - 1/1 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed as director on (R=ZF—-HEFAT (Note 1) (Note 1) Ti# A A A TEA
15 October 2015) TARZAREE) (Hz1) (W) (Note 1) (Note 1)
(Ha1) (K1)
Notes: Kt -
1. As Mr. LAl Daniel, 8ss, up was appointed part way during the Reporting 1. RRBHESLE  bes pERBEHANRNF R
Period, his attendance was stated by reference to the number of the BRME - 2 BEETIRBEEERRRT
Board Meetings and general meetings held during his tenure. MWEFESERBRRERHENE -
2. As there was no major change in the remuneration policy, no 2. HREMBRRTESERNES AR ®RE
Remuneration Committee Meeting was held during the Reporting AT EROTHFMEZESEH -
Period.
3. Mr. YAN Guorong resigned as an Executive Director and President 3. BREEEER_T—AF=A/N\BBEEELR

of the Company on 8 March 2016. Mr. YAN’s attendance at the
respective meetings during the Reporting Period and by reference to
the number of the relevant meetings held during his tenure were as
follows: Regular Board Meeting (4/4), Ad hoc Board Meeting (2/4),
Annual General Meeting (0/1) and Special General Meeting (0/1).

RZHTEERBHBS - BAERNREY
AR EFHBRRTZEABEZLFELEN
T EHEEE4/4) BRlESZEER/M R

RIBFREO/NE BRI

20/ -



DIRECTOR INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive comprehensive
induction on appointment to ensure understanding of the
directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company also organizes and
arranges seminars for and/or provides relevant reading
materials to Directors to help ensure they are apprised of
the roles, functions and duties of being a director of a listed
company and the development of their knowledge on the
regulatory updates whenever necessary or appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has provided
training materials for all the then Directors to keep them
abreast of the latest development of legal, regulatory and
corporate governance. The Company has received the
records of training from all those Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company is committed to promoting diversity among
the Board and has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) effective on 20 August 2013. The
Board Diversity Policy outlines the Board’'s commitment to
fostering a corporate culture that embraces diversity and,
in particular, focuses on its compaosition.

The Company recognizing and embracing the benefits of
having a diverse Board values increasing diversity at Board
level which is perceived to be an essential element in
achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company. In determining the Board composition that best
suits the Company, a wide spectrum of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background,
skills, regional and industry experience, professional
experience, length of service and other qualities of directors
will be considered. All Board appointments shall be made on
the basis of meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.
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As at the end of the Reporting Period, the diversity of the
Board is shown in the following graphic illustrations. Out of
the ten Directors comprising the Board, two of them are
women. Seven of the ten Directors are either Non-executive
Director or Independent Non-executive Directors, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of age, cultural and
educational background, professional expertise and skills.
The Board endeavours to steer forward and ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
aspects appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

Diversity of the Board as at the end of the Reporting
Period

Gender % 5l

() Male Directors
BHES

@® Female Directors

THES

Role A&

@ Executive Directors

WITES

() Non-executive Director

FHITES

o Independent Non-executive
Directors

BURITES

RE\EMR EFEXBZTIMHBER
Mt T E  EFEtREFARZF -
Hbmanalt: TREFZ2PERR/IE
WITESHBUIFNTES - #EUED
HARTREEEEBE - REFHK X
- #EER FEABLEKEDEM
FEFEHBMHEESZ T -EFEH
NEIEAA - YHEEEFEXERES
ARBEBIHZ XA BRMZ T
77 T EUS F f o

RESHRZESERES T
AR 35

20%

80%

30%

10%

60%




REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

For the Reporting Period, remuneration to Auditors of
the Company was approximately HK$4,815,000 for audit
services and approximately HK$2,065,000 for non-audit
services (HK$1,190,000 on review of the financial information
of the distribution business for the year ended 31 March
2013, nine months ended 31 December 2013, year ended
31 December 2014 and three months ended 31 March
2015, and review of the pro forma combined financial
information of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2014, HK$450,000 on agreed-upon
procedures on quarterly/interim results, HK$225,000 on
review relating to the financial statements of offering and
issuance of Taiwan Depositary Receipts and HK$200,000
on preliminary assessment of the environmental, social and
governance information).

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Principle

The Board should ensure that the internal control of
the Group is solid, sound, effective, so as to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.

Internal Control

A well-designed internal control system is very important
to the protection of the Group’'s assets, the reliability of
its financial statements, and its compliance with legislation
and rules. As such, the Group is committed to establishing
and maintaining a sound internal control system to provide
reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against any
serious misrepresentation or loss, and to manage, though
not eliminate, any risk of serious mistakes regarding the
operation system and the objectives of the Group. The
Board also perceives its overall responsibility for the internal
control, financial control and risk management, and will
review its effectiveness from time to time.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit Department, which is
responsible for the internal audit of the Group, independent
assessment of risks, and internal control procedures and
system, and reports its findings, with recommendations, to
the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

MMBEIERERAR 201568 @

Corporate Governance Report &3 %E A

% BB BN &
PREREH - ADQ B % BAD 2 i B8R B
% #)78 #4,815,0007T & 3F % & IR 7% B
& #9785 ¥2,085,000 T (FEM D HEBE
E-FT-—ZFZA=Z+—HILEFE #H=ZE
:%—EiJr:HEJr—EUtMH =
—NFE+-_A=Z+—HBHLEFER
@ifj AFZA=+t—HIL=Z@EAZ
HBER UERBEHAAGREMBEA
AERE-ZETE WO+ A=+—HIHF
EZ%%QMM%THE, #1,190,000
T EFE/THEECHERFASE
45000075 ERBBEERRETEE
G /REBRM SR * BB #225,0007T
MOSHHERE HLeRERERNBE
#0200,0007T) °

P BB B 4% % i B i 1

B A
EFRERAEENNDELBREE
AR SRR E MRS R EER
BE -

Wﬁﬁﬁ*?

R REZASELERGHRELAER
EﬁF R WER DS REFE
BIRREIEREE o Ilﬂ:ﬁﬁlﬁﬁ
VIR AR AIEITERS -
REEEMIEBY 2RE - LABEH:"EEF

ERFHBINBER WEEBMIELLL
BEEFEHEMNERNESEREEREREKRR
2Rk -EEZSMPEOELHRNIBEE -
BEsIhRABRERE CBEET e
SR BT B ek o

kR
AEEREARENT  AEAKER
BB 2 1 I M S A AT [ B AN A R BE HE AR
RESG YRFEANEZZEGERE

RN R -

W



@ Digital China Holdings Limited 2015 Annual Report

~

Corporate Governance Report 1> ¥ &8 E

The Internal Audit Department will assess the risks to which
the Group is exposed, and formulate an audit plan on that
basis annually, so as to ensure that the internal audit covers
all areas of high risks. The audit plan will be submitted to
the Audit Committee for approval. The scope of audit review
is determined based on the risk assessment results. Special
reviews will be conducted on matters which are of concern
to the management or the Audit Committee.

Monitoring Procedures
The Board establishes and maintains a good internal control
system through the following principal procedures:

(1) Establishing a reasonable and effective organization
structure with clear functions, responsibilities and
authority;

(2) Laying down stringent procedures for budget
preparation and budget management; formulating
business plans and financial budgets annually; rationally
adjusting the organisation structure based on business
planning; ensuring the effective operation of the
organisation; reviewing the implementation of budgets
and making reasonable adjustment based on the latest
conditions;

(3) The Internal Audit Department — independently assessing
the comprehensibility and effectiveness of the monitoring
of principal business, reporting its principal findings, with
recommendations, to the Audit Committee on a quarterly
basis; and

(4) The Auditors — making a “Management Proposal” in
its audit of annual results, recommending ways to
address some internal management areas which are
correspondingly weak; the management making serious
reviews, and making and submitting improvement
proposals to the Audit Committee.

Assessment of Annual Internal Monitoring

For the Reporting Period, the Internal Audit Department
adopted a risk-based methodology to focus on and monitor
principal workflow, and reported the internal audit results
to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. Through the
Audit Committee, the Board reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group. The internal
control system covers all important matters to be monitored,
including finance, operation and compliance matters, risk
management functions as well as the adequacy of resources,
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qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group on a going concern basis in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The statement of the Auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on
pages 76 to 77 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders and the investment community.

One of the principal channels of communication with the
Shareholders is the annual general meeting and all corporate
communications of the Company, including but not limited
to interim reports, annual reports, notices of meeting,
announcements, circulars and other relevant Company’s
information are available on the Company's website
www.dcholdings.com.hk.

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication
Policy to handle enquiries put to the Board.

The Company believes that communicating with Shareholders
through its website is an efficient way of delivering
information in a timely and convenient manner. Information
on the Company’s website will be continuously reviewed
and updated to ensure that information is current, or
appropriately dated and archived.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company recognises the rights of Shareholders and
encourages Shareholders to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meeting.
The general meeting provides an important opportunity
for Shareholders to express their view to the Board and
management and to exercise Shareholders’ rights. Under
the Bye-Laws, Shareholders have the rights to convene a
special general meeting and put forward agenda items for
consideration by Shareholders. The latest Bye-Laws has been
uploaded onto the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange respectively.

Shareholders are encouraged to use their attendance
at meetings to ask questions about or comment on the
results, operations, strategy, corporate governance and/or
management of the Group. The Board members, in particular,
either the Chairmen or members of the Board committees,
appropriate management executives, external auditors and
legal advisers shall be available at general meetings to
answer questions from Shareholders.
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The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting
their report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 1 to the financial statements. During the year,
the Board announced to sell the subsidiaries engaged in
the distribution business, the details of which have been
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 7 August
2015 and the circular of the Company dated 9 August 2015.

RESULTS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2015
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 78 to 268 of this annual
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015 is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 20 to 38 of
this annual report. Description of the risks and uncertainties
facing the Company can be found throughout this annual
report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 273 to 274 this annual
report. The five-year financial summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company during the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set
out in note 15 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements, together with the reasons therefor,
in the share capital of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2015 are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
of Bermuda, amounted to HK$3,078,727,000. In addition,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$2,080,480,000, may be distributed in the form of fully
paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda although there are no
restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

As permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company, every Director
shall be indemnified out of the Company’s assets against any
liability incurred by the Director, to the extent permitted by
Bermuda law. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in
force throughout the financial year and is currently in force
at the time of approval of this report. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability coverage
for the directors and officers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2015 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman)

Mr. LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer]
Mr. YAN Guorong (President] (Note 1)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter

Dr. LIU Yun, John

Ms. YAN Xiaoyan

Mr. LAl Daniel, BBs, yp (Note 2)

Notes:

1. Mr. YAN Guorong resigned as an Executive Director and President of
the Company with effect from 8 March 2016.

2. Mr. LAI Daniel, B8s, Jp was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 15 October 2015.

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. LIN
Yang, Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter and Dr. LIU Yun, John
will retire from office by rotation. In accordance with Bye-
Law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. LAl Daniel, 885, Jp who
was appointed as a director with effect from 15 October
2015 will hold office until the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. All of them being eligible will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION #R#E EH#RAI%13.51B(1)& 2
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE EZE&HIHE
LISTING RULES
Changes in the information of Directors required to be  RIE LM R AIE13.51BIIEHEEE T #
disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set EEEEH BTN
out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes EEEB BEHEE

Mr. GUO Wei Ceased to be the Chairman of Beijing AL E THEFAILEREEEL

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Mr. WONG Man
Chung, Francis

Dr. LIU Yun, John

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Informatization Association

Appointed as a Director and the
Chairman of RIJIT R ERLE (KE)
f& 5 B R 2 & (Shenzhen Shenxin
Taifeng Group Co., Ltd.*) (listed on
The Shenzhen Stock Exchange)

Appointed as a Director of ATA
Online (Beijing) Education Technology
Co., Ltd. (listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations
System of China (also known as the
New Third Board))

Became a Fellow Member of The
Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors

Appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of GCL-Poly
Energy Holdings Limited (listed
on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited)
which will take effect from 1 April
2016

Ceased to be the Chief Business
Officer of Qihoo 360 Technology Co.
Ltd.

Appointed as a Director of ATA
Online (Beijing) Education Technology
Co., Ltd. (listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations
System of China (also known as the
New Third Board))

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the Executive Directors of the Company entered into
a service agreement with the Company which shall continue
in force unless and until terminated by (i) either the Company
or the Director serving on each other of not less than three
months’ notice; or (i) his retirement as a Director without
being re-elected as a Director by the Shareholders of the
Company in an annual general meeting in accordance with
the Bye- Laws; or (iii) in the event of the Director’s default
under the terms of the said service agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the
Company proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has a service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
the statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transaction” of this report, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
31 December 2015 or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2015.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operates two share option schemes. One of
the share option schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the
“2002 Share Option Scheme”) and the other share option
scheme was adopted on 15 August 2011 (the “2011 Share
Option Scheme”), each with life span of ten years. Details of
the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2011 Share Option
Scheme as well as movements in the share options during
the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 36(a)
to the financial statements.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme
(the “RSA Scheme”) on 28 March 2011 for the purpose of
rewarding and motivating, among others, Directors (including
executive and non-executive) and employees of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Participants”) with the shares of
the Company. Details of the RSA Scheme are set out in note
36(b) to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option
Schemes” and “Restricted Share Award Scheme” of this
report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Schemes” and “Restricted Share Award Scheme” of this
report, at no time during the year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of
each Director and chief executive of the Company and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be and are recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Mode
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers adopted by the Company (the “Model Code”) were as
follows:
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Notes:

Save

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the
shares of the Company.

These 69,414,286 shares of the Company were beneficially held by
Kosalaki Investments Limited (“KIL’), of which Mr. GUO Wei is the
controlling shareholder and also a director of KIL, therefore, Mr. GUO
Wei was deemed to be interested in such shares in which KIL was
interested.

These 59,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by
Sparkling Investment (BVI) Limited (“SIBL"), which is wholly-owned by
SAIF Partners Il L.P.. SAIF Partners Ill L.P. is controlled by SAIF Il GP,
L.P., and SAIF Illl GP, L.P. is indirectly controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN
through SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd., therefore, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN was
deemed to be interested in such shares in which SIBL was interested.

These 668,000 share options held by Mr. YAN Guorong were granted
on 11 January 2011. These share options are exercisable from 11
January 2012 to 10 January 2019 at an exercise price of HK$15.04
per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company. Mr.
YAN Guorong resigned as an Executive Director and President of the
Company with effect from 8 March 2016.

The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate
nominal value of the shares/underlying shares comprising the
interests held as a percentage of the aggregate nominal value of all
the issued share capital of the Company of the same class immediately
after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained
under Section 352 of the SFO.

as disclosed above, at 31 December 2015, none of

the Directors and chief executive of the Company or their
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
the directors and chief executive were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFQO), or which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the

SFO,

or which were required to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2015, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons, not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had the following interests
and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were required to be disclosed to the
Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:
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hEHESEZ

BRABE HBABEDLH (%)

8 14 (K171) (K17#9)

Kosalaki Investments Limited Beneficial owner 69,414,286 6.35

(Note 2) (fifi£2) EmEAA

Sparkling Investment (BVI) Beneficial owner 59,111,744 5.40
Limited (“SIBL) EmBEAA (Note 3)
(#75£3)

SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd. Interests of a controlled 59,111,744 5.40
corporation (Note 3)
REEE RS (K1 7%3)

Allianz SE Interests of controlled 87,929,000 8.04
corporations (Note 4)
REEE R (K1 7t4)

International Value Advisers, LLC Investment manager 66,027,000 6.03
REKRE (Note 5]
(H77£5)

Legend Holdings Corporation Beneficial owner/Interests of 35,013,077/ 5.15
GARER RN BER AR a controlled corporation 21,368,642
(Note 6] (/1i£6) ERBAAN/ZEEEZER (Note 7]
(Bt at7)

Ting Pang Wan Raymond Interests of controlled 55,663,000 5.09
THEE corporations (Note 8)
REEE 2 E R (K178)
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Notes:

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the
shares of the Company.

KIL is controlled by Mr. GUO Wei who is a director of the Company
and KiIL.

These 59,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by
SIBL, which is wholly-owned by SAIF Partners Il L.P.. SAIF Partners Il
L.P. is controlled by SAIF Ill GP, L.P., and SAIF Il GP, L.P. is indirectly
controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN through SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd.,
therefore, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN was deemed to be interested in such
shares in which SIBL was interested.

Out of these 87,929,000 shares of the Company in aggregate,
85,225,000 shares were held by RCM Asia Pacific Ltd., 2,414,000
shares by Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd., 185,000 shares by
Allianz Global Investors Europe GmbH and 105,000 shares by Allianz
Global Investors Fund Management LLC. All of the aforementioned
companies were indirectly controlled by Allianz SE.

International Value Advisers, LLC was interested in an aggregate
of 66,027,000 shares of the Company by virtue of the SFO. Those
interests were held in the capacity of investment manager.

The English name is direct transliteration of its Chinese registered
name.

These 21,368,642 shares of the Company were held by Right Lane
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary and a controlled corporation
of Legend Holdings Corporation, and therefore Legend Holdings
Corporation was deemed to be interested in such shares by virtue of
the SFO.

Out of these 55,663,000 shares of the Company in aggregate,
39,466,000 shares were held by Highgrade Holding Limited and
16,197,000 shares by Plan Marvel Investment Limited. All of the
aforementioned companies were controlled by Ting Pang Wan
Raymond. Therefore, Ting Pang Wan Raymond was deemed to be
interested in those shares.

The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate
nominal value of the shares/underlying shares comprising the
interests held as a percentage of the aggregate nominal value of all
the issued share capital of the Company of the same class immediately
after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2015, the
Company had not been notified by any persons who had
interests or short positions in shares or underlying shares
of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the
Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
made donation of HK$2,420,000 (for the year ended 31
December 2014: HK$3,198,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate percentage of revenue attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers was less than 30% (for the
year ended 31 December 2014: less than 30%) of the
Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2015.

The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers was approximately 41% (for the
year ended 31 December 2014 (Restated): approximately
36%) of the Group’s total purchases and the percentage
of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
was approximately 12% (for the year ended 31 December
2014 (Restated): approximately 11%) for the year ended 31
December 2015.

None of the Directors, any of their close associates or
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s major customers
or suppliers noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
entered into the following connected transaction which is
subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Details of the transaction is as follows:

On 7 August 2015, Digital China Limited (“DCL’) (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), the Company
and FIITIRERLE (EE) %D B R 2 A (Shenzhen Shenxin
Taifeng Group Co., Ltd.*) (“Shenxin Taifeng”) entered into a
share transfer agreement pursuant to which DCL agreed
to sell and Shenxin Taifeng agreed to acquire 100% equity
interests held by DCL in three companies, namely, M #75
(RE) B MR A7 (Digital China (China) Limited*), /&8 M
AR 27 (Shanghai Digital China Limited*) and J& /il & /)
15 = B Bl 5 A R A 7 (Guangzhou Digital China Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*), at a cash consideration of RMB4.01
billion (the “Disposal”). On the same date, Shenxin Taifeng
and each of Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman and Executive Director
of the Company) and F{EZKEELEEFR A (China Fund
Management Co., Ltd.*) (with Mr. YAN Guorong, Executive
Director and President of the Company until his resignation
with effect from 8 March 2016, as one of the asset
trustors (“Assets Trustors”) who would provide the funds
for subscription of new ordinary shares (“New A Shares”] to
be issued by Shenxin Taifeng) entered into agreements in
respect of the subscription of an aggregate of 184,387,503
out of the 296,096,903 New A Shares at a price of
BRMB7.43 per New A Share (subject to adjustments) to be
issued by Shenxin Taifeng (the “Share Subscription”).

As the Share Subscription involves the subscription of New A
Shares by Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. YAN Guorong (as one of the
Asset Trustors), who are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules by virtue of them being Directors, the
Disposal and the Share Subscription therefore constituted a
connected transaction of the Company pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the transaction have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 August 2015 and the
circular dated 9 August 2015 and are also included in note
11 to the financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 of the Group were audited by Ernst &
Young.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float during the year ended
31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report as
required under the Listing Rules.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
REEES

ij
GUO Wei 335
Chairman 7 J&

Hong Kong, 29 March 2016
BE —E-XRF=ZA=Z+A1HA
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To the shareholders of Digital China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries set out on pages 78 to 268, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. WWe do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consoclidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 4R & 18z &

Year ended 31 December 2015 B 2T —AF+-_A=1+—HILFE

2014
—ET-8F —E-mEF
Notes HK$’'000 HK$’000
b aF BT BT T
(Restated)
(gE7)

CONTINUING OPERATIONS @& ¥
REVENUE "N 5 10,630,672 12,156,231
Cost of sales and services %8 & IR #5 Ak 4 (8,414,702) (10,304,442)
Gross profit EH 2,215,970 1,851,789
Other income and gains = NS 5 355,209 183,745

Selling and distribution THE K&

expenses DiEE A (991,294) (880,701)
Administrative expenses THE A (200,666) (125,148)
Other expenses, net Hib B R FEE (698,058) (473,044)
Finance costs b & B 7 (73,685) (60,801)
Share of profits and EETIRE 2

losses of; i A Ko 5 18

Joint ventures AEDE 41,617 34,478

Associates /NS 21,786 69,667
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BEKEEKZ

FROM CONTINUING R Bt A %

OPERATIONS 6 670,879 599,985
Income tax expense 5T E R 10 (207,371) (89,904)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BFERE

FROM CONTINUING EBZEAEE

OPERATIONS s Al 463,508 510,081
DISCONTINUED FRE

OPERATION REEK
Profit for the year from a JEFELEET

discontinued operation ZARERRN 1 462,207 392,169
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEERFA 925,715 902,250
Attributable to: BN

Equity holders of the & AFR R

parent FE 2= 661,676 700,953

Non-controlling interests FEVE IR 1 264,039 201,297

925,715 802,250
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 4R &8 255
Year ended 31 December 2015 B E T —AF+t—_A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—ET-HF —E-WEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B i B¥TT BT T
(Restated)
(& 75)
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBERR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO e B R 2 7
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT 13
Basic AR
— For profit for — REE
the year il 61.67 HK cents #&{l 65.37 HK cents /&1l
— For profit from — FEKE
continuing E¥i
operations i 18.59 HK cents &1{ll 28.54 HK cents /&1l
Diluted #E
— For profit for — KXFE
the year i ) 61.59 HK cents #&fll 65.31 HK cents &1l
— For profit from — BELE
continuing E¥i

operations a5 ) 18.57 HK cents #&fll 28.52 HK cents &1l
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income #R& 2 HE 4 &=

Year ended 31 December 2015 B 2T —AF+-_A=1+—HILFE

2014
—E-1F —E-WEF
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
bt aF BT BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEEEF 925,715 902,250
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htt2mks,
INCOME/(LOSS) (B8
Other comprehensive income/ HignagEHhoH
(loss) to be reclassified to ZEHETDZHAM
profit or loss in subsequent 2EME S
periods: (E#E) :
Available-for-sale investments: AHHEZEREA:
Changes in fair value ~NTEEZS 6,304 (36,102)
Reclassification adjustments BRERNGREER
for losses/(gains) included RCEFOHE
in the consolidated AEREE
statement of profit or loss (M=)
— impairment losses — BEEIE B 28,994 69,477
— loss/(gain) on disposal — HEEB
(W2 ) (17,313) 33,810
17,985 67,185
Exchange differences on 8 INE TS
translation of foreign mH
operations b 5 Z & (337,387) (41,165)
Share of other il R/ N o
comprehensive income/ Hip 2@
(loss) of associates (E18) 22,368 (5,601)
Net other comprehensive HignagEHhoH
income/(loss) to be EER HMEE
reclassified to profit or loss Was (E518) %8
in subsequent periods (297,034) 20,419
Other comprehensive income/ HEe rgeEsHoH
(loss) not to be reclassified ElETZHM
to profit or loss in 2HEW =S
subsequent periods: (&) :
Gain on property revaluation Y ¥ AR 986 5,239

Income tax effect ks & (246) (1,310)
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Year ended 31 December 2015 B E—ZT—AF+t A=+ —HIFE

2015 2014
—E2—hF —E—pE
HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Net other comprehensive income HERA[GEEHFHEE
not to be reclassified to profit BmsHEMER

or loss in subsequent periods W &= 5 58 740 3,929
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BIARBENREE

INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE Httzmh s,

YEAR, NET OF TAX (E8) (296,294) 24,348
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE KEE

INCOME FOR THE YEAR E2EREEE 629,421 926,598
Attributable to: SRER

Equity holders of the parent B ARRRE RS 471,158 710,302

Non-controlling interests R 158,263 216,296

629,421 926,598
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

31 December 2015 —ZE—HF+-_A=+—H

ARE BB MR

2015 2014
—E-1F —EF-lEF
Notes HK$°'000 HK$'000
&t BT T BT T
(Restated)
(& =3)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BERZE 14 792,836 1,323,438
Investment properties BEYE 15 2,123,249 1,744,226
Prepaid land premiums SRR ik 18 115,682 139,960
Goodwill B 17 1,215,976 1,274,815
Other intangible assets EtmEEE 18 58,385 65,786
Investments in joint ventures REEDLEIRE 19 929,439 675,579
Investments in associates REERRIZIRE 20 1,623,804 1,191,959
Available-for-sale investments AfEEZRE 21 591,714 1,916,433
Finance lease receivables FEW B & EKIE 22 371,703 7,686
Prepayments, deposits and other TEfIZIE « & K EA
receivables J& W k1A 28 639,477 —
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEE E 23 78,450 192,609
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 8,540,715 8,532,491
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 24 812,451 6,175,416
Properties under development TR 25 437,788 562,445
Completed properties held for REHERENRT
sale % 26 80,600 —
Accounts and bills receivables WAL EERE 27 3,700,923 9,601,923
Prepayments, deposits and other TEfTZIE « & K EA
receivables J& W K IR 28 1,583,573 3,683,099
Derivative financial instruments T4 €@ T A 30 = 32,841
Available-for-sale investments AfEEZRE 21 4,889 1,000,000
Restricted bank balances PR B8R 17 45 & 31 69,654 —
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEEY 31 3,272,212 4,119,557
9,962,090 25,175,281
Assets of a disposal group HESEIAFELE
classified as held for sale JEE 11 18,983,558 —
Total current assets BREEE 28,945,648 25,175,281
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REMBARREK

31 December 2015 —ET—HF+-_A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-EF —E—mF
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
K it BT T BT T
(Restated)
(& &E5)
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accounts and bills payables ENERLEMEZE 32 2,005,817 10,301,179
Other payables and accruals H At & < R I8 K
TEiE & 33 2,254,933 4,021,434
Tax payables FE #7118 84,216 359,318
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M 8 R1TE & 34 4,334,778 7,080,139
8,679,744 21,742,070
Liabilities directly associated B2 AHE
with the assets classified as HEBE
held for sale BEREEzE8E 11 15,194,751 —
Total current liabilities BwREBEE 23,874,495 21,742,070
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 5,071,153 3,433,211
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #& & &R
LIABILITIES RBERE 13,611,868 11,965,702
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M 8 R 1TE & 34 2,176,903 1,064,848
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 23 84,963 —
Deferred income I8 WA 55,685 36,679
Total non-current liabilities BIERBAE 2,317,551 1,101,527
Net assets BEEFE 11,294,317 10,864,175
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31 December 2015 —ZE—HF+-_A=+—H

2015 2014
—E—HF —ET—F
Notes HK$°'000 HK$'000
&t BT T BT T
(Restated)
(&&E5))
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to equity BATRKRRE
holders of the parent EihER
Issued capital B8 17 A 35 109,637 109,374
Reserves ki 37 8,762,930 8,490,982
8,872,567 8,600,356
Non-controlling interests IE 4= IR BE & 2,421,750 2,263,819
Total equity A 11,294,317 10,864,175

ij
GUO Wei 25
Chairman + /&

/@/
LIN Yang #1#§
Director &%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #R&Em & EEK

Year ended 31 December 2015 HZ - T —AF+ A=+ —HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BRARRES
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share Employee  share-based Asset investment Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium  Capital share compensation revaluation revaluation  Reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital  account  reserve trust reserve  reserve’  reserve funds  reserve profits Total interests Total equity
IR A e
2% Kk R EERR €8z HKERE REZ EXRD iR

kx EER EL ¢ MeRk  BH GERE REE: BE REEH &t EE  EESE
Note  HK$000 HK$00D HK$000 HK$OOD — HKSOOO HKSO00 HKBOOO HK$OOD HKSO00 HK$O0D HK$O0O HK$O0O — HK$0OO
fd ERTn R¥TRL ERTn BWTR  RETR BRI EETn RMTR ERTn AMTR RMTR AMTR BRTn

(Restated)
(18 %5l)
At 1 January 2014 R=F-mE-A-H 109,374 2,060,433 114,551 (369,897) 132,685 — [(43.256) 457056 392,265 3,872,666 7725877 1,320,511 9,046,388
Profit for the year REERET - - - - = = - - — 700,953 700953 201297 902,250
Other comprehensive income/  KEFEM2ENKE/
(loss) for the year: (E#)
Available-for-sale A HERE
Investments:
— Changes in fair value - LTEEEY - - - - - - (17578) - - — [(17576) (18526) (36102
— Impairment loss - HEEE - - - - - — 43780 - - — 43780 25897 69477
— Loss on disposal — HEFE N - N - - - 152 - - — 15272 18538 33810
Exchange differences on BIER

translation of foreign BEZ

operations 353 - = - - - - - —  (33104) — [(33104) (8,081 (41,165)
Share of other comprehensive  FE(FEE AT 2

loss of an associate Eh2AER - - - - - - - - (2959 - [2952) (2649 (5,601)
Gain on property revaluation, net & ¥1% %t

of tax ELT - - - - - 3929 - - - - 3929 - 3929
Total comprehensive income/  REE2ENE/

(loss) for the year (BB)EE = - - - = 3929 41478 — (36056) 700953 710,302 216296 926,598
Share-based compensation DRBZEZHE k[ - - - - (20129) - - - - - [20129) —  [20129)
Vesting of shares under the X ZRAIH (A

restricted share award LR )

scheme BRERH - - — 67440 (77,448) - - - - —  (10,008) - (10,008)
Contribution from non-controlling & 2 7 3: 12

shareholders of subsidiaries ~ R Z 1% - — 409,757 - - - - - - — 409757 729106 1,138,863
Acquisition of non-contraling ~ WEK BAF

interests of a subsidiary FERER - —  [25408) - - - - - - — (25406) (2094)  (27500)
Final 2013

dividend declared - - - - - - - - — (180,037) (180,037) — [(190,087)
Transfer to reserve funds dATHELS - - - - - - — 119,900 —  [119,900) - - -
At 31 December 2014 RZB-WF

+ZA=1+-H 109,374 2,060,433 1,498,902 (302,457) 35108 3929 (1780) 576,956 356,209 4,263,6828,600,356 2,263,819 10,864,175
7 The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an & BEMEEERBE_Z—HFT-A=T
owner-occupied property to an investment property carried at fair —BUEFENEEENEZERAZHERE
value for the year ended 31 December 2014. MEREZEAFEEGTHE -

5 Retained profits have been adjusted for the proposed final 2014 & REBEFNERBEAFENZI A AR IR=
dividend in accordance with the current year’s presentation, which is TNERARBELAE  FERUEB
described in note 2.4 to the financial statements. WK FE2. 48, -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 4R &z E &K
Year ended 31 December 2015 B E T —AF+t-_A=1+—HBIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BRRARRES
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share Employee  share-based Asset investment Exchange Non-
Issued  premium Capital share compensation revaluation revaluation  Reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital  account  reserve trust reserve  reserve’  reserve funds  reserve profits Total interests Total equity
HRHZM AHHEL
BEfT Rt &% [EERE EEz HBEf#E REZ EXRD FER
kx  RER L1 28 HERR B AERE HEES BE REXH ait B ERAE
/228 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$O000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$O00 HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS'000

G EnTn ERTR EMTn EMTn 0 EMTn BETR EMTR EMTn RMTn BETR EMTr E¥Tn RETn

(Restated)
(EE3)
At 1 January 2015 W=Z-1%-F-H 109,374 2,060,433 1,498,902 (302,457) 35,108 3929 (1,780) 576,956* 356,209 4,263,682 8,600,356 2,263,819 10,864,175
Profit for the year KEERF = = = = - - - - — 661676 661676 264,039 925715
Other comprehensive income/ A% EEt2EME/
(loss) for the year: (BB):
Available-for-sale AfLEL
investments RE:
— Changes in fair value - NTEEEY - - - - - - 6,304 - - - 6,304 - 6,304
— Impairment loss - HEEE - - - - - — 28994 - - — 28994 - 28,994
— Gain on disposal — HEhE — — — — — - (17313) - - - (17313) - (17,313)
Exchange differences on BINER
translation of foreign BEZ
operations ERERE = = = = = = = — (230,640) — (230,640) (106,747) (337,387)
Share of other comprehensive FE{EB:E AR 2
income of an associate Eh2ENR - - - - - - 20276 - 1121 - 21,897 971 22,368
Gain on property revaluation, EHKFEL
net of tax NERE - = ~ - - 740 - - - - 740 - 740

Total comprehensive income/ AFF2EME/

(loss) for the year (BR)BE - - - - = 740 38,261 — (229,519) 661676 471158 158,263 629,421
Exercise of share options fTEERE 35 263 20,047 - - (4,837) - - - - - 15473 - 15,473
Share-based compensation MR X[z B4 % - - - - 34 - - - - - 34 - 34
Contribution from non- KEAR

controling shareholders of ~ FEEERE

subsidiaries JiE - - - - - - - - - - - 21120 27,120
Final 2014 —I-mfF

dividend declared BERKHRE - - - - - - - S — (214,454) (214,454) (27,452) (241,906)
Transfer to reserve funds BRTRELS = = = = = = — 70,638 —  [70,638) = = =
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-1%F

+=R=t-R 109,637 2,080,480* 1,498,902* (302,457)* 30,305*  4,669* 36,481* 647,594* 126,690*4,640,266* 8,872,567 2,421,750 11,294,317
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEFERERERGAMBRARP Z4L
HK$8,762,930,000 (2014 (Restated): HK$8,490,982,000) in the A R AE%8,762,930,0007T (== — U4

consolidated statement of financial position. (42 &%) : #%8,490,982,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #r&RE&REXR

Year ended 31 December 2015 HiZE—_E—AF +t—_A=+—HIEFE

2015 2014
—E-h8fF —T-MmF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b it BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING #% % & B
ACTIVITIES BERE
Profit before tax: BR A5 A A -
From continuing operations RERFEREER 670,879 599,985
From a discontinued operation REFFEEEESE 1 542,570 541,521
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs [ELE=§0 9N 297,740 270,517
Share of profits and losses ElEEE %R
of joint ventures and iR/l v
associates A M EE (54,226) (106,599)
Interest income A B A (66,679) (87,368)
Dividend income from A e
available-for-sale A
investments Z B A 5 (8,864) (7,280)
Loss on disposal of items HEME  HWER
of property, plant and HE BB
equipment 11,664 2,570
Fair value gains on investment KEME 2 N FEE
properties, net F U 2 5 (141,848) (38,304)
Gain on disposal of a PE—RHRBARZ
subsidiary W 55 5 (35) —
Gain on disposal of a joint BE—MEELEZ
venture U &5 5 — (580)
Gain on partial disposal of s — & A A
the equity interest in an o X
associate g %= 5 (999) (921)
Gain on deemed partial RELE % B2
disposal of the equity YNSRI N - X
interests in associates U &5 5 (38,150) (25,602)
Loss on disposal of an HE—MEEE R Az
associate &8 — 278
Loss/(gain) on disposal/partial HE /HFoHE
disposal of an available-for- AHEEZEE 2
sale investment e/ (ks) 5, 6 (26,270) 13,102
Depreciation e 14 147,866 158,191
Amortisation of prepaid land AL
premiums e 16 3,890 4,375
Amortisation of other Hih\mEEE
intangible assets e 6 12,341 11,445
Impairment of other intangible Hth\mEEE
assets A 6 19,586 —
Reversal of provisions for REFS
and write-off of obsolete BERE R
inventories i 84 (12,687) (23,279)
Impairment of accounts and JE U2 B 3 %
bills receivables JEUY 22 15 R B 27 53,446 36,607
Impairment of finance lease FERmERE
receivables KIERE 6 4,272 —
Impairment of available-for-sale ez
investments ®ERIE 6 28,994 69,477
Impairment of prepayments TR FRIE R oAt FE UL
and other receivables RIERE 6 28 48,518
Share-based compensation AR 212 B & 34 (20,129)

1,443,552 1,446,524
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 4R&8E&REX
Year ended 31 December 2015 B Z - —AF T+ -_A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E—F& —ZT—[UFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Increase in inventories VN i‘j]l] (322,190) (515,620)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts fﬂﬁlgﬁ A
and bills receivables J/(i' ) (371,110) 1,970,569
Increase in prepayments, J’Eﬁ ?Zi/i\&
deposits and other receivables /\ﬁﬂr’éﬂﬂz X TE 12N (1,036,349) (262,6286)
Increase in finance lease e B &
receivables A E 208 1 0 (368,289) —
Decrease in derivative financial PTEeB T A
instruments NS 96,988 80,537
Decrease in accounts and bills FE A BR B M B A = IR
payables VR (2,105,581) (826,910)
Increase in other payables and  E b & Z B &
accruals i‘E% i‘é‘?ﬁﬁf’ n 568,544 335,722
Effect of foreign exchange rate AEE 2
changes, net yi A 98,925 15,038
Cash generated from/(used in)  #&%&FE (FTA) 2
operations Be (1,995,510) 2,243,234
Interest received BUF &2 77,903 107,596
Mainland China income tax paid &80 B K EEFTS T (381,440) (276,329)
Net cash flows from/(used in) wEEBE,(FTH)
operating activities fﬁ%?ﬁ%%‘% (2,299,047) 2,074,501



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #R&
Year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ_—Z

N BEIER AR AR 201545 ((GEE

R e i/)lh%%%

—hAFt_HA=t—HLFE

2015 2014
i —E-NF
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B it BT BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ®REZFHH
ACTIVITIES ReERE
Purchases of items of property, BEAWE H&E
plant and equipment & (173,698) (165,447)
Additions to investment NEREME
properties (371,071) (650,443)
Additions to properties under NEEREYE
development (94,223) (125,584)
Proceeds from disposal of LEME BER
items of property, plant and JE TS RIE
equipment 4,439 839
Additions to other intangible REAMBEEE
assets 18 (26,550) (21,497)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W g — M E A A 39 — (207,791)
Disposal of a subsidiary s — WE”&ET 40 62,289 —
Proceeds from disposal of HE—Eee ﬁ%?ﬁiﬁ
investment in a joint venture Z BT = 2,294
Proceeds from disposal of HE— Fﬂﬁﬁ?%@?%ﬁﬁ
investment in an associate =Y 1,823 1,007
Proceeds from disposal of & Al ﬁ%ZTﬁﬁ
available-for-sale investments Z BT ?E'r B 204,840 84,104
Dividends received from a joint  UEL— ALy
venture 2% B 4,823 6,175
Dividends received from W BR % [ Bk 2 X A
associates Z %8 8,761 8,796
Dividends received from WA E 2R E
available-for-sale investments 2R B 7,978 6,552
Investments in joint ventures ﬁéé\%ﬁﬁz&,\ (286,282) (505,872)
Investments in associates REERR 2R E (399,539) (82,569)
Investments in available-for-sale  AIftHEZRE 7R E 858,474 (2,196,374)
investments
Decrease/(increase) in other B W Sk IR R
receivables (3 5n) (1,251,390) 162,238
Increase in finance lease ERmERE
receivables XIE I8 0 — (7.6886)
Net cash flows used in investing & & EEFTH
activities W& m = F5 (1,449,326) (3,691,258)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 4R&8E&REX

Year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE—T—AF+-_A=-+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E—-AfF = —HF
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'OOD
bt i BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING R & ZEMH
ACTIVITIES RERE
Exercise of share options 7718 B AR 1 35 15,473 —
Vesting of shares under the RS IR I P 1
restricted share award HE I
scheme SEERMD — (10,008)
New bank loans FIBRITE R 25,283,235 18,939,013
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (20,153,118) (16,848,056)
Interest paid [EENEIIFSN (297,740) (270,517)
Dividends paid EHH“ (214,454) (190,037)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 17"3H HXHX%ZE“L
shareholders (27,452) —
Acquisition of non-controlling ¢ Eﬁﬁﬁ%“?iﬂ %
interests of subsidiaries e — (27,500)
Contribution from non-controlling B & A R 3F 5 A% B 3R =~
shareholders of subsidiaries H & 27120 293,465
Net cash flows from financing MEZBAFRESRE
activities T RE 4,633,064 1,886,360
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HRE&RESZEEYIEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS FE 884,691 269,603
Cash and cash equivalents at FEVzHeRA®%E
beginning of year fjgi 4,119,557 3,894,211
Effect of foreign exchange rate LR BEHE
changes, net (196,366) (44,257)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS H#EXRZzHE&£K
AT END OF YEAR REEEY 4,807,882 4,119,557
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES ReERBE
OF CASH AND CASH ZEYZ
EQUIVALENTS BERDAT
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITHEH 31 3,197,300 3,864,524
Non-pledged time deposits mIRRTERT R 31 144,566 255,033
Cash and cash equivalents as Rz e BN R
stated in the consolidated Fra R E Rk
statement of financial position REEED 3,341,866 4,118,557
Cash and cash equivalents B EED
attributable to a discontinued EiEzHEe Rk
operation REEED 11 1,466,016 —
Cash and cash equivalents as REEBRERER
stated in the consolidated FracRE Rk
statement of the cash flows REEEY 4,807,882 4,119,557
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt 7 3 3% M 5%

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda.
The head office and principal place of business of
the Company is located at Suite 2008, 20/F., Devon
House, Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road, Quarry Bay,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved
in the following principle activities:

o provision of information technology (“IT”) services,
including systems integration, technical service,
application software development, agricultural
informatisation, sales of financial specified
equipment, etc.

° provision of supply chain services, including
e-commerce supply chain services, logistics
services, maintenance services, etc.

o provision of all-encompassing Sm@rt City services
(including internet based integrated IT platform
construction and operation) and institutional
financial services (including micro-credit loan,
leasing, factoring etc)

o sale and distribution of general IT products and
systems products (discontinued operation)

31 December 2015 —ET—HF+-_A=+—H

ATIRKEEHR

Digital China Holdings Limited (1%
MEFEIERER AT ARRR DT
—HREREFMAILZERA
Al e RARIZEPMER R FEL?
AL P B 8 SO K 2 B9795%
K& 9877 K E20122008% -

RAFEER ARRIREK B AR
(BBIAEBDHREATEEZE
7%

o BRHEMMEOTHRS @ &
EREGEXR  RWRY &
REFE - BEERL -

ETHEARBS

e RHEHEBRYE BREED
HERRY  WRRY 4
Rk =

s RHUZTUNBEMMES
KRG BREEREBRB2 5
ITFaRZRMES) REB T
R (BRHNE -HE -
RIEEF)

. HERDHBRTER R
SEMOEHELCEER)
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Notes to Financial Statements B 75 3R 2= i &=

31 December 2015 —ZE—HF+-_A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries in
continuing operations are as follows:

Place of incorpaoration/

Issued ordinary/

1.

AT REEEH (&)

EHMEAR AR
ARAZBERELBHEENEA
AFBEMT

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name registration and business registered share capital to the Company Principal activities
By BEALAR/ RRFEM
48 BRREBH EEA BEANL TREH
Direct  Indirect
H# &
Digital China (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$5,125 100 - Investment holding
REAARER 5125% T REZR
Digital China Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding
BHBEERLA 36 BaT REZR
E-Olympic International Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Holding of trademarks
REAARES 1% BERR
Digital China Networks, Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
HHBEBEERAF" REAARES 10,000,000% 7 REZR
Grace Glory Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Investment holding
BELRXERAA RREARES 1% REZR
Shenzhen Instant Logistics Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Provision of logistic services
RYHENRERAF BE/REARE AR #%50,000,0007 REDR RS
Talent Gain Developments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
REAARER 1% REZR
Power Gateway Limited British Virgin Islands US$100 - 100 Investment holding
REAARES 100% 7t REZR
Digital China Software Limited** PRC/Mainland China US$6,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
HHBERTERAE RE/hEAE 6,000,000% 7 REZR



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries in
continuing operations are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

Issued ordinary/

1.

HINBBERBERA

20154 & @

Notes to Financial Statements 815 %k 7% i3
31 December 2015 —Z—R&E+_-_A=+—H

AT REEEH (&)

FEMBEARZER ()
ZIK’ATZT%K%&E%%%IKW%’A
AFBEWT (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name registration and business registered share capital  to the Company Principal activities
RV BREOEBR/ KRAEES
4 BRREBH MR EHEDL TEEH
Direct  Indirect
B %
Digital China Xi'an Industrial PRC/Mainland China RMBB00,000,000 - 100 Development and construction of
Co., Limited* FE/REAE A K #800,000,0007T Science and Technology Park
AZHMNABEEXERAF HREZENRERER
Digital China (Nanjing) Information and ~ PRC/Mainland China HK$367,000,000 - 100 Development and construction of
Technology Park Limited* RE/REARE 7% %367,000,0007T Science and Technology Park
SN (BR) EANRERA HREXENFHERER
Tianjin Digital China Financing Lease PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Finance lease business
Co., Ltd.* ME/REAR 30,000,000% 7 BEREXH
RERNBERAREARAA

Cellular Investments Limited Hong Kang HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BRREAFRAR Bk BEIT REZR
Digital China Information Service PRC/ Mainland China RMB917,811,816 - 42.44* Systems integration services,
Company Ltd. FE /PR AR AK#917811,9167C application software development,
BNEBEERERAERAA maintenance and outsourcing,
cunsultancy and training services

REERRY  EROHRE
%é&&\\aﬁﬁ?‘ HARIEI R
Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 — 42.44** Technology development and
BNEBELERERNERAR RE/REAE A K #200,000,0007 promation, technology consultancy
and services, computer systems
services and business of financial
specialised equipment

RATREERER

BB ARRE
SERERRE AR
EREDRAEAERHE
Beijing Zhongnong Xinda Information PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 42.44%* Pravision of rural
Technolugy Limited FE /PR AR A K #5,000,0007T information related services
IRPREZEESRMARAR HENBEE SRS
Digital China Sm@rt City (Chongging) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 — 100 Operation of Sm@rt City platform
Operation Service Limited‘ RE/REAE A K #200,000,0007 BEHTTREE

BEUM(ER EERBARD
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Notes to Financial Statements B 75 3R 2= i &=
31 December 2015 —ZE—HAFE+=-_HA=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries in
the discontinued operation are as follows:

Place of incorpaoration/

Issued ordinary/

AT REEEH (&)

BERAKE AT

ARRZ I

Percentage of
equity attributable

ZE¥ (&)
5 A EE

n\/\:\\I'»_‘ET%ﬁ%
AFHEMT

2 [} 8

Name registration and business registered share capital  to the Company Principal activities

By BEALAR/ ARAEES
48 BRREBH EEA EEEDL TEEH

Direct  Indirect
B %

Digital China (China) Limited** PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BNEE (hE)BERAR BE/hEARE AK¥%1,000,000,0007 AHITER
Chengdu Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China RMB25,401,625 — 100 Distribution of IT products
RBBNAEERAR E/hEAR AR 2540162571 AHITES
Shenyang Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China RMB33,700,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
EHRNEBEERAR RE/hEAE AR #33,700,0007 PHTER
Shanghai Digital China Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB285,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
LERNEBEERAR PR/ PEAE AR 285,000,000 PHITESR
Digital China (Shenzhen) Limited** PRC/Mainland China RMB12,730,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
BMEE R FRAR! BE /AR AR#%12,730,0007 DETER
Xian Digital China Limited* PRC/Mainland China HK$10,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
EZBMNBEBEERRR RE/hE AR }%%10,000,0007 DETER
Nanjing Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China RMB3,185,100 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BRBMEBEARAR" BE/REAR AR¥%31851007 AHITESR
Guangzhou Digital China Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB12,740,400 — 100 Distribution of IT products
BMBMEEERAR" RE/hEAE AK#%12,740,4007T PHTED
Jinan Digital China Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB5,470,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
EReMUABARLAR E/PEAR AR #5,4700007 AHITER
Digital China Marketing & Services Ltd. British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Investment holding

REBARRESR 17 REER
Digital China Technology Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China  HK$350,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BMEENRERERAT BB/ HEAKE }1£350,000,0007 DETER
Digital China (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,010,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
MBS (BB ERAF ik J£11,010,0007 DETER
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Notes to Financial Statements 815 %k 7% i3
31 December 2015 —E— A+ -_HA=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. X SIREEBEEH ()
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

BEENBRAR 2EH (&)
ARBZHFBECEEBIEWE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries in
the discontinued operation are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

Issued ordinary/

NEFBWOT : (8)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name registration and business registered share capital  to the Company Principal activities
RV BREOEBR/ KRAEES
4 BRREBH MR EHEDL TEEH
Direct  Indirect
B %
Digital China Networks (HK) Limited Hong Kang/Mainland China ~ HK$810 - 100  Investment holding and distribution of
BINEBERE(BA)EBRAR B/ PEAE B80T networking products
REERRDHBRER
Digital China Networks (Beijing) Limited** PRC/Mainland China RMB55,000,000 - 100 Development and distribution of
BMNEESE R BERAR HE/REAE A K #55,000,0007 networking products
HERAIHARER
Beijing Digital China Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
ERWMEBER LR VLN - AR %1,000,000,000 AHTESR
Beijing Digital China Supply Chain PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Services Co., Ltd.* VLN -2 AR ¥%10,000,0007C AHTESR
LR EEREERAR
Digital China (Zhengzhou) Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB5,100,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BHBE (BN ERRA BE/REAE AR #5,100,0007 DETER
Guangzhou Digital China Information PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Technology Co., Ltd.** mE/hEAE 50,000,000% 7t ARITER
NN UERE R EERAT
Hangzhou Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China RMB3,184,830 - 100 Distribution of IT products
RMENEEERAR ME/PEAR AR #3184,83071 AHTER
Digital China Macao Commercial Macao MOP1,000,000 = 100 Distribution of IT products
Offshore Limited AP )2 F9%1,000,0007T DEITER
BNSBRRERERBERAT
Fuzhou Digital China Company Limited** PRC/Mainland China RVB9,913,870 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BB MNEEERAR RE/hEAE AK#%9,9138707T PETERD
Changsha Digital China Company PRC/Mainland China RMB18,746,230 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Limited** ME L/ hEAR AR 19,746,230 AHTESR
EDRNBEERAT
Digital China (Hefei) Company Limited** ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB10,308,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BHEE(AE)BRRA! BE/REAE AR %10,308,0007 DETER
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
* The English names of these companies are direct

transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

The Chinese name is the trade name but not the original name
of the company.

# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

- Registered as Sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law.

* Digital China Information Service Company Ltd., a Shenzhen
listed company, is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group
even though the Group has only a 42.44% equity interest in
this company based on the factors explained in the notes 3
and 37 to the financial statements.

*x These companies are the wholly-owned subsidiaries of Digital
China Information Service Company Ltd. and, accordingly, are
accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the Company’s control
over them.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Except for Digital China (HK) Limited, Digital China
Limited, Digital China Technology Limited, Digital China
Networks (HK) Limited, Digital China Macao Commercial
Offshore Limited and Cellular Investments Limited,
the statutory financial statements for the above
subsidiaries were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong
Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young
global network.

A REEEH (&)

ERNBAR2ER (F)
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- REFREEREMBELRTIEED
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& B = B RIS D AR AR A —
KR EM AR - EAEERIESZ
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21 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 EREE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and certain equity investments which have
been measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for
sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts
and fair values less cost to sell as further explained in
note 2.4. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled
by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for
as an equity transaction.
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2.2 CHANGES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards
for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19
Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The nature and the impact of each amendment is
described below:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 19 apply to contributions
from employees or third parties to defined benefit
plans. The amendments simplify the accounting
for contributions that are independent of the
number of years of employee service, for example,
employee contributions that are calculated
according to a fixed percentage of salary. If the
amount of the contributions is independent of the
number of years of service, an entity is permitted
to recognise such contributions as a reduction
of service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered. The amendments have had
no impact on the Group as the Group does not
have defined benefit plans.

MBI ERAR 20156 ] @

Notes to Financial Statements 815 %k 7% i3
31 December 2015 —E— A+ -_HA=+—H

21 2HREE(R)

e EE(E)

HASEEREH —FHHEAR2E
HAE - BRI AR L RE R (1) 7% BT B 2 R
ZEEBEBHEB)RAR  ()EM
TR I HE 5 2 B (B M (i) 5T A
S REHERZE RERN)AK
REZAFEE  (MEAEREXR
B2 FEBE K(ii) 8 8 &I
Rt EE 2 BHHER © WAKH
ERLEHEBEEEXAR  TAE
REM2E WSR2 AR EE
HEOBEF DB LBRIRE R
MNER) - RIZ AR EERE

E o
ZAr

22 Bl BIRRIEZE &

AEERUAFEVBRREEKX
R TREERTEA -

BRI 2B A G ERFI195%
TRIE 18 FIat & - 1B B X

BEMBEHEERN —F—FFE
- FHHCFRNE

BEMBEHEEN —F——FF
—EZFHRCFRUE

BEFIZEERFEHE LT

@) BFRIZEBEERFE19%
HERAREEREE=TRR
ERAG BB R - ZFE
FI BN B B AR5 F 4
MRS RIE  NER
AR & 09 B E L Pl
TatE - MEREEBIR
RIGFH - BERAINERER
A B IR AR 5 ' 8 4K
FE 2 7 Fl 7% P AN ) #5088 IR
B AN 5% [ 3 4 A ] SROE AR
MEtE o FitzFEaT Y&
HBAEEBKREFNTZE -



@ Digital China Holdings Limited 2015 Annual Report

Notes to Financial Statements B 7% k2% i 5%
31 December 2015 —ZE—HAFE+=-_HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Z2010-
2012 Cycle issued in January 2014 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Details of
the amendments that are effective for the current
year are as follows:

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that
an entity must disclose the judgements
made by management in applying the
aggregation criteria in HKFRS 8, including
a brief description of operating segments
that have been aggregated and the economic
characteristics used to assess whether
the segments are similar. The amendments
also clarify that a reconciliation of segment
assets to total assets is only required to
be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported
to the chief operating decision maker. The
amendments have had no impact on the
Group.

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
and HKAS 38 Intangible Assets: Clarifies
the treatment of gross carrying amount and
accumulated depreciation or amortisation
of revalued items of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. The
amendments have had no impact on the
Group as the Group does not apply the
revaluation model for the measurement of
these assets.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(Continued)

° HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures:
Clarifies that a management entity [(i.e.,
an entity that provides key management
personnel services) is a related party subject
to related party disclosure requirements. In
addition, an entity that uses a management
entity is required to disclose the expenses
incurred for management services. The
amendment has had no impact on the
Group as the Group does not receive any
management services from other entities.

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Z2071-
2013 Cycle issued in January 2014 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Details of
the amendments that are effective for the current
year are as follows:

o HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies
that joint arrangements but not joint
ventures are outside the scope of HKFRS 3
and the scope exception applies only to the
accounting in the financial statements of the
joint arrangement itself. The amendment is
applied prospectively. The amendment has
had no impact on the Group as the Company
is not a joint arrangement and the Group
did not form any joint arrangement during
the year.
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2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(c) (Continued)

In addition,

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: Clarifies
that the portfolio exception in HKFRS 13
can be applied not only to financial assets
and financial liabilities, but also to other
contracts within the scope of HKFRS 9 or
HKAS 39 as applicable. The amendment is
applied prospectively from the beginning of
the annual period in which HKFRS 13 was
initially applied. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group as the Group does not
apply the portfolio exception in HKFRS 13.

HKAS 40 Investment Property: Clarifies
that HKFRS 3, instead of the description
of ancillary services in HKAS 40 which
differentiates between investment property
and owner-occupied property, is used to
determine if the transaction is a purchase
of an asset or a business combination.
The amendment is applied prospectively for
acquisitions of investment properties. The
amendment has had no impact on the Group
as the addition of investment properties
during the vyear was not a business
combination and so this amendment is not
applicable.

the Company has adopted the

amendments to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
relating to the disclosure of financial information
with reference to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial
year. The main impact to the financial statements
is on the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the financial statements.

C2EFTBRRARBEZEH

(4&)

(c)

(%)

. BB IS RE%ERIZE13
WAFEBEE BB
BB IS RE%ERIZE13
SRR E A BT E
EAREMEELS
BEE NAEARDE
7 B 75 3R 45 2E BI 595
SNBSS RS ERE
395 (ER) BEIAH
HEMEH - ZBIER] &
BE BB REER S
1355 &R FE Y F E 5
FFREER - ARA
SEWEERBE BB
REERF13HENAES
e AMZIEERTI
Y AREBIBRE R
& o

s  EAEEFERFL05%
REYRE BIFAER
FEMBHRELLFES
S(MmIERE S ER
SEAOHE ¥ 5 B) iR %5 &
Wt - ZEE DI E
MERBEVERIUE
Bast - ZREITNE
Mg ERANKBIRED
- ARRAFEARI
BREMELEBKE
Bast ZBRETLN
B FZIBERL
EUAREEBKEIMNE
@ .

S - KRB RAFRFER
RABEBMERHABERA
AIEMBEMBEENKED
Bz A LR B[ ER
)21 (2 EF B AR K
71 (5622%)) - ¥ ¥ 1% W &
MEBZEIN U T B ®E
NETERNZ2IRHKE -



MBI ERAR 20156 ] @

Notes to Financial Statements 815 %k 7% i3
31 December 2015 —E— A+ -_HA=+—H

2.3 EMRMEEKRENZEE
Bt 55 4R & 2 A

ARG B BN TS MR AR A
PATS 2 2R 418 1 2R A R 2 37 AR A
RETZBEEMBRSER -

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments? BERYBREE 2/ T A
Bl 5955
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets BRI B EME KREZHARE
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its WmEXERFEI0 LAl AER
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture® EREEE EZEEE
SHERIER8SE Bl E £
—E——5F)
Amendments to Investment Entities: Applying the BEIZEBUY REER EF

HKFRS 10, Consolidation Exception’ WEERIFEI0  HAEAKRG
HKFRS 12 and 5 BB SMER

HKAS 28 (2011)

HEEAF2

EREEE
TR E285%
—F——%)
Amendments to Accounting for Acquisitions of BRI BB WESEFFEE

HKFRS 11 Interests in Joint Operations’ REERENM mAESFEE
i
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts® BEBMBMEE EEBELLKF?
A1 81455
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BEBMBMERE EFEAHA?
Customers® Bl 5155%
Amendments to Disclosure Initiative’ BRIZER G KEH='
HKAS 1 R E15%R
Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable BRIZER G WEREHAEZE
HKAS 16 and Methods of Depreciation and HRFEI6FE R FHHE)EE
HKAS 38 Amortisation’ BB ER
£38%
Amendments to Agriculture: Bearer Plants’ BRIZBB G BX £EME

HKAS 16 and HAEBKE 7
HKAS 41 R g ER
EA15R
Amendments to Equity Method in Separate BRI2BAE BUHBHREXL
HKAS 27 (2011) Financial Statements" STERIE27% BmE
Annual Amendments to a number of (ZF——%)
Improvements HKFRSs' —E——FF- BIIZ—RIE
2012-2014 Cycle FE—FEAE  ABHBEWEE
ZF B Al
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EBEHEMEKRE/RZEE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B 5 8R o 2 AI(4F)

STANDARDS (Continued)

{ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ! RZTE-—AR"F-—A—BRIZERH
2016 ZF A E R

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZZE-N\F-—A—HBIzEMH
2018 2 45 B Y 2

3 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual B HEARZZE—AR"F—A—HBExZ
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and BRIENFEMBRRIENE BN
therefore is not applicable to the Group BMEERNEBER - HULHAE

= A i@ A

3 No mandatory effective date is determined but is available for 4 MR TSR G A B H - BRI R
early adoption R

Further information about those HKFRSs that are A EARAEE 2 ZEE B

expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows: BmEFN 2 E—FLERAT:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version RZZE—NFEHA BEEGTMR

of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial ERME BT oS ERFEIFEH

instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all BERA - Be@m T ABEENAMA

previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces EERER —RUARBE R B G ER

new requirements for classification and measurement, F395% R E BB %S ERI B9

impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects B2 EPERIRA - Z RIS A D E

to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group NEHE - RERE PSRBT

is currently assessing the impact of the standard upon MRE - AKEEHE T -—N\F—

adoption. A—BREAEBMEREERNE

9% - ANE B B AT IERT IR %2
AW E -



2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require
a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2016.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer
of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity
of the joint operation constitutes a business must
apply the relevant principles for business combinations
in HKFRS 3. The amendments also clarify that a
previously held interest in a joint operation is not
remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest
in the same joint operation while joint control is
retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added
to HKFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not
apply when the parties sharing joint control, including
the reporting entity, are under common control of the
same ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply
to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint
operation and the acquisition of any additional interests
in the same joint operation. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January
2016.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EBEHEMEKRE/RZEE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for
measuring and recognizing revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation
of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and liability
account balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. In
September 2015, the HKICPA issued an amendment
to HKFRS 15 regarding a one-year deferral of the
mandatory effective date of HKFRS 15 to 1 January
2018. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1
January 2018 and is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and
disclosure in financial statements. The amendments
clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS1;

(i)  that specific line items in the statement of profit
or loss and the statement of financial position
may be disaggregated;

(i) that entities have flexibility as to the order
in which they present the notes to financial
statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income
of associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method must be presented in
aggregate as a single line item, and classified
between those items that will or will not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements
that apply when additional subtotals are presented in
the statement of financial position and the statement
of profit or loss. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2016. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the
principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue
reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are
generated from operating a business (of which the
asset is part) rather than the economic benefits
that are consumed through the use of the asset. As
a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used
to depreciate property, plant and equipment and
may only be used in very limited circumstances to
amortise intangible assets. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January
2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-based
method for the calculation of depreciation of its non-
current assets.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FxEESHHBHEHEE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates
or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues
to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other cases, upon loss of significant influence over
the associate or joint control over the joint venture,
the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture
upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS S Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair value of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at the fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual items, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24xFESHHBEMEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The
Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill
as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to
those units or groups of units.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. \Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties,
derivative financial instruments and equity investments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset take
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active market for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lower level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, properties under development,
completed properties held for sale, deferred tax
assets, financial assets, investment properties and
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expenses categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or close member of that
person’s family and that person,

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FTESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the assets as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(Continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, any
difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property up to the date
of change in use is accounted for as movements in
asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve
is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the
statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation
surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss
to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An
annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to
retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying
amount of an asset and the depreciation based on the
asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset,
the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred
to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Over the lease terms or
2% to 5%, whichever
is shorter

Land and buildings

Over the lease terms
or 20% to 33%,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Fixtures and office equipment 10% to 33%

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment property comprises completed property
and property under construction or re-development.
Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including the leasehold interest under an
operating lease for a property which would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” up to the date of change in use,
and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted
for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated
under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
above. For a transfer from inventories to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For a transfer from properties under development
or completed properties held for sale to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-current assets and disposal group held for

sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sales transaction rather
than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be
highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-
controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as
at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
five years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised using
the straight-line basis over commercial lives of
the underlying products not exceeding five years,
commencing from the date when the products are put
into commercial production.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(Continued)

Systems software

Purchased systems software is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of ten years.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the lessee, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. \Where
the Group is a lessor under finance leases, an amount
representing the minimum lease payment receivables
and initial direct costs is included in the statement
of financial position as a finance lease receivable. The
difference between the sum of the minimum lease
payment receivables together with the initial direct
costs and their present value would be recognised as
unearned finance income. Unearned finance income
is recognised over the period of the lease using the
effective interest rate method.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are
initially stated at the cost and subsequently recognised
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development
Properties under development are intended to be held
for sale after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value and comprise
land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable
to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete
beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined by an apportionment of the total land and
buildings costs attributable to unsold properties. Net
realisable value is estimated by the directors based on
the prevailing market prices, on an individual property
basis.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial
depends on their classification as follows:

assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined
by HKAS 38.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with positive net changes in fair value presented
as other income and gains and negative net changes in
fair value presented as other expenses in the statement
of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do
not include any dividends or interest earned on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
qguoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in other expenses.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity
investments and debt securities. Equity investments
classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated
as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities
in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be
sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response
to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair
value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised as
other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other
income and gains, or until the investment is determined
to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss
is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss
in other expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are
reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments,
convertible promissory note and wealth management
financial products cannot be reliably measured because
(a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating
fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the
near term are still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management
has the ability and intention to hold the assets for the
foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the
date of reclassification becomes its new amortised
cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the
new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded
in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“‘pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred assets to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financing difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the assets in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

(Continued])

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
other expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment
losses on these assets are not reversed.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a
group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the statement of profit or
loss — is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the
statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the
Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration or
extent to which the fair value of an investment is less
than its cost.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments [(Continued)
In the case of debt instruments classified as available
for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same
criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost.
However, the amount recorded for impairment is the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the amortised cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Future
interest income continues to be accrued based on the
reduced carrying amount of the asset using the rate
of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
The interest income is recorded as part of finance
income. Impairment losses on debt instruments are
reversed through the statement of profit or loss if the
subsequent increase in fair value of the instruments
can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and
other payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because
that specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge

accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign
currency risk. Such derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of derivatives are taken directly to the statement of
profit or loss.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Treasury Shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held
by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consclidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consclidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs
in the statement of profit or loss.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provision for product warranties granted by the Group
on certain products are recognised based on sales
volume and past experience of the level of repairs
and returns, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24xFESHHBEMEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

FRi&®i (&)
EIENTRE E QB AA IR E R
HER AFAPARBAEERE
AAREAHIAEEMMATER © 5
RIETEHRIAEERNAS K AIBER &
AR E N A R E R E
£ ANBAAMABBRBEEER
ABBHBEBRZER  ETIE
BR S -

s EERERBEELRYIER
—ERH(LIFEBE G Z
BERARBMAEE ZEBIR
ERMEEREGR HEAZ%
ETRHITIZESFEN R
JERBUE M BB - R

. MR B AR - BEAE KR
AECEZREAZENRY
REZEmMs BEEHREE
ERSEEREEZEAER
AR A RELD - RRNBEEE
AR B GE T B
MEFZBRT  FEeER
HIHR ©

RELEHEEECEEHESRNZE
HEBRAR®A jt})ﬂZiTﬁT‘*b
T HE R m F S 2 2Bk 35
MIBEER Miﬂﬁﬁﬁf‘:ﬂ: ﬂiﬁEumZ
RELEHEEESENBEARSHR
B WRATH ﬁﬂﬂfgﬁﬁx ol
LRERIMIETHIAE EFAM
o] B T 7R o



MBI ERAR 20156 ] @

Notes to Financial Statements 815 %k 7% i3
31 December 2015 —E— A+ -_HA=+—H

24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24xEESHHEHE(E

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(@) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e

(f)

(g)

(h)

from contract revenue, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Contract accounting” below;

from the rendering of services, on the percentage
of completion basis, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Contracts for services”
below;

from the sale of properties, when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, which is when the
construction work has been completed and the
properties have been delivered to the buyer.
Deposits and instalments received in respect
of properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current
liabilities;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

finance lease income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
net investment of the finance lease or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the net investment of the finance lease;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset;
and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract accounting

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract
amount and appropriate amounts from variation orders,
claims and incentive payments. Contract costs incurred
comprise equipment and material costs, the costs
of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised using
the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the proportion of work completed to date
to the estimated total work of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus
is treated as an amount due from contract customers.
Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.

Contracts for services
Contract revenue on the rendering of services
comprises the agreed contract amount. Costs of
rendering services comprise labour and other costs
of personnel directly engaged in providing the services
and attributable overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised
based on the percentage of completion of the
transaction, provided that the revenue, the costs
incurred and the estimated costs to completion can
be measured reliably. The percentage of completion is
established by reference to the costs incurred to date
as compared to the total costs to be incurred under
the transaction. Where the outcome of a contract
cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible
to be recovered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contracts for services (Continued)

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. \Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus
is treated as an amount due from contract customers.
Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.

Equity-settled awards

The Company operates two share option schemes for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments. Further
details of which are given in note 36(a) to the financial
statements.

The Company operates a restricted share award
scheme (the “RSA Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. An
employee share trust is established and administered
by an independent trustee and is funded by the Group’s
cash contributions. The considerations paid (including
any related transaction costs) by the Company to
purchase shares of the Company for the RSA Scheme
are deducted from equity as an employee share
trust. The administrator of the employee share trust
purchases the Company’'s shares in the open market
as award shares to employees upon vesting. Upon
vesting of the award shares, the corresponding amount
in the employee share-based compensation reserve will
be transferred to the employee share trust. Further
details of which are given in note 36(b) to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Equity-settled awards (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled awards with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled awards is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled awards at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. \Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Equity-settled awards (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Pension schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used
for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, the
capitalisation rates ranging from 2% to 4% have been
applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
In prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors
were classified as a separate allocation of retained
profits within the equity section of the statement of
financial position, until they have been approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting. Following the
implementation of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24FESHHEEEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that
are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s
net investment of a foreign operation. These are
recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or
loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded
in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary item measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non-
monetary item measured at the fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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24SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the reporting period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consclidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between finance [leasing and
operating leasing

Leases are required to be classified as either finance
leases (which transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the asset, and give
rise to asset and liability recognition by the lessee and
a receivable by the lessor) and operating leases (which
do not transfer substantially the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership, and result in expense
recognition by the lessee, with the asset remaining
recognised by the lessor).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between finance leasing and

operating leasing (Continued)
Situations that would normally lead to a lease being
classified as a finance lease include the following:

(a) the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the
lessee by the end of the lease term;

(b) the lessee has the option to purchase the asset at
a price which is expected to be sufficiently lower
than fair value at the date the option becomes
exercisable that, at the inception of the lease,
it is reasonably certain that the option will be
exercised;

(c) the lease term is for the major part of the
economic life of the asset, even if title is not
transferred;

(d) at the inception of the lease, the present value
of the minimum lease payments amounts to at
least substantially all of the fair value of the leased
asset; and

(e) the lease assets are of a specialised nature such
that only the lessee can use them without major
modifications being made.

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

The Group has entered into equipment leases to
its customers. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
equipment which are leased out on finance lease.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and

owner-occupied properties

The Group determined whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement
is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Transfer from completed properties held for sale

to investment properties

Completed properties held for sale are transferred to
investment properties when there is a change in use
with sufficient evidence. The Group determines whether
a change in use has occurred based on assessment
of all relevant facts and circumstances, which include
but are not limited to: (a) a business plan that reflects
the future rental income generated by the property;
(b) the resources to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) legal permissibility for the change in
use; and (d) the commencement of development if the
property requires further development for the change
in use. Any excess of fair value over the original
carrying amount of such properties at the date of
transfer was recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. During the year ended
31 December 2015, completed properties held for
sale with total carrying amounts of HK$85,727,000
(2014: Nil) were transferred to investment properties
due to a change in use, giving rise to a net fair value
gain of HK$15,874,000 (2014: Nil) in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of

dividends

The Group’'s determination, as to whether to accrue
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends by certain subsidiaries according to the
relevant tax rules enacted in the jurisdictions, is
subject to judgement on the plan of the distributions
of dividends.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the management of the
Group has reviewed the Group’s investment properties
and concluded that the Group’s investment properties
are held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors have
determined that the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered through sale is rebutted.

Accordingly, the Group recognises deferred tax in
respect of the changes in fair value of the investment
properties based on management’s best estimate
assuming future tax consequences through usage of
such properties of rental purpose, rather than through
sale. The final tax outcome could be different from the
deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements should the investment properties
are subsequently disposed of by the Group, rather than
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties are consumed substantially by leasing over
time. In the event the investment properties are being
disposed of, the Group may be liable to higher tax upon
disposal considering the impact of corporate income
tax (“CIT”) and land appreciation tax (“LAT").
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds

less than a majority of voting rights

The Group considers that it controls DCIS (defined in
note 38) even though it owns less than 50% of the
voting rights. This is because the Group is the single
largest shareholder of DCIS with a 42.44% (2014:
42.44%) equity interest. Although the Group does
not own a majority of the equity interests in DCIS,
taking into account of the Group’s power to participate
in the operational and financial activities of DCIS,
distribution of key shareholders and their beneficial
shareholders as well as historical voting patterns, and
the existence of any contractual arrangement among
the shareholders and/or their beneficial shareholders, if
any, the directors of the Company are of the view that
the equity holdings in DCIS are dispersed in a way that
other shareholders have not organised and the practical
risk to organize their holdings to outvote the Group in
the shareholders’ meeting of DCIS is remote so that
the Group can still exercise more voting power than
the minority shareholders. Therefore, the directors of
the Company are of the view that the Company has de
facto control over DCIS.

Recognition of employee benefit expense for

equity-settled awards compensation costs

The Company operates two share option schemes and
the RSA Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to employees. The fair values of these
equity-settled awards were valued by an external valuer
using the binomial model. These valuations require the
Company to make estimates about certain key inputs,
including the dividend yield, expected volatility, risk-free
interest rate and expected life of options, and hence
they are subject to uncertainty.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Recognition of employee benefit expense for
equity-settled awards compensation costs

(Continued])

Besides, the grant of share options and RSUs and
share options is conditional upon the satisfaction of
specified vesting conditions, including service period and
performance condition linked to financial performance
measure. Judgement is required to take into account
the vesting conditions and adjust the number of RSUs
and share options included in the measurement of
share-based compensation costs.

The cumulative expense recognised for these equity-
settled rewards at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period. No expense is
recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment assessment for accounts receivables
The policy for impairment assessment for accounts
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation
of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts
receivables and on the judgement of management.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each customer. If the financial
conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional impairment may be required.
The carrying amount of accounts and bills receivables
as at 31 December 2015 was HK$3,700,923,000
(2014: HK$9,601,923,000).

Provision for obsolete inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories
of the Group and makes provision for obsolete and
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no
longer suitable for sales. Management estimates
the net realisable value for such inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current
market conditions. A considerate amount of judgement
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of
these inventories. If the market conditions were to
change, resulting in a change of provision for obsolete
items, the difference will be recorded in the period
it is identified. The carrying amount of inventories as
at 31 December 2015 was HK$812,451,000 (2014:
HK$6,175,416,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements,
certain investment properties including completed
investment properties and investment properties
under construction are revalued at the end of the
reporting period on an open market, existing use basis
by independent professional valuers. These valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject
to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the judgement, information
from current prices in an active market for similar
properties is considered and assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period are used. The carrying amount
of investment properties measured at fair value at
31 December 2015 was HK$2,123,249,000 (2014:
HK$1,744,226,000). The significant methods and
assumptions used by valuers in estimating the fair value
of investment properties are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

Investment properties under construction is measured
based on estimates prepared by independent real
estate valuation experts, except where such values
cannot be reliably determined.

Impairment of non-financial assets [(other than

goodwill]

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end
of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction cost on

properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to completed properties
held for sale upon completion. Apportionment of these
costs will be recognised in the statement of profit or
loss upon the recognition of the sale of the properties.
Before the final settlement of the development costs
and other costs relating to the sale of the properties,
these costs are accrued by the Group based on
management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide
the development projects into phases. Specific costs
directly related to the development of a phase are
recorded as the cost of such phase. Costs that are
common to phases are allocated to individual phases
based on the estimated saleable area of the entire
project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates,
any increase or decrease in the development costs and
other costs would affect the profit or loss in future
years.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2015 was
HK$1,215,976,000 (2014: HK$1,274,815,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised
or the deferred tax liability is settled. Certain entities
of the Group were recognised as “High New Technology
Enterprises” in Mainland China and entitled to a
preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% for a
three-year period. The tax regulations call for a renewal
process after the expiry. For the measurement of
deferred tax assets and liabilities, judgement is required
to determine whether these entities will continue to
meet the criteria of “High New Technology Enterprise”
and estimate the tax rates expected to be applied.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised based upon the likely timing and amounts
of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The carrying amount of deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at 31 December
2015 was HK$78,450,000 and HK%$84,963,000
respectively. The amount of unrecognised tax losses
and certain deductible temporary differences at 31
December 2015 was HK$197,685,000.

CIT

The Group is subject to CIT in various regions. As a
result of the fact that certain matters relating to the
CIT have not been confirmed by the local tax bureaus,
objective estimates and judgements based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies
are required in determining the provision of CIT. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally recorded, the differences
will impact on the CIT and tax provisions in the period
in which the differences realise.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision
of LAT is based on management’s best estimates
according to its understanding of the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by
the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its
LAT calculations and payments with the tax authorities
for certain property development projects. The final
outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and any differences will impact the
LAT expenses and the related provision in the period
in which the differences realise.

Fair values of derivative financial instruments
Where the fair values of derivative financial instruments
recorded in the statement of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, they are determined
using valuation techniques. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement
is required in establishing fair values. The judgements
include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk,
credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair values of
derivative financial instruments.

Percentage of completion of contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the
percentage of completion of individual contracts.
The stage of completion is estimated by reference
to the proportion of work completed to date to the
estimated total work of the relevant contract, and
the corresponding contract revenue is also estimated
by management. Due to the nature of the activity
undertaken in these contracts, the date at which the
activity is entered into and the date at which the activity
is completed usually fall into different accounting
periods. Hence, the Group reviews and revises the
estimates of both contract revenue and contract costs
for each contract as the contract progresses. \Where
the actual contract revenue is less than estimated or
the actual contract costs are more than estimated, a
foreseeable loss may arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-
sale and recognises movements of its fair value in
equity. When the fair value declines, management
makes assumptions about the decline in value to
determine whether there is an impairment that should
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The
Group also recognises unlisted equity investments
as available-for-sale and states them at cost less
impairment. Losses arising from the impairment
of such investments should be recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The aggregate carrying
amount of available-for-sale financial assets measured
at cost less impairment is HK$409,677,000 (2014:
HK$2,561,135,000), of which HK$404,788,000
(2014: HK$1,561,135,000) and HK$4,883,000 (2014:
HK$1,000,000,000) are included in non-current assets
and current assets, respectively, at 31 December
2015.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

In prior year, the Group had four operating segments.
During the year, the Group had undertaken group
restructuring for the purpose of the proposed disposal
of Digital China Group (note 11) and accordingly the
Group’s operating segments were reclassified and the
segment information of the three continuing business
groups is summarised as follows:

(a) the “DCITS” segment: Leading IT service provider
in China's IT industry specialized in proprietary
software, services, Cloud Computing and Big Data
analysis persisting with the strategy of integrating
Sm@rt City and Sm@rt Agriculture;

(b) the “Supply Chain Management Strategy Unit”
segment: Operating through Instant Logistics
to provide comprehensive intermediary and
backstage logistics services for corporate
customers, e-commerce platforms, branded
service providers and individuals, while actively
exploring Internet-based self-branded maintenance
services; and
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &2 49#3&F (&)
(Continued)
(c) the “New Business” segment: Including the ) [#FHEBIOE: BREEEW

“‘Sme@rt City Service Group” which is the provision
of all-encompassing Sm@rt City services for
city administrators, enterprises and citizens
based on “one centre and three platforms”
(the urban information management centre, the
integrated citizen service platform, the integrated
enterprise service platform and the integrated
city administration platform); and the “Financial
Service Strategy Unit” which is the provision of
financial services, such as financing, factoring,
leasing, guarantee, etc, to internal departments
as well as third party customers.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on the reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit before tax except that unallocated
interest income, unallocated finance costs, unallocated
corporate income and gains and unallocated corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, derivative
financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents,
investments in joint ventures, investments in
associates, available-for-sale investments and other
unallocated corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payables, interest-bearing
bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. {E&493&E(8)

(Continued) \
The following tables present revenue, profit and certain TREJIAXSEHE_FT—HF
asset, liability and expenditure information for the &:_%—li_fli—f—:ﬂ f—f—_ E)'fﬂii
Group’s operating segments for the years ended 31 E%&%%ﬁﬁZHﬂZ?\ a M R E TR
December 2015 and 2014. E ARERERAH -
Total continuing
DCITS Supply Chain Services New Business operations
BNEEESRE
RABERAR HEREEERAR HEH FELEERA
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
CE-IF kAl —R-7F ERliEa —f-nF EESgubal —FP-7F  kigukis
Hk$'000 NIGI0o M HK$'000 MEETCYoWoNN Hks'000 [EEG{oeol  HKS'000 [ETE0N)
BET T BETT CLEWAN EH T EELEE BT T BETT IR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(mE35) (B E75) (mE5)
Segment revenue: AHBA:
Sales to external customers $ETFHHES 8156450 8135825 2080118 3959530 ~ 394104 60876 10,630,672 12156,231
Segment gross profit SHER 1,646,574 1460688 345372 332547 224,024 58554 2215970 1851789
Segment results PHER 537,266 404730 & 69,145 67113 145533 95593 751944 567436

Interest income, other unallocated M A A5

income and gains LoN:T ¢ 41,639 33,012 104,058 49,401
Other unallocated expenses APBERL - - (174,841) (60,196)
Finance costs BEMK (31,354) (40,728) (73,685) (60,801)
Share of profits and EETIRAZ

losses of: i H R E R

Joint ventures HREHCE 2,493 4,705 41,617 34,478

Associates BERE 1,904 13,903 21,786 69,667
Profit before tax BB AT 7 551,948 415,622 670,879 599,985
Income tax expense MEHER (103,488)  (54,790) (207,371)  (89,904)

Profit for the year KERHHM 448,460 360,832 463,508 510,081
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. 249 &EE(8)

(Continued)
Total continuing Discontinued operation —
DCITS Supply Chain Services New Business operations DCG Group Consolidated
BNEEESRE FRABERE -
RHERLR HEREEERAR R BEEERRAR BHEERE
2014 2015 2014 2014 2014 2015 2014 2014
ZI-TE ki i —3-nf BeESSEl —T-ME i ikl —2-1F
CON  HK$000 EEGIC{U0N  HKS000 EEGICIOIN HK$000 EGIC{UCON HK$000 EGICHO0SN HKS000 EGIG0neN  HK$000
ERTT CEERl YT WS iYT LS G7 T EECLESHE G T EECRERE  iY T Esee
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(85 %5)) (& %5) (&E7) (85 %5)) (& %5)
Assets and liabilties BERER

Segment assets AHEE 8292824 7271925 832269 736338 5390710 3245079 14,515,808 11253342 17681689 17352472 82,187,492 28,805,814
Investments in joint ventures RAELEIRE 12,101 5,084 929433 662,520 = 13059 929439 675579
Investments in associates REERAZRE 44772 418,186 1623804 1157939 43,388 34020 1,667,202 1191958
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 41217 281275 596,603 842981 1267771 2073452 1864374 2916433
Unallocated assets AOREE = - 827856 317,987 = — 827836 317,987
Total assets fEE 8760814 7976480 18,493,505 14,234,769 18,992,858 19473003 37,486,363 33,707,772
Segment liabilities AHAE 4777440 4299453 586471 430423 2404130 525520 & 7,768,041 5255396 15204052 17555652 22,972,093 22,811,048
Unallocated liabilities AR = - 3,219,953 32,549 = - 3,219,953 32,549
Total liabilities faf 4777440 4,299,453 10,987,994 5287945 15204052 17555852 26,182,046 22843587
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. EZ249I&E(8)

(Continued)
Total continuing
DCITS Supply Chain Services New Business operations
BNEEESRE
RAERAR BREREERBAR HER FREEEFAN
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
CE-IF kAl —2-7F ERRiEa —f-nF EESgubal —P-7F  Ikigukis
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT EECLEAlN E%Tr EELEWAN E%TT R BETT L Ew
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(mE5) (BE35)) (mE75))
Other segment information: Hitp BEHR:
Depreciation of property, plant ERN e -
and equipments & 52,293 60,731 16,731 15,202 31,112 30,331 100,136 106,264
Unallocated amounts RO B 570 478
100,706 108,742
Amortisation of prepaid land BERtHES
premium B = — — - 3,890 4,375 3,890 4,375
Amortisation of other intangible HitE&VEE
assets B 10,705 4,884 — — 1,636 6,561 12,341 11,445
Impairment of other intangible HitERAE
assets AE = — - — 19,586 — 19,586 —
Capital expenditure* BARE* 58,418 73,742 24,090 16,572 195,872 794,760 278,380 885,074
Unallocated amounts KRB 3,442 3,344
281,822 888,418
Impairment/(reversal of e BR 3 R B M B
impairment) of accounts and bills W/
receivables (RifERE) (38,442)  (102,031) (1,983) 2,542 8,983 (14,367) (31,442)  (113,856)
Provision/(reversal of provisions) BEGERE
for and write-off of obsolete (BEER)R
inventories ik 12,492 13,121 (514) (764) = - 11,978 12,357
Impairment of finance lease ERRmEREHE
receivables AE — — - — 4,272 — 4,272 —
Impairment of prepayments and BRREREMD
other receivables FEW R ERE 28 48,518 - — - — 28 48,518
Impairment of available-for-sale AHNEZ
investments BERE = 46,867 - 28,994 69,477
S Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BRRXBENE  BERHE &
equipment, prepaid land premiums, investment properties and e BREMEREMER
other intangible assets including assets from the acquisition BEBEHUBERBARZEE)Z

of a subsidiary. WE °
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q.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is generated in Mainland China and over
90% of the non-current assets of the Group (except
for investments in associates) are located in Mainland
China, no geographic information is presented.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014,
there was no revenue derived from transactions with
a single external customer which individually amounted
to 10% of the Group’s revenue.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents net invoiced value of goods and
properties sold, after allowances for returns and
trade discounts; an appropriate proportion of contract
revenue; gross rental income received and receivable
from investment properties; and the value of services
rendered to customers, net of business tax and
government surcharges.

EESBEHE A

it & & #
ARAEERBEHIINEE 2 A
BOO% KRB KNEEEBAEE
(BBt & A aE 2% &N B i1B90%
IERBNE EMA B RRE - e &
E2EER o

ETEEFEHR
REE-F-—BFR-F-MET
A=+ —RILFE  AREHEE
ERERERE IR, RS 2K
MM 7K S8 2 I A1O% A

W X\~ H At U N B Wy 2
WA HE R R R B E
(NRRERE SN EEHH
P Yol N T3 T/ EI=T $:39:3
FEIER 2 TS M 5 A R B 4R
44 PR 75 2 (B 18 (I B 2 3 B0 I B A
CEIR
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W A+ H b st A\ & U 2%

(Continued) (48)
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains from FECEEBZBA - Eh A R
continuing operations is as follows: e 2 ot T

2015 2014
—®-1f —T-mF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
it BETT BETT
(Restated)
(g5
Revenue EEH
Systems integration business AMEKER 4,522,352 4,728,532
Technical service business BB ER 2,108,691 2,119,312
E-commerce supply chain services business & /& {it JE §8 JR#5 £ 75 953,842 3,033,531
Logistics business NTE S 851,699 672,951
Application software development business & M &1 {F 5% £ % 691,498 667,070
Agricultural informatisation business RERELER 330,761 37,644
Financial specified equipment business CRERARBHEER 503,149 583,267
Financial services business PRBRBES 80,944 6,317
Others it 587,736 307,607
10,630,672 12,156,231
Other income Hrg A
Government grants* IR T 768 B+ 65,338 51,814
Bank interest income RATH B WA 44,022 34,678
Income from wealth management BHERKIA
financial products 8,543 11,763
Dividend income from available-for-sale AREE REZRE
investments A 8,864 7.280
Others it 19114 6,020
145,881 111,555
Gains g &
Fair value gains on investment properties, net X £ME 7 AL EETF
Yo 141,848 38,304
Gain on derivative financial instruments TESBIT RS 6,276 —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HMERA %kE 40 35 -
Gain on disposal of a joint venture RE-HagtEzka = 580
Gain on partial disposal of the equity interest & —R# & N F D
in an associate ExzWa = 921
Gain on deemed partial disposal of the equity €& % B Z A7
interests in associates Bosm s Wam 30,661 25,602
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HELRARHE RE
investments pd & 26,270 -
Others it 4,238 6,783
209,328 72,190
355,209 183,745
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Co

ntinued)
Various government grants have been received for the sale of
self-developed software products approved by the tax authority
in the People’s Republic of China (*PRC”), the development of
software products in Mainland China, and the investments in
specific provinces in Mainland China. Government grants for
which related expenditure has not yet been undertaken are
included in deferred income (non-current portion) and other
payables and accruals (current portion) in the statement
of financial position, respectively. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to the government grants
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

5 WA Hit g A R U&=

(4&)

+

AEEERHETEARANE(F
BB EPIRAIZ BITR BB -
A R B K ek R 3% R e 0 AR B KB
B TE A 5 TR E T R E T B
HHRE o HURT 43 B M R ETT Z ABBIR X
0B B E B RO R AR E IR
AGEREN B ) K H At & 5 50R K 7]
RERAORBHD)A - EHARBER
B #3 2 TUI #il B 3R 428 R 0 X 2 14
HEARER o
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations
is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. PFx%invi¥Fl

AEERFBELERBZBEHAE N

BEHRGIA)

2015 2014
—F - FF eeaiks
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Ht &t BT BT T
(Restated)
(L&)
Cost of inventories sold ERFEZKAK 5,676,150 8,032,913
Auditors’ remuneration % R B & 4,815 5,090
Depreciation e 100,706 106,742
Amortisation of prepaid land FEN LS
premiums 3y 16 3,890 4,375
Research and development costs* & 55 2 B 2% AR 7K * 510,700 437104
Amortisation of other intangible Hth\EEE
assets* BH 18 12,341 11,445
Impairment of other intangible HEELEE
assets* BB * 18 19,586 —
Minimum lease payments under THREFZ
operating leases in respect of BRERLEHE
land and buildings e 79,915 78,402
Provisions for and write-off of REFERER
obsolete inventories* i 3 * 11,978 12,357
Reversal of impairment of accounts & U BR 2k Kz fiE Ui
and bills receivables* ERRERE (31,442) (113,836)
Impairment of finance lease JE W R & T & KR
receivables* RE* 4,272 —
Impairment of prepayments and TE I8 R H Ath
other receivables* JE W R TR RE * 28 48,518
Impairment of available-for-sale AHHEZRE
investments* 1B * 21 28,994 69,477
Loss on disposal/ HE o HE
partial disposal of an AfEEZRE
available-for-sale investment* ZEE = 13,102
Loss on disposal of items of HEWME BER
property, plant and equipment REZEE 4,312 1,026
Foreign exchange differences, net* YME& = %8 * 150,652 1,553
Employee benefit expense & 848 M 5 2
(including directors’ remuneration (BRESEH:
(note 8)): (K1 :£8)) -
Wages and salaries TERY 2 1,276,947 1,079,247
Share-based compensation AR 2 B & = (2,772)
Pension scheme contributions** RIKE 5T E
PR x 122,877 108,002
Other benefits H A 15 F 239,040 214,159
1,638,864 1,396,636
Direct operating expenses AREE e 8
(including repairs and BEMENEE
maintenance) arising on rental- HEER(BRE
earning investment properties HEMRE) 6,353 3,154
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

I%*Hﬁu: Fl(&E)

* %

The amortisation of certain other intangible assets, the
impairment of certain other intangible assets, the provisions for
and write-off of obsolete inventories, the reversal of impairment
of accounts and bills receivables, the impairment of finance
lease receivables, the impairment of prepayment and other
receivables, the impairment of available-for-sale investments,
the loss on disposal/partial disposal of an available-for-sale
investment, research and development costs and foreign
exchange loss, net are included in “Other expenses, net” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had no material forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
pension schemes in future years (2014: Nil).

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations
is as follows:

* %k

ETHOEVEESN FTHME
WEERE BREFREBEERMRE
FEWER AL R R R ERE - &
WEtE M ERERE - BARERE
KRR E - AR HEZRER
B HE/MAOLEAIHRBEZRE
Z B8 BT R BB K AN RSN F
EREAAGEBRERPZ[EME
RERIA -

RZE—RE+-_A=+—H K&
B 4 KA A0 0R R SR EE 2 R IR
SR EHRZERBER(CT—H
FMmE)o

il & R &
REBELEEBZRMEKRR 2 DT
T

2015 2014

—E-—RE —E-mEF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BET T BEF T

(Restated)

(g & 75)

Interest on bank borrowings RITERF B 113,573 80,720
Interest on discounted hills EEREEEF A 5,364 11,623
Less: Interest capitalised B B R B (45,252) (31,542)
73,685 60,801
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEW=

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed RAFEAZESHE - THIR IR
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of REESH LA ETRAD - &
Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), B AENEFIZF388(1)(a) * (b) * ()&
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong (MER AR (FEBEEEFZER) R
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies Bl - HEBEWT :

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

Group
AEH
2015 2014
—E-IF —T-MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Fees e 1,564 1,556
Other emoluments: H e
Salaries, allowances and e EMEREWEN
benefits in kind 14,653 13,958
Performance related bonuses FIBMERE 2 FE4L 14,390 —
Share-based compensation AR 9 2+ 2 Bl &
(note] (Kr7t) = (3,618)
Pension scheme contributions RIKEET B K 164 150
29,212 10,490

30,776 12,046
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. Z=EEfM£ (&)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BIFEHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive RAFENE XN TFEILF
directors during the year were as follows: HITEEZHESAT
2015 2014
—E2—REF —E—pE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis & XRE4E 300 300
Ms. NI Hong (Hope) 157 4T /)N 4B 300 300
Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter TRELEE 300 300
Dr. LIU Yun, John' 2l pEL 300 231
Ms. YAN Xiaoyan? BR B 3 A 12
(note 1) (B #£1) — —
Mr. LAl Daniel, 885, Jp® REEHEE LA 0 BBS, UP? 64 —
Mr. HU Zhaoguang?® A BE & 5T A4 — 125
1,264 1,256
7 Appointed on 25 March 2014 7 RZE—NE=A=-+HB%
=
g Appointed on 27 May 2014 B RZE—NMFEFRA-+tBEE
=
g Appointed on 15 October 2015 g RZE—RF+A+HEBEZ
£
3 Resigned on 26 May 2014 4 R-ZZE—MFEH A=+ B#
£
Note 1. Ms. YAN Xiaoyan waived her entitlements to Mz @%ﬁﬁiﬁ&(ﬁ%?ﬂf%
director’s fees during the term of her tenure. The %,ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ $§H¥§$@$Z%
amount of director’s fee being waived during the year - ﬁé$¢§@%& e
was HK$300,000 (period from 27 May 2014 (the & %104 /7% 300,000
date of her appointment) to 31 December 2014: T(R=ZF-—MFREA-+
HK$179,000). tH(ZAEBH)ZE=Z2—N

F+-A=+—HHH: B
#179,0007T) °

Saved as disclosed above, there were no other Br EXFTIEEEIN - RAE
emoluments payable to the independent non- ERI & T HEIERT
executive directors during the year (2014: Nil). EEFRAMHE(ZZE—N

FE) e
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. ZEEf£ (&)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) FITES - FHTEER
director and the chief executive ITHHEE

Salaries,
allowances  Performance

and benefits related Share-based Pension scheme Total
in kind bonuses compensation contributions  remuneration
EEA-1 1 REER BB X A RfkE e
rE RENERN A ZHe sHEHR X ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT YT BETT BETT
[Note)
(Bit)
2015 —g-1F
Executive directors: WES:
Mr. GUO Wei BREE = 7,933 8,486 = Eh) 16,474
Mr. LIN Yang* s g — 4,025 3,645 — 55 7,725
Mr. YAN Guorong BEKLLE = 2,695 2,258 5 54 5,013
= 14,653 14,390 5 164 29,212
Non-executive director: FaES:
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN BMEE 300 = = = = 300
300 14,653 14,390 5 164 29,512
Salaries,
allowances  Performance
and benefits related Share-based Pension scheme Total
Fees in kind k p i contributi remuneration
EEA- REER MR B XA RkE e
Be REVEA 2 ZHe AR EX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT BETT BETT
[Note)
(Bit)
2014 —E-QmE
Executive directars: WTESE:
Mr. GUO Wei BREE - 7146 - (1,919) 50 5,277
Mr. LIN Yang* i 5 - 4,081 - (959) 50 3172
Mr. YAN Guorong EEEY %S - 2,731 - (740) 50 2,041
- 13,958 - (3.618) 150 10,490
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN B E 300 - - - - 300
300 13,958 - (3,618) 150 10,790
@ Mr. LIN Yang is also the chief executive of the Company. o M5 EMARR A KT AL

& o
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)

Executive

directors, a non-executive

director and the chief executive (Continued)
There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year

Note:

In prior years, certain directors were granted share
options and restricted share units ("RSUs”), in respect
of their services to the Group, under the share
option schemes and the RSA scheme of the Company,
respectively, further details of which are set out in
note 3B to the financial statements. The fair values of
these options and RSUs, which have been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled, were determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above directors’
remuneration disclosures.

The cumulative expense recognised for these equity-
settled rewards at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period. No expense is recognised for awards that do
not ultimately vest.

8. EEM=(A)

HITES FYTESR
TR (&)

RAFER  BEFRTHS
3 AT R R B
EEME 2R

(b)

Wi

RBEFE ETESEAR
F AR 1R AR TS W Al
IRIRA A A R At 8 & 52
PR 151 177 5% B T 2 788 3¢ B R
T % 52 R A A A (52 R A6 e
1) BRE—FHEBEHERN
It B 75 3R 3% MY 5E36 - & &
8 R4 o PR B A7 2 A F
BEBEINREAMERE - I
BREKRR KRR
FEBHAERERAER
AR FEMBERE 2 &
FEHRALDAEEHE AR
H oo

RERSHREEZHE A
VAR AD S2 A 42 i A i 28 2 R At
M RRGEEEEWER
ARAEBEHREFE 2 #EE
TAHENKERTBER - ©
K-SR BEERANRRE
AZE BRI ZE SRS
Ko 3 R By B 38 R 5t B S ) 2
B REARERBZEZEZF
X THER -



FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Without considering the effect of the reversal of
the share-based compensation relating to the equity-
settled awards as further explained in note 36(b)
to the financial statements, the five highest paid
employees during the year included three (2014: three)
directors and the chief executive, detail of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of
the remuneration of the remaining two (2014: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company for the year are as
follows:
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Salaries, allowances and benefits e EAREMER

in kind
Performance related bonuses FRIAE 2 TEA
Share-based compensation

(note) (B &)

Pension scheme contributions RRE FTEIH R

AR A 2 5 2 B &

IS & MR &

i N5 R Ukt B 795 R 2% B 7 36 (b) AT #E
— 5 5 it #¢ 0 BR A IR A7) Se A~ 2 22
BRANUBROINZMEBERT
RAFEAZANERFHMERR
BR=2CZ-OF: =Z=R)EFK
T BEZHMEFEER L
XK E8A - REEBTMA(ZF
—OF WA &= H B E B (W 3F
ARBNEZTHITRAR) M E
ABERT

Group

KEME
2015 2014
—E2-EF —E-mMF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETFT BT T
2,765 2,838
5,947 2,070
106 93
2 100

8,820 5,107
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(Continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

9.

AfimE&HiNES (&)

= 2t

B =) 5

BOFE=RIFTTRAEHES

ZABRMEEBENT :

Number of employees
EBEAR
2015 2014
LN —TNF

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 ##2,000,001T % ¥ 2,500,0007T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 & ®2,500,0017t £ % ¥ 3,000,0007T = —
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 % #3,000,001;T % %% 3,500,0007T — 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 %%3,500,0017t £ % #¥4,000,0007T = —
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 % #4,000,0017T % % #4,500,0007T = —
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 54,500,001t £ i ¥5,000,0007T — —
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001t £ 7 #5,500,0007T = —
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 # #5,500,0017t = i #6,000,0007T = —
HK$6,000,001 to HK$B,500,000 ## 6,000,001t & i #6,500,0007T = —
HK$B,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001t = # % 7,000,0007T 1 —

2 2

Note:

In prior years, certain non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees were granted share options and
RSUs, in respect of their services to the Group, under the
share option schemes and the RSA scheme of the Company,
respectively, further details of which are set out in note 36 to
the financial statements. The fair values of these options and
RSUs, which have been recognised in the statement of profit or
loss over the vesting period in which the performance and/or
service conditions are fulfilled, were determined as at the date
of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above non-director and
non-chief executive, highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.

e

RBEFEAR  ETHRSHHFEE
ERFTRAEHESARERAE
B 1R GRS M 2 BIAR B AR BB
R AT & R SR AR £ 22 B =t B 4 %
BERERZRGIRD  GRE—Z
BN U S MR AT RES6 © %
BRERZREBRDZAFEETD
RELASEE  TERERRR
R/ SRBHGEBEHANERRRA
R Mt ALNFERBRERZE
BEHALRRSHHEEERFE
THRESESHSERF -
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. iR HER

2015 2014
—F-hF —E-mEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
(Restated)
(E5)
Current — Mainland China NE — B KR
CIT TEMREHR
Charge for the year KFEEZH 137,564 88,591
Underprovision/ ARIFE DR
(overprovision) in prior (%1E)
years (37) 741
LAT T B E 18,431 —
155,958 89,332
Deferred IR & 51,413 572
Total tax charge for the year REEMBBIZHEE 207,371 89,904

(@) No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made as the continuing operations of the Group
did not generate any assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014.

(b) PRC CIT represents tax charged on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Mainland China. In
general, the Group’s subsidiaries operating in
Mainland China are subject to the PRC CIT rate
of 25% except for certain subsidiaries which are
entitled to preferential tax rates.

(c) PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
the land value, being the proceeds of sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including
amortisation of land use rights, borrowing costs
and all property development expenditures.

(a)

(b)

(c)

HRBEAREREERYE
TEEBEEGERT R A -
WERHE-—TE—RAFR_-F
—NE+=—A=+—HILEE
BEFERAEL B -

FEMSEMESRERFER
B BE AE 2 1 & FE SR B v A B
BRzZHEE -BRETHEBEAR
AZEMBERIN AEH
FERBRAELBENN B AR
—BEABRWNPRERMBR
2T B25% °

PR LB ER S IEE
12 R B X F30% £60%
B BN R E RS R
AR B (B L B
REH BEXAEREZEY
ERBEMAX) -
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(d)

The share of tax charge attributable to joint
ventures of HK$12,176,000 (2014 (restated):
HK$11,713,000) and the share of tax charge
attributable to associates of HK$6,373,000
(2014 (restated): HK$16,440,000) of the
continuing operations of the Group are included
in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures”
and “Share of profits and losses of associates”,
respectively, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax from continuing operations at the statutory
rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax
expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation

10. FiRHRER@E)

d AEEFECEEBTEMLE
EREICHEAIL BB
12,176,000 (= T — 0 4
(L&) %5%11,713,0007T)
KEtE RR) 2 FHIB X RS
6,373,000/t (= Z — 0 4 (&
E7%1)): #%16,440,0007T)
EORFTARGEBERPZ
[EIEEEDE 2R & EE]
K[ FE(R B & A ) 2 i Fl & &5
BIR -

2 RAYNCID &N SR NI
ERREBER OAEREXAERE
REXGHRBANGEN 2B IEASH
ERBEERREIAEZHAHY
B AR EABE(ADEEREX) &

of applicable rates (i.e. statutory tax rates) to the

effective tax rates, is as follows:

EREBEOHERMT

2015 2014
—E-HF —T-MF
HK$'000 P2 HK$'000 %
BETT B2 Bl RPN
(Restated)
(&LE7)
Profit before tax from SEEEER 2
continuing operations B 3% A1 % A 670,879 599,985
Tax at the applicable tax rate IZE AR Kt E 2~
T 18 167,720 25.0 149,996 25.0
Lower tax rates for specific % & & {7k i 77 #
provinces or local authority i T2
R B =X (28,577) (4.3) (105,793) (17.8)
Adjustments in respect of BEARFERIE
current tax of previous 2 R
periods (37) 0.0 741 01
Profits and losses GEEREE
attributable to joint NEZ AR
ventures and associates K g5 18 (10,697) (1.6) (11,164) (1.9)
Tax effect of unused tax RERZABA
losses not recognised HEBZ
DR 65,519 9.8 36,012 6.0
Income not subject to tax mAARB ZWA (27,495) (41) (50,462) (8.4)
Expenses not deductible LIE L
for tax 2 & 32,232 4.8 79,059 13.2
Tax losses utilised from AABEEHRE
previous periods ZHIEEE (9,725) (1.4) (8,485) (1.4)
LAT + 3 A T 18,431 2.7 — —
Tax charge at the Group's BAEEERMNE
effective rate FECBIEXE 207,371 30.9 89,904 15.0
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11.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 7 August 2015, the Company published an
announcement in relation to its proposed disposal of
the subsidiaries engaged in the distribution business
(namely, “Digital China Group”) to Shenzhen Shenxin
Taifeng Group Co., Ltd.* (“Shenxin Taifeng”), the
details of which have been set out in the circular
of the Company dated on S August 2015. Following
completion of the transaction, the entities engaged in
the distribution business will cease to be the Company’s
subsidiaries. The disposal of Digital China Group was
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
special general meeting held on 26 August 2015 and
the approval from PRC regulatory authorities was
received by Shenxin Taifeng on 18 December 2015.
Digital China Group was classified as a disposal group
held for sale and as a discontinued operation, and
accordingly the distribution business is no longer
included in the note for the continuing segment
information. The disposal of the Digital China Group has
been completed on 7 March 2016.

* The English name of the company is a direct transliteration of its
Chinese registered name.

11.

EFBECEERT
R-ZZE-—AFNALBE AAAHE
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 11.
The results of Digital China Group for the year, which
are only from transactions with counterparties external RAEEEIIBRGHFZRZL
to the Group and do not necessarily represent the T—EREZREBERENZEE
activities of the operation as individual entities, are B NABHT:
presented below:

EFBEEEEE)
N B B A FE R AE - iR

2015 2014

—E—FHF —ZET—WF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Revenue e A 59,712,174 56,211,844

Cost of sales 81 & A AN (56,676,220) (53,221,003)

Gross profit = A 3,035,954 2,990,841

Other income and gains EoAt A R U 2 460,281 366,898

Expenses £ H (2,720,433) (2,608,956)

Finance cost Bl & B A (224,055) (209,716)

Share of profits and losses of a JE(5& & % K& AR

joint venture and an associate 2 m A K s 18 (9,177) 2,454
Profit before tax from the IERFBELCEER

discontinued operation % &4 BT s A 542,570 541,521

Income tax RS & R (80,363) (149,352)
Profit for the year from the EHBREER

discontinued operation RE % T 462,207 392,169




11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Digital
China Group (excluding assets and liabilities with
continuing operations eliminated as wusual in the
consolidation) classified as held for sale as at 31

11.
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EFBEEEERB(E)

R-ZEBE—AE+=-A=+—8 #
MEBEES ARFELECETEER
EREBEENCIEET A HER
HEFHEBFECEXEBNEENRSE

December 2015 are as follows: BT :
2015 2014
—E—HFE —E—mF
Notes HK$’'000 HK$’000
B it BET T ST T
Assets EE
Property, plant and M- BERZHE
equipments 379,707 —
Investment in an associate REEZE QAR ZEKRE 43,398 —
Available-for-sale AEEECZERE
investments 1,267,771 —
Deferred tax assets EERRTBE E 181,232 —
Inventories FE 5,697,842 —
Accounts and bills FE W ER
receivables e U 22 i (a) 6,218,664 —
Prepayments, deposits and TENFIE - & K&
other receivables H {th & Y 3k 18 (b) 3,728,928 —
Cash and cash equivalents IR&RKRESEEYD 1,466,016 —
Assets classified as held for 3| AEAELEZEE
sale 18,983,558 —
Liabilities afE
Accounts and bills payables JE{JBR 3 &
J& 1 3R 1% () 6,189,781 —
Other payables and Hh e F0IE K
accruals ERER (d) 1,967,673 —
Derivative financial MTESRMIEA
instruments 64,147 —
Tax payable FE @ FH 1A 88,084 —
Interest-bearing bank M B RITE K
borrowings 6,741,689 —
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEARE 93,539 —
Deferred income I E U A 49,838 —
Liabilities directly HIRPHAELHEEE
associated BEEEBEA8E
with the assets classified
as held for sale 15,194,751 —
Net assets directly HNEEEEEIEH
associated with the 2 EEFEAE
disposal group 3,788,807 —
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Included in the assets classified as held for sale of the Group
as at 31 December 2015 were trade and bills receivables due
from a joint venture of the Group of HK$10,748,000 (2014:
Nil).

(b) Included in the assets classified as held for sale of the Group
as at 31 December 2015 was a loan of HK$5,962,000 (2014:
Nil) to a joint venture of the Group, which is unsecured, bear
interest at rates 4.62% (2014: Nil) per annual and is repayable
within in one year from the end of the year.

(c) Included in the liabilities directly associated with the assets
classified as held for sale of the Group as at 31 December
2015 were trade and bills payables due to a joint venture of
the Group of HK$35,000 (2014: Nil).

(d) Included in the liabilities directly associated with the assets
classified as held for sale of the Group as at 31 December
2015 were other payables and accruals due to associates of
the Group of HK$43,752,000 (2014: Nil).

The net cash flows incurred by Digital China Group are

M. EIFEEEERE)

By et

(@) R=ZZ—AF+=-A=+—HB &%
B ARAHEZEERERIKASE
B—-HEEEEZBRERRREKE
1 775 %10,748,0007T (ZZ— W4 -
) e

(b) R-ZE—HE+=—A=+—8" ' &
EEIARBELHEZEERREBE
5,962,0007C (= F — W4 : ) A
AEE-—HEELERHBER - ZF
BERWEER  5F462% (= —
P4 - ) ZFIEEE - WSS FEF
KE—FREE -

(c) R-B—RE+-_A=+—8 K&
BHEIAFALEEEEEMERBZ
BERERERNASE —HEe&E0E
ZENERRENERSBEABE
95,0007c (ZZF — P4 : &) -

(d) R-B—RE+-_A=+—8 K&
BN AKFALEEEEEEMZA
EEEREMAEEZHEE AR ZH
tENRIBERERERCBOASE
43,752,000 (Z T — P4 : &) o

RN BEEREELE R REF

as follows: CER N

2015 2014

—E-hF —ZT—uF

HKS$’000 HK$'000

BT T BB T T

Operating activities (T g (2,234,278) 875,089

Investing activities BEEH 1,637,190 (2,739,966)

Financing activities [ =) 325,321 1,685,050

Net cash outflow ReERERLFE (271,767) (179,827)
Earning per share: BRAEFN:

Basic, from the discontinued A REIEFHE 43.08 36.83

operation KX HK cents #Efll HK cents %1l

Diluted, from the discontinued g REFEFE 43.02 36.79

operation K ET

HK cents #B1li HK cents &1l
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1. EFEEERE(E)
REFHEQEEB 2 TRESR
59 B TR AT BUR S8

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
from the discontinued operation are based on:

Profit attributable to ordinary
holders of parent from the
discontinued operation

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue less
shares hold the RSA scheme
during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation
(note 13)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares during the year

2015 2014
—E-FF —T—F

REFEFBECEER L
NGIE- S HK$462,207,000  HK$394,907,000
is B2 FE 1k ' F 78 462,207,000t /&%394,907,0007T

AR EERER

BRZAFECH]T
9 RO S IR 1 A £
3RS

B inz g ¥ 8
(H1:13)

1,072,957,445 1,072,267,396

AR EER#EE

BRZAFEERR

used in the diluted earnings per Z KT8
share calculation (note 13) (Bt i#13) 1,074,294,107 1,073,278,564
12. DIVIDENDS 12. &2
2015 2014
—E—0fF —E-MF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BE¥ T BT T
Proposed final dividend — Nil R R B AR 2
(2014: 20.00 HK cents per — B (CEMF:
ordinary share based on issued B EHRRL
share capital at the end of the BETERAER
reporting period) T3 A% 20.00% 1) = 218,748
Less: Dividend for shares held R 2R A
under the RSA Scheme ZENEE R
at the end of the W R i
reporting period IR 1 B AR B — (4,294)
= 214,454

The board of directors does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: 20.00 HK cents).

EFgTEIMNBE_T—AFT
“RA=T-BLEEEREREKRE
—ZT — /U - 20.00% )
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. BASIEERBRERELS

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average of 1,072,957,445 (2014: 1,072,267,396)
ordinary shares in issue less shares held under the
RSA Scheme during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share
amount for the year is based on the profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in
issue less shares held the RSA scheme during the year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercise of all the dilutive potential ordinary
shares related to the Group’s share-based incentive
schemes into ordinary shares.

Bz 2= F

BREABFNDIEANEE Z2H AR
TR REMEF  ARRAAR
FERNE TR SR D R
5T B A7 35 IR 10 2 3 AR A0 A S5
#1,072,957, 4458 (—Z — 4 :
1,072,267,396 /%) 5+ & o

AERZEREERNVIZAFE
ZEAREBRBREEZHN - A
Rzt B R EB R NE P8R0
REFARZBEITEBBORZR G
P {7 22 B =t 81 A 15 B0 (7= R
AESREARRN)  WINREKERE
AEEZ g BE & 2B E
EEEN T BN RETERE
BERTEBRZMETFHE -
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. BASIXERIREELS

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREF(E)
PARENT (Continued)
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share SRERREERNIREFEIAT
are based on: I
2015 2014
—E—EHF —ET-F
HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Earnings |
Profit attributable to ordinary ARFTEESRERR#E
equity holders of the parent, b PASINCIRS Y o
used in the basic and diluted REG R :
earnings per share calculation:
From continuing operations REFBKEET 199,469 306,046
From a discontinued operation MEFFELEED 462,207 394,907
661,676 700,953
Number of shares
K7 E A
2015 2014
Shares i4ni)
Weighted average number of ARGTESRER
ordinary shares in issue less BNz KFE
shares held the RSA scheme BT E BB
during the year used in the basic Z PR HIAR 1D B AT &I
earnings per share calculation PR FF AR 0 2 I 4
T8 1,072,957,445 1,072,267,396
Effect of dilution — BEreE —
weighted average number of TR 2
ordinary shares: a8
Share-based incentive schemes P e 2 B T 2 1,336,662 1,011,168

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares during the year
used in the diluted earnings per
share calculation

B REE
AT 2 AEE
33 AR 2 0
Fi W

1,074,294,107

1,073,278,564
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. ME -BERRE

31 December 2015

—E-EFtZA=+-8

Leasehold
land and
buildings

HETHR
[ 2
HK$'000

BETT

Leasehold

improve-

ments

HEE
HK$'000
BETR

Fixtures
and office
equipment
RERBAE
R
HK$'000

BT

Motor
vehicles

RE
HK$'000
BT T

Construction
in progress

EEIR
HK$'000
BT T

Total

Act
HK$'000
BET T

At 31 December 2014 and RZT—N4F
at 1 January 2015: +ZA=+-BR
R-F-RF-A—R:
Cost AE 931,686 172,598 1,020,793 49,215 108,148 2,282,440
Accumulated depreciation RitiE (89,436) (139,026)  (697,244) (33,296) —  (959,002)
Net carrying amount IR E 842,250 33,572 323,549 15,919 108,148 1,323,438
At 1 January 2015, net of R-ZZT—AF—A—8"
accumulated depreciation nNKkaFHE 842,250 33,572 323,549 15,919 108,148 1,323,438
Additions AE = 11,875 109,328 2,992 14,363 138,558
Assets included in a discontinued BRECEFEEEER
operation (note 17) EEMF11) (261,505) (6.241) (104,910) (7,051) = (379,707)
Disposals HE - (286) (15,100) (717) - (16,103)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 40) & W@ 2R (47 i240) = = - — (452) (452)
Transfers [o:4 38,757 (104) 514 (93) (39,074) D
Transfer to investment properties HBEEREME
(note 15] (#1:£15) — — — — (66,984) (66,984)
Depreciation provided during the AEEWE
year (24,189) (15,414) (103,136) (5.127) = (147,866)
Exchange realignment & X BB (37,876) (1,315) (13,988) (602) (4,267) (58,048)
At 31 December 2015, net of R-Z—R%F
accumulated depreciation +ZA=+—-8"
MR E 557,437 22,087 196,257 5,321 11,734 792,836
At 31 December 2015: R-ZZT—1F
+=ZA=+-—8:
Cost RO fE 631,389 119,025 500,721 17,342 11,734 1,280,211
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (73,952) (96,938)  (304,464)  (12,021) —  (487,375)
Net carrying amount T E 557,437 22,087 196,257 5,321 11,734 792,836
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14. Y% - BERHRE (&)

(Continued)
Leasehold Leasehold Fixtures
land and improve- and office Motor  Construction
buildings ments equipment vehicles  in progress Total
HETHR EBRHBA
#F AEXE ERE AE EEIR #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T ok R BETFT BETFT BT T
31 December 2014 —®2-mFE+=A=t-8
At 1 January 2014: R-T-—mE—-A—Q:

Cost K AE 1,005,783 165,152 972,906 47,353 146,941 2,338,135

Accumulated depreciation RitH & (66,375) (123,673) (613,119) (29,523) - (832,690)

Net carrying amount REFE 939,408 41,479 359,787 17,830 146,941 1,505,445
At 1 January 2014, net of R-T-mE—-—A—Q/"

accumulated depreciation Mk 2547 & 939,408 41,479 359,787 17,830 148,941 1,505,445
Additions NE — 8,195 73,360 2,601 83,332 167,488
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BE B B R (f77£39)

(note 39) — 1,436 941 1,452 — 3,829
Disposals HE — — (3,003) (406) — (3,409)
Transfers E 73,285 (51) 5,929 45) [79.118) -
Transfer to investment properties HBEZREAME

(note 15] (H1:#15) (145,344) — — — (41,587) (186,931)
Depreciation provided during the rEFEHE

year (24,234) (17,246) (111,296) (5.415) — (158,191)
Surplus on revaluation upon EHBEEREME

the transfer to investment A E

properties 5,239 — — — — 5,239
Exchange realignment R ECE (6,104) (241) (2,189) (98) (1,420) (10,032)
At 31 December 2014, net of R-E-NF+=A

accumulated depreciation =t—H MERAFE 842,250 33572 323,549 15,919 108148 1,323,438
At 31 December 2014: RZT—WNF

t=A=t+—-8:

Cost KA E 931,686 172,588 1,020,793 49,215 108,148 2,282,440

Accumulated depreciation Rt E (89,436) (139,026) (697,244) (33,296) — (959,002)

Net carrying amount fRmE % & 842,250 33,572 323,549 15,918 108,148 1,323,438

R-E—FRE+-_A=+—H =K

At 31 December 2015, the Group's property, plant and
equipment with a carrying value of HK$427,632,000
(2014: Nil) were pledged to secure certain bank loans
of the Group (note 34(a)).

SBEREEEABEK427632,0007T
(ZZE—mOF:-\|)2UVE- - BER
RBE TR EAAEERS
& THRITERZER (H5E34(@) °
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15.

REME

2015 2014
—B-IF —E-mE
Investment Investment
Completed properties Completed properties
investment under investment under
properties construction Total properties construction Total
BExR i34 B 34
RENE RENE @it REM*E REM*E it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 BT T BETT BETn BT EETL BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BzEEE 777,564 966,662 1,744,226 150,470 604,913 755,383
Additions NE 2,297 158,903 161,200 78,347 639,109 717,456
Transfer from owner-occupied BRERENE/
properties/prepaid land premium Bt EL 14, 16 81,643 - 81,643 237,747 - 237,747
Transfer from completed properties BREREHREARY
held for sale BINME 85,727 — 85,727 - - -
Transfers B8R 870,467 (870,467) = 330,574 (330,574) -
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value BRATEEAEZ
adjustment recognised in B/ (BE)
profit or loss BRAE® 114,458 27,390 141,848 (18,988) 57,292 38,304
Exchange realignment ERAR (41,646) (49,749) (91,395) (586) (4,078) (4,664)
Carrying amount at 31 December RE-A=+—-AzER{E 1,890,510 232,739 2,123,249 777564 966,662 1,744,226

The Group’s investment properties are situated in
Mainland China and are held under medium term
leases.

The directors of the Company have determined that
the investment properties consist of one class of
asset, commercial properties, based on the nature,
characteristic and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2015 based on valuations performed by Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at HK$2,123,2439,000
(2014: HK$1,744,226,000) on an open market, existing
use basis. Each year, the Group’s management decide
to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management have discussions
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results once a year when the valuation is
performed for annual financial reporting.

AEBZREVEAMURHBEK
B WIARBELNEE -

RARRESRBESMEZLME &
BREREEREDNERE &
B2EE IBEDE  A&EEZ
REWER-_ZT—RAE+_A=+
—BERBABIEESERGEE
ME—RERETHERFEER
BERARZEETIZRARAMS
MRITRREEBRITEM[ABE
2,123,249,0007 L (=& — W4 : /&
#1,744,226,0007T) ° NEB 2 &
BERAEZTEIBEHEEMREER
SEMEZIIEBHE - BEBZER
FEMEANE - B2 BIUEAKRSR
FKERTDENER - REF—KR
MEEPBERESETHAER A&
ErEEECBGEAEMMREERRK
MEBEERETT R °



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Certain investment properties are leased to third
parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 42(a) to the financial
statements.

At 31 December 2015, the Group has not yet
obtained the real estate ownership certificates of the
Group’s investment properties with a net carrying
amount of approximately HK$232,739,000 (2014:
HK$966,662,000) from the relevant government
authorities. The directors of the Company consider that
the relevant real estate ownership certificates will be
obtained upon the completion of the construction of
the properties.

At 31 December 2015, the Group's investment
properties with a carrying value of HK$1,305,524,000
(2014: Nil) were pledged to secure certain bank loans
of the Group (note 34(a)).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment

properties are included on page 268.
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15. ILEYE(E)
ETHREYERKCERERTE=
B HiE— SR EFBH NI
KM E42(a) °

RZFE—RAF+=—A=+—H =K
ESEHNAEEBRTRERAEER
iR @ % (B 78 #232,739,0007T (—
=T — [ 4 : 78 #966,662,0007T)
ZIREMERSEMENMEGES -
ARAREERBECTMEMERSE
EXREBEHNEBEEZTERE -

R-ZE—FRE+-ZA=+—H " &K
£ B RMmE A% 1,305,524,000
T(ZE—WE - E)2REMED
FLAEHE  (EAAEEESE TR
TE SR 2 AR (K 5E34(a)) °

AEBBREMEZE—FTFHIBFRRE
RE269E A °

Fair value hierarchy NEBEESH
The following table illustrates the fair value TRINTAEE 2 IRENENRF
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment BEFESFHK:

properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2015 using

R-ZB-FEF+-A=+—-RLFEEFHEFEH:

Quoted
prices

in active
markets

EEE TS
8 E
(Level 1)
(F&-)
HK$’000
BT T

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Commercial properties

ERATFHMEER
RESUES -

Significant
observable
inputs
ERATHE
BHER
(Level 2)
(FH=)
HK$’000
B¥TT

Significant
unobservable
inputs
ERFAEER
BHERE
(Level 3)
(E®R=)
HK$’'000
B¥T T

HK$'000
pi e e

— 2,123,249 2,123,249
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REYE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEFEESHRE)

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2014 using

RZE-—NFE+-A=+—HBAFEEF2EH:

Quoted
prices  Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
EEESTE EATERE EATAHE
H) 3R (B BRI E = B A = st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(FH—) (E4 =) (E4=)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BET T BET T BET T BET T
Recurring fair value measurement for: fERAQAFEEFER
Commercial properties [EEX/ES — — 1,744,226 1,744,226
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RAFEERN  RER—REHK =2
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no FMEERATLETE  MRER
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2014: Nil). ZMNEEASEL(ZF —HF:

&) -



Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. ILEYE(E)

NP EBESHR(E)

Reconciliation of fair value measurement categorised DERER =2 AFEBEZLENA
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: FEEEZHER:
Commercial
properties
[EER/ES
HK$'000
BETT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2014 R-ZE-—NE-—A—HBZEHRE 355,294
Additions NE 717,456
Transfer from owner-occupied properties and EEEEAWER
prepaid land premium BRTHAS 237,747
Transfer from investment properties carried at XK AEERH AR ENE
cost 400,089
Net gain from a fair value adjustment BRATREEAR 2Fh=
recognised in other gains in profit or loss BRAEER 2 HMK s 38,304
Exchange realignment fE 5, 8 2 (4.664)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2014 and R-Z—NF+-A=+—HEK
1 January 2015 —ET-hFE-HA-BZEKHAE 1,744,226
Additions nE 161,200
Transfer from an owner-occupied property and EEEERAWE R
prepaid land premium BALES 81,643
Transfer from a completed property ERARKEHERED
held for sale RIM% 85,727
Net gain from a fair value adjustment BAFEEAE 2 FUAERAER
recognised in other gains in profit or loss 2 H Al s 141,848
Exchange realignment R (91,395)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2015

RZE—RF+-_A=+—H
ZEEE 2,123,249
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. ILEY X (E8)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEFEESHRE)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used AT AR E YRR h 2 5T
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment AERBEREK:
properties:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable input Range or weighted average
R R EXATHHEINEE 5 = 0 & 719
2015 2014
—E-AHF —FmF
Commercial properties Discounted cash flow method Estimated rental value From 16 to From 15
(per s.g.m. and per month) 325 398
EEME BERASRERX BHBESEEBE TR H16E325 15%398
A)
Long term vacancy rate From 5% to From 10%
15% to 30%
RHZEEX H5%Z15% H10% %
30%
Discount rate From 6% to From 4.1%
7.5% to B%
RS H6%Z7.5% H41%Z%6%
Commercial properties Hypothetical development method Unit rate (per s.g.m.) (HKS$) From From
8,501 to 6,250 to
12,286 16,250
[EESZE S BRERERE BRBR(BFHRCEET) H8,501% f6,250%
12,286 16,250
Construction costs From 3,933 From 4,250
(per s.g.m.) (HKS) to 5,089 to 7,500
BERA(EFIROEET) #3,933% f4,250%
5,089 7,500
Other costs and expenses/ From From
construction costs 9.75% to 18.69%
18.75% to
29.78%
EAM AR A s iR SRR H9.75%%F  H18.69%%
18.75% 29.78%
Discount rate 4.75% From 7.6%
to 8%
AL IR & 4.75% 7.6%%8%
The Group has determined that the highest and best AEECHEAZSEHENERNANE
use of the commercial properties at the measurement HH v &R kaxEREHERAE
date would be to convert those properties for FTERABZZEME - HRERIR
residential purposes. For strategic reasons, the CWEWEAZANER -

properties are not being used in this manner.



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is
estimated using assumptions regarding the benefits and
liabilities of ownership over the asset’s life. This method
involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a
property interest. A market-derived discount rate is
applied to the projected cash flow in order to establish
the present value of the income stream associated with
the asset.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing
of inflows and outflows are determined by events such
as rent reviews, lease renewal and related reletting,
redevelopment and refurbishment. The appropriate
duration is driven by market behaviour that is a
characteristic of the class of property. The periodic
cash flow is estimated as gross income less vacancy,
non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease
incentives, maintenance costs, agent and commission
costs and other operating and management expenses.
The series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the
end of the projection period, is then discounted.

In the case of investment property under construction,
estimates of capital outlays and construction cost,
development costs, and anticipated sales income are
estimated to arrive at a series of net cash flows that
are then discounted over the projected development
and marketing periods. Specific development risks such
as planning, zoning, licences, and building permits are
separately valued.

MBI ERAR 20156 ] @

Notes to Financial Statements B % k2% Mt 5%
31 December 2015 —E— A+ -_HA=+—H

15. REME(E)
NP BEEZFHRGE)
REBEFRBRBEESREE R FEED
RABREEMAEONZE AR
BREEZBWETMHE - ZAE
BREMERBZ ERRERE
ZTER  MIBITEZRRBRRFAR
BRARERENERIEEEGH
Z¥mRziE-

BeRE 2 FHEREMRRAFR L
MARRRE D HZBEONESRS B
WERRERENL EREBFS
EHATE - BEZHEREXTS
1 (RMERERIN— B ) RrE
&  FHRSRERBWAIGRZ
B FTAKEHS WKREX M
EEE #EER KENEzZ
AhEMKEMERFT - % —&
BEREER A FRE - BREAR
BAMKER 2R REBERGRTR
BRRRERE-

RHEBREMEMS - B EAX
HRZERA - FERA - ARTE
HEERAGBFTR -—EZRRER
ERFERAFAEREHPRATER
EE o REFEER  wWHRE - »
B -HFAILEIHRDDHMG
@ o
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. ILEY X (E8)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated
rental value and the market rent growth rate per
annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the long
term vacancy rate and the discount rate in isolation
would result in a significant decrease/(increase) in
the fair value of the investment properties. Generally,
a change in the assumption made for the estimated
rental value is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the rent growth per annum and the discount
rate and an opposite change in the long term vacancy
rate.

NP EEFERE)
BREEEEELATSEHEHEFER
KEBAREM (R B EBIR
BWENRXFEEKNBEEMOR
D) RMZEXRBBAREFGAK
BN, OB BEHIREWEZ
RFEERERD, (M) o —K
ms AEGEEBEFLNER
MEHEERHeFHERIBRE
HREUTMESHREREHEE
RHBR@EA -

16. PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS 16. Eft L £
2015 2014
—E-hfF —ZT—uF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB T T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—RA—BZEHEE 145,178 201,751
Transfer to completed investment &P TR L E
properties LIS (14,659) (50,818)
Amortisation during the year NS 8 (3,890) (4,375)
Exchange realignment P& H & (6,277) (1,382)
Carrying amount at 31 R+=—A=+—8H
December < BEHEE 120,352 145,178
Current portion included in RBHS BEE
prepayments, deposits and FERNHIE - EE R
other receivables H e YW R 1E (4,670) (5,218)
Non-current portion B EB 19 115,682 139,960

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s prepaid land
premiums with a carrying value of HK$100,344,000
(2014: Nil) were pledged to secure certain bank loans
of the Group (note 34(a)).

R-ZE—FE+-ZA=+—H " K
£ [E R m(E 578 %100,344,0007T
(ZZE—mF @ zBEMLHES
EFLRER  (EAAEEESET
R1TE K 2 AR (MY 5E34(a)) °
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17. GOODWILL 17. B8
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising B s BE % Ra Bt /BB A A E A T B AR
from the acquisition of subsidiaries, was as follows: BEZEHESHWT:
2015 2014
ZE-RF —E-mF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT
At 1 January: R—H—H8:
Cost XA E 1,292,407 261,262
Accumulated impairment ZERE (17,592) (17.592)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,274,815 243,670
Cost at 1 January, net of R—A—RZKAE:
accumulated impairment H&k R RE 1,274,815 243,670
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39 W EEIE AR (F7:£39) = 1,032,726
Exchange realignment PE AR (58,839) (1,581)
Cost at 31 December, net of R+ZA=+—Hz
accumulated impairment BRAE - Ik 2R E 1,215,976 1,274,815
At 31 December: Rt+-A=+—8:
Cost KA fE 1,228,452 1,292,407
Accumulated impairment ZERE (12,476) (17.592)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,215,976 1,274,815
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17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. BHE(4E)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

° Industry application software and solutions cash-
generating unit; and

° Rural information services cash-generating unit.

Industry application software and solutions cash-

generating unit

The recoverable amount of the industry application
software and solutions cash-generating unit is
determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 15% (2014: 15%) and cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using a growth
rate of 3% (2014: 3%).

Rural information services cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the rural information
services cash-generating unit is determined based on
a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to cash flow projections is 16% (2014: 17%)
and cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 3% (2014: 3%).

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of
the cash-generating units is as follows:

Industry application

[EECAERE
FREBEWB2EEERULT
ReEEBMDE - AETTRE R
=

s MTEREATMFRBRTRR
TELEU R

e ENGERBREELE

fiz °

TR EFENMR R ZHR 2
EEEN

TEERBHEERBATRR G E
A By e WEE TR B F BEE
BT mEAEEDNRARESR
EEEMEZATFHMEEER
BZBEMEFHE - BABRESRE
FrE Az AR X 515% (ZF — I
F:15%) MIRABBARFHI% (=
T—UF: 3% EREEEIRE R

o

]

ETEEREREEELE N
EREERBRACELEM 2K
BEDREEREEEE - MEA
BEDFARESMAEEEIHEZ
IEHMMBRERANZRSRET
B-FHRBREEREMERZBAEX
318% (ZF —MF : 17%) LKA
BB AFHI% (ZF —MF : 3%)
BEXHEHRRSRE -

NTREIEEEHECELENZ
BEREE:

Rural information

software and solutions services Total
TERRABHRBRAR ENEERE &t

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
=B T 0F R T Sk Eial — T — [0 F
HK$’000 ErGeasl  HK$'000 HK$'000 [ LEH]eo) HK$'000
BETT BB T T BETT BT T BETT BT

Carrying amount of goodwill P& EMEE 230,915 242,089 CEEROCREN 1,032,726 BRERERCVAGES 1,274,815




17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Key assumptions were used in the value in use
calculation of the industry application software and
solutions cash-generating unit and the rural information
services cash-generating unit for the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross — The basis used to determine the
margins value assigned to the budgeted
gross margin is the average gross
margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget
year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is after tax
and reflects specific risks relating
to the cash-generating unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the industry application software
and solutions and the rural information services,
and discounts rates are consistent with external
information sources.
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17. BHE(48)
EESAEREAC )
RBE-_T—AER-_F—NE+
—A=t+-—BIEEERN HETE
EREERRR S RESEL B
REMZEREESELSM 2 E
FEERNSEREB/RE -

T E I B TR R
AEARSREMEESSEEE
R

BEEMX — BEEMNXERE
LEEEERR
BEREFEN—
B EMBEZF
BEME - FHE
B =2 g
o0 Ko B & 5 %
B’ o

LIRSS — FIRAZMBRE
AT BRE -
HRBREREN
P8 & 2 5 € R

B -

TEEBONITERBLRFRER
HRASEAEMLERNESRE
ReELBEUNMmEREZHE
DA K% B 37 3 B 51 3R RR — 2
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HhER & E
Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total
ERER EL
RrA A BB A A RERH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR B¥TRT BETT BETRT
31 December 2015 —2-1fF
+=A=+-8

At 1 January 2015: RZFE-—RF—A—H:

Cost K AE 58,340 5,664 62,296 126,300
Accumulated amortisation and REBHER
impairment HE (17,738) (3,535) (39,241) (60,514)
Net carrying amount RE%E 40,602 2,129 23,055 65,786
Cost at 1 January 2015, net of RZF—HAF—A—H
accumulated amortisation and ZBCARE R
impairment BETEHERAE 40,602 2,129 23,055 65,786
Additions ANE = 25,501 1,049 26,550
Amortisation provided during the year REFHH (5,435) (624) (6,282) (12,341)
Impairment loss during the year AEERE (19,586) — — (19,586)
Exchange realignment EHAR (1,704) (651) (269) (2,024)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—HF
+tZA=+—-8H 14,477 26,355 17,553 58,385
At 31 December 2015: WZE—HF
+=ZA=+—-8H
Cost R AE 19,554 30,738 71,898 122,190
Accumulated amortisation and 2FEHEIORE
impairment (5,077) (4,383) (54,345) (63,805)
Net carrying amount REFE 14,477 26,355 17,553 58,385

An impairment of HK$19,586,000 (2014: Nil) was
recognised for certain patents and licenses with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$32,644,000 (2014:
Nil) (before deducting the impairment loss) during the
year because those patents and licenses had been
dormant and/or obsolete.

The recoverable amounts of the certain patents and
licenses in the New Business segment as at 31
December 2015 have been determined as nil because
these patents and licenses will be written off within
one year at nil consideration.

RAFERN REBEBSE
32,644,000t (= & — M
E)HIBRREBEMNNSE TE
FIERFAIEE BAEELE
K /ok i@t ERIBE B
19,586,000 C (—ZE—PU4 : 4) o

MEB D B2E T EFE KA E
BN —FARTEME  FEZF
BN ERR_T—HF T
“RA=+—H&AKRE £ EEE R

T
=
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. Hih R & E (&)

Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total
HRRER i
FTA A AR R EH At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BB
31 December 2014 —E-WmF
+=A=+-H
At 1 January 2014: RZE-—ME—-A—RH:
Cost XA E 38,965 5,664 40,799 85,428
Accumulated amortisation and 2 EHE L
impairment RIE (10,9486) (2,267) (35,649) (48,862)
Net carrying amount BRE%E 28,019 3,397 5,150 36,566
Cost at 1 January 2014, net of W-Z-NFE-F—Az
accumulated amortisation and BAE - R BE
impairment 58 RO 28,019 3,397 5,150 36,566
Additions nE — — 21,497 21,497
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39) 1 B T /8 2 R (7 i#.39) 19,375 — — 19,375
Amortisation provided during the year REFEH (6,620) (1,248) (38,577) (11,445)
Exchange realignment [E 5 % (172) (20) (15) (207)
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—mE
+=-A=+-—H 40,602 2,129 23,055 65,786
At 31 December 2014 RZE—MF
+ZA=+-8:
Cost K AE 58,340 5,664 62,296 126,300
Accumulated amortisation and RFBHER
impairment A (17,738) (3,535) (39,241) (60,514)
Net carrying amount REFE 40,602 2,129 23,055 65,786
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REELXEZEE

2015 2014
—E-hfF —ZT—uF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Share of net assets JE(EEEFE 912,645 675,579
Goodwill on acquisition ARBEECEHE 16,794 —
929,439 675,579

The Group’s loans to joint ventures included in the
Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables
are disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements.
In the opinion of the directors, these loans are not
considered as part of the Group’s net investments in
these joint ventures.

The Group’s accounts and bills receivables and accounts
and bills payable balances due from/(to) joint ventures
are disclosed in notes 27 and 32 to the financial
statements, respectively.

The Group’s loan from a subsidiary of a joint venture
of the Group and advance from a joint venture of
the Group included in the Group’s other payables and
accruals are disclosed in note 33 to the financial
statements.

AEBEEREASEZANIEA -
BekEMEEFRzAEEDRE
RH{2ERBEER U T RERN
o8- BEERAR  ZFERTEE
BRAEENZEAELERR
B —#y -

AEBEREK (B ZEAELE
ZEWERREREE R EME
KRN EEES DR ER I
B 7% 3k < Mt sE27 % 32 °

AEEEREASEZ HMEMNK
ERBREAZANEEAZ LR
ZHBRARREZERRAEEE
RS N A R E ]
33 °
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19 MEeEB ¥ E(8E)

(Continued)
Particular of the Group’s material joint venture is as REEHNEAGERLEZFIEN
follows: I
Percentage
of ownership
interest
Place of registration Particulars of attributable to
Name and business registered capital the Group Principal activities
N |
Eiafra R’
%8 EMBRREBLY BEEMERFE BEEAL TEEE
Chongging Digital China HC PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 60 Provision of microfinance services
Microfinance Co., Ltd.*" RERE AR A K %1,000,000,0007T in Chongging province
BEENMNEBER NEERERRAA" EEFHERM)EEIRY
® The English name of the company is direct transliterations of & ZARZENEBEZEFMER
its Chinese registered name. RN BT o
» Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member " FEHBEBL KM EFIRTKE
firm of the Ernst & Young global network. FTREBATE M EREEKENE
% o
The above investment is held through the subsidiaries MR BENFEBRARA ZHE AR
of the Company. B A o
Chongging Digital China HC Microfinance Co., Ltd., EEMMNBGBEIR/NBERERA
which is considered a material joint venture of the AW AEAEE s EREERE
Group, is engaged in the provision of microfinance HitEEsRBMmEERINBEBEX
services in Chongging province and is accounted for AR5 & B iR fE 2 )R T BR o

using the equity method.
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Chongging Digital China HC
Microfinance Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies:

19. REEEEZREE)

TRINTEEMMNEBZR)NEE
RERABDEABGIRRERZ
MBEMRE:

2015 2014

—E-HF —E—mOF

HK’000 HK’000

BT T BT T

Current assets M EE 1,628,180 847,897

Non-current assets ERHEE 68,529 62

Current liabilities mENBE (466,491) (1.648)

Net assets EEFE 1,230,218 846,311

Revenues e A 148,605 12,802

Profit for the year NE S & F 36,633 2,334
Total comprehensive income KEFE

for the year THEHWEERE 36,633 2,334
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. R84 222188 (8)
(Continued)

All the joint ventures have been accounted for using FrBE& & ¥ IRER AR UL B
the equity method in these financial statements. BHREIIEK -

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRITAEBEEE D ZEGERR
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not BRN)ZUHBEREGE:

individually material:

2015 2014
—E2—RF —E—pE
HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Aggregate carrying amount of the ANEBRAEENE Y
Group's investments in the joint HERREE
ventures &&h 156,865 168,362

Share of the joint ventures’ profit EEAENEZ
for the year REE & F 19,226 33,206
Share of the joint ventures’ total JfE{REEREY

comprehensive income for the N4 € 2 @ W &
year 4B RE 19,226 33,2086
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. Rt EATIZ2H/E
2015 2014
—E-hfF —ZT—uF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Share of net assets JEhEEFE 1,087,110 783,366
Goodwill on acquisition ARBEECEHE 536,694 408,593
1,623,804 1,191,959
Analysed into: AT

Unlisted shares JE MR D 202,019 151,549
Shares listed in Hong Kong REBETMZBG 916,695 531,438

Shares listed in the AR RRE 7
Mainland China -3 505,090 508,972

1,623,804 1,191,859




20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
(Continued)

The Group’s accounts receivable and payable balances
due from/(to) associates are disclosed in notes 27 and
32 to the financial statements, respectively.

The Group's advance from associates of the Group

included in the Group's other payables and accruals is
disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the material associates are as follows:
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20. REtE AT ZIRE(E)

REBEW /(FER) Z EE S AR
2 FE U BR 7k Ko E A< BR R A4S 82 D R
% 8 50 It B 75 R R MY sE27 %32 o

AEEBREAREZ B MR

ARERER CAEERZE AR
TR FE RO 1k B 7S R M 5E33 e

TEMERRZHFBOT:

Percentage

of ownership

Particular of issued interest

Place of incorporation/ share capital/ attributable to
Name registration and business registered capital the Group Principal activities

BHEEBRTRER/ AEEELREE
-1 EMAYL/ERREB LS a1 EEAAM TEXK
DigiWin Software Co., Ltd.*" PRC/Mainland China RMB200,746,110 11.49¢ Provision of ERP software
REIHRHERAF" RE/REARE A K #200,746,1107T and related services
REERPE M KR B IR
HC International, Inc."” Cayman Islands/Mainland China HK$89,994,610 18.45% Service provision of
BRBAERDA HENE /MEKRE 7 %89,994,6107T B-to-B e-commerce

##

* %

The English name of the company is a direct transliteration of
its Chinese registered name.

This company is accounted for as an associate of the Group
as the Group is able to exercise significant influence over
the companies because the Group holds more than 20% of
the voting power of this company through a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary and a wholly-owned subsidiary.

This company is accounted for as an associate of the Group
as the Group is able to exercise significant influence over the
company because the Group has representation on the board
of directors of the company and participates in policy-making
processes of the company through a wholly-owned subsidiary.

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Listed on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The
total market value of the Group’s listed shares as at 31
December 2015 was HK$3,037,328,000.

Listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The total market value of the Group’s listed shares as
at 31 December 2015 was HK$777,016,000.

* %

EEELRATE

RARZEXEBNERARMERE
AT ¢

AREBB ML AABHEAR
R-MeAREHBARRALAR
BIBRO%MFRME - HUARARE
P AREATEAREES
B AR -
AKEBB M2 ARANBANNR
BUAREEFRIRRRERLAR
ZREBRE  HUAANABERY
£ AR EAARENEE
AR -

FBBEBL KM EB AL KE
SRR E MR IRBEKERE
% o

KRB R FAEIZER £ - R=F—
AFE+-A=+—H AEBELEHR
fp 2 T8 #7834 %3,037,328,000
ﬁ o

REBHERIABERDRER £
meR=_E—HF+=_A=+—8H"
AEBEMRHZMERLEASE
777,016,0007T °
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REtEATIZ2H/E(H)

(Continued)
The Group’s investments in the associates are held
through the subsidiaries of the Company.

All the associates have been accounted for using the
equity method in these financial statements.

DigiWin Software Co., Ltd., which is considered a
material associate of the Group, is engaged in the
provision of ERP software and related services and is
accounted for using the equity method.

HC International, Inc., which is considered a material
associate of the Group, is engaged in the service
provision of B-to-B e-commerce and is accounted for
using the equity method.

REE R B AT ZIRE 52 B
BAATZHWEARSE -

PRAHE S QR B R s A I e B
BRERINE -

BREFRNDERABWII SRS
BMeEBABERA  ERERHM
ERPE 1t B IR K B i # zn )&
I8 o

ERBERAABIIRAKE 2 E
RBERR  HEELLEWLER S
FERERFEIR -
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REtE AT 2/ E (&)
(Continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial T?E@Jﬁh%%ﬁ'ﬂﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ&
information in respect of DigiWin Software Co., Ltd. ERBERAALARABEEZR
and HC International, Inc. adjusted for any differences Z,\ﬁf%ﬁﬂﬂaﬁﬁ%-

in accounting palicies:

DigiWin Software Co., Ltd. HC International, Inc.
RERHRAERAR ERBERAR
2015 2014 2015 2014
S5 - QeI -3-ns
HK’000 HK'000 HK’000 HK'000
BT BETT BE®TT BETT

Current assets RBEE 1,200,454 1,562,736 2,606,127 1,906,768
Non-current assets ERBEE 648,466 282,027 4,174,574 2,155,926
Current liabilities REERE (497,471) (409,819) (2,437,802) (736,369)
Non-current liabilities FRBERE (634) (15068)  (1,244,157)  (1,682,366)
Net assets AEFE 1,350,815 1,433,438 3,098,742 1,643,959
Less: Non-controlling interests RS 5,961 66 157,400 193,609
Net assets attributable to 55?%@ﬂﬂ§f$ﬁ1£

shareholders of the associates ZEEF 1,344,854 1,433,372 2,941,342 1,450,350
Net assets, excluding goodwill of the associate ~ EEFE  TREHELAFHSE 1,344,252 1,420,701 1,869,997 1,581,066
Revenues WA 1,256,232 1,318,614 1,128,187 1,210,252
Profit for the year RER 14,491 78,843 28,395 029,447
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EpwrEks/(BE) 1,020 (15,741) 172,989 23,085

Total comprehensive income for the year AFERERGAR 15,991 63,103 201,384 252,512
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REtZE AT 2/ E (&)
(Continued)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial T2 5 R AN £ B B R R) (GE & R
information of the Group’s associates that are not BR)ZHBEREE:

individually material:

2015 2014
—E—REF —E—pE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Aggregate carrying amount of REBER

the Group’s investments in /N o

the associates BRENKREEAR 202,018 151,549
Share of the associates’ profit JE(EBE & NE 2

for the year NG P 6,884 1814
Share of the associates’ total JEAL B & N FZ

comprehensive income for AEE2E K

the year 4B RH 6,884 1,814
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21. JHHEZHRE
2015 2014
—E-HF —T—OF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
N3 BT T BT T
Current B
Wealth management financial 32 81 & &
products, at cost AN E (a) 4,889 1,000,000
Non-current ERE
Listed equity investments, FhEERE -
at fair value BRVEE (b) 186,926 355,298
Unlisted equity investments,  FEEMEZEE -
at cost 2D RN =] (b) 404,788 274,397
Convertible promissory note  A] 8 # 4) 7 & 5 (b) = 38,750
Wealth management financial ¥ 81 & & -
products, at cost B AE (a) = 1,247,988
591,714 1,916,433

Notes: Kt -

(a) Wealth management financial products of HK$4,889,000 (a) S EA A4 889,000 (=2 — P4 :
(2014: HK$2,247,988,000) were issued by reputable financial 7 #2,247,988,0007T) A # B K
institutions in Mainland China and had original maturity from EENVBHERENENER &
one month to three months (2014: five months to two years) REINHBEAE—EAZ=EAC=E
when acquired. These wealth management financial products —F: AAAEMF) - WFBYE

matured in January 2016. BER=ZT—"FE—AHH -
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(b)

INVESTMENTS

The movements in non-current available-for-sale investments,

excluding wealth management financial products which are

21. IHHEZRE (&)

At

(b)

(%)
REFER  ERBAKBEZR
B TEEEMES  EPERAAE

stated, at cost less impairment, during the year are as follows: BORE - BEIT
Revaluation Impairment
Cost gains/(losses) loss Total
fhEd =/
B AME (EB#) REEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BBTT BETT E¥TR
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—NE—-A—H 653,359 (61,267) (74,592) 517,500
Additions N 250,370 — — 250,370
Changes in fair value NEEESZ — (36,102) — (36,102)
Disposals & (144,000) 33,810 48,867 (63,323)
Impairment LA — 69,477 (69,477) —
At 31 December 2014 and R-ZE-—MFE+=A
1 January 2015 =+—HK
—E-H¥—H—H 759,729 5,918 (97,202) 668,445
Additions 3 188,312 — — 188,312
Assets included in a BIEEIFEEEER
discontinued operation ZEE (75.,464) — — (75,464)
Changes in fair value NEEEZSD — 6,304 — 6,304
Disposals & (178,570) (17,313) — (195,883)
Impairment A — 28,994 (28,994) —
At 31 December 2015 RZZT—h%F
+=ZA=+—H 694,007 23,903 (126,196) 591,714
The above investments consist of investments in equity Lt EOERESELEEE  ZE

securities which were designated as available-for-sale financial
assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

There was a significant decline in the market value of certain

listed equity

investments during the vyear.

The directors

consider that such a decline indicates that the listed equity
investments have been impaired and an impairment loss of

HK$28,994,000

a reclassification from other

(2014: HK$69,477,000),

which
comprehensive

included
income of

HK$28,944,000 (2014: HK$69,477,000), has been recognised
in the statement of profit or loss for the year.

The Group’s unlisted equity investments, convertible promissory
note and wealth management financial products are measured
at cost less impairment. The directors consider that fair values
of these investments cannot be measured reliably because the
probabilities of various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair values.

REWEEAAHLESREE -

ETEmESRERZARZTISE
BABETK ZEFRRZNKBER
ITEERECRERMEBES
75 128,994,000 T (=& — U4 :
#¥69,477,0007T) ' LB IERE H A
2 Y25 8 #28,994,000T (=T —
U4 8 #69,477,0007T) 2 EF S

AEBEZFLmEREE  AERY
EEFREHERRKANERRE
PR - EERA  ARNARMBENRR
B2 B R EOR & BT il & A A
HAFEE WEAUEAEEDER
B2 RATFEE-
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 22. BRI EEERE
2015 2014
—2-5% —ET-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Finance lease receivables FE Y 7t & 7R & K1 375,975 7,686
Impairment 1A (4,272) —
371,703 7,686
An aged analysis of the finance lease receivables, as RBERR - BRHBEHEERIEAZ
at the end of the reporting period, is as follows: R OTOT :
2015 2014
—Z-5% —E-lEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
B¥TT BT T
Finance lease receivables: FE Y Bt & 7R & kIR
Due within one year —F A H 135,409 3,418
Due in 1 to 2 years —EZFE|H 135,073 1,254
Due in 2 to 3 years —E=FF 94,955 1,416
Due in 3 to 4 years = Z 94 5| 5 10,538 1,598
375,975 7,686
The movements in provision for impairment of finance ERmEHEER 2 RERE &
lease receivables are as follows: EURCINE
2015 2014
—E-a% —E-mE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
B¥ETT BT T
At the beginning of year 7 5 5 B 1) = —
Impairment losses recognised R 2 REBE 4,272 —

%

At the end of the reporting period 7 ¥ & 8 & 4,272 —
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 22 . FEWRMESHEHRIE(E)

(Continued)
The Group provides finance leasing services on REBR PR KERSE TRERE SR
certain equipment in Mainland China. These leases are MEMRESRY - ZEZHEEHER
classified as finance leases and have remaining lease MERE  BRM#ANFT—ZEWFZ
terms ranging from one to four years. FHAR o
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payment lease payment
BEREMRE BERENRERE
Net finance lease receivables: ENBERENEFE:
Due within one years TEAREH 147,668 4,244 133,952 3,418
Due in 1 to 2 years —E-E3 133,733 1,804 133,196 1,254
Due in 2 to 3 years ) 110,883 1,804 94,017 1,418
Due in 3 to 4 years —EMFHH 28,966 1,804 10,538 1,598
421,250 9,656 371,703 7,686
Less: unearned finance income WARERBMENE (49,547) (1,970)

Present value of minimum lease payments SERENTERE 371,703 7,686




23. DEFERRED TAX
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23. IEEH I

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities BEFREEERABBERAFEAZ
during the year are as follows: SEMT
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE
Losses
EVENEL] ]
for
offsetting
against
future Sales
taxable Asset rebates
profits provisions payables Others
A A A 3K 8
RRERB SHEWM
R Z &8 EERE BE {F 718 Hit st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET BYET T BET BYETT BET
At 1 January 2015 R-ZZT—AF
—H—H 19,392 162,505 163,441 27,160 372,498
Deferred tax credited/ — ANEMRNIEEZES
(charged) to the AR Z
statement of profit or iR AE 7 IE
loss during the year (16,463) 12,814 814 30,174 27,339
Exchange realignment IE 5, 38 % (1,648) (9,341) (7,160) (2,125) (20,274)
Gross deferred R-ZZE—RE
tax assets at +=ZA=+—8~2
31 December 2015 R IBE E4A%E 1,281 165,978 157,095 55,209 379,563
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

23. i3 1A ()

EEBIRBE

2015
—E—RE
Unrealised
losses from Revaluation Purchase
intragroup of rebates Withholding
transactions properties receivables tax Others
£ER
RBEEZ R
REREE L/E SR e W KR SRk Hpt Bt
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT B¥TT BY¥ETT BETr BE¥TrT
At 1 January 2015 RZZE—AF
—H—H 91,729 47,163 38,139 = 2,858 179,889
Deferred tax REFZNE
charged/(credited) BEmRPHER
to the statement of (FTA)Z B
profit or loss during BIA
the year (13,654) 34,576 12,386 95,180 (574) 127,914
Deferred tax charged A& N E a5 &
to the statement of FRFMBRZ
changes in equity IR AT 15 18
during the year = 246 = = = 246
Exchange realignment & & § % (3.282) (2,436) (2,195) (1,641) (112) (9,666)
Gross deferred tax RZE—RFE+=
liabilities at A=+—RZE
31 December TEHEAGERE
2015 74,793 79,549 48,330 93,539 2,172 298,383
Net deferred tax REENEBTE
charged to the i) R 1
statement of profit I FRE
or loss during the
year (100,575)
Net deferred tax RZT—hF
assets at 31 +=ZA=+—H
December 2015 IR IBEE
FE 81,180
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EEH A (4F)

REIME - BEFBRRRA
EFBREAERBECES - T
AU WG AN RE 2 A EEN
2-RE+=A=+ - BELHE

BREZ A
HK$'000
BETT

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The following is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group at
31 December 2015 for financial reporting purposes:

23.

EHEAMBARRKRF

Net deferred tax assets recognised in

the consolidated statement of financial BRZELEHRIBEE
position 78,450
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in  fE43 & B AR &R &
the consolidated statement of financial HRZEEHBAE
position (84,963)
Net deferred tax assets included in the BIEEHEERZ
disposal group (note 11) BT IAEE (A 5211) 181,232
Net deferred tax liabilities included in the BIEEHEEBRZ
disposal group (note 11) B TBEAE R Z11) (93,539)
81,180
Deferred tax assets BEEMEEE
2014
T -F
Losses available
for offsetting Sales
against future Asset rebates
taxable profits provisions payables Others Total
Al AR K 8
AR PR FE R B F) & I
ZEBE  BEEEE BEANRE Hh w5t
HK$'000 HK$O00 HK$OOO HKEOOO  HKS'00O
BET T BT T BET T BT T BET T
At 1 January 2014 RZE—MNE
—R—A 5,397 151,572 140,003 21,452 318,424
Acquisition of a subsidiary Lz B O /8 2 )
(note 38) (Kt :£38) — 576 — — 576
Deferred tax credited to the A&NFERNE
statement of profit or loss BmikPitA
during the year ZRERIE 14,026 11,516 24,385 5,842 55,769
Exchange realignment VE 5, 3 B (31) (1.159) (947) (134) (2,271)
Gross deferred tax assets at RZ-Z—MUE+_F
31 December 2014 —t+—HZEE
MIEEEERE 19,392 162,505 163,441 27160 372,498
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

23. i3 1A ()

ELEHREAEE

2014
ik
Unrealised
losses from Revaluation Purchase
intragroup of rebates
transactions properties receivables Others Total
EEARSG
EEZ REH N
RERBIE WEMGLE ERHE Hit @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETr AB¥FTr AT
At 1 January 2014 RZT—MmF
—A—H 59,487 37,448 26,573 — 123,508
Fair value adjustments arising B Wi i B 2 7 2
from acquisition of a NFEEFE
subsidiary (note 38) (K1 7#38) — — — 2,920 2,920
Deferred tax charged/ REERNEETE R
(credited) to the FHB L (GEA)
statement of profit or ZIEER 1A
loss during the year 32,717 8,646 11,685 (62) 52,986
Deferred tax charged to REENER T
the statement of changes B2HERINBZ
in equity during the year iR AE 18 — 1,310 — — 1,310
Exchange realignment VE 55, 38 & (475) (241) (119) — (835)
Gross deferred tax liabilities ~ R-ZE—&E+—A
at 31 December 2014 =t+t—HZEE
RIEBEERE 91,729 47163 38,139 2,858 179,889
Net deferred tax credited KFEEARNEER K
to the statement of profit FETAZIEE
or loss during the year 18 5 (2,783)
Net deferred tax assets RZZT—WF+=A
recognised in the =+ —HEHE
consolidated statement of BRSO &
financial position at R IRERIE
31 December 2014 BEFHE 192,609




23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group’s tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$163,662,000 (2014: HK$153,330,000) which are
due to expire within five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the subsidiaries in which the
losses arose, have not been recognised as deferred
tax assets. These tax losses and certain deductible
temporary differences of HK$34,022,000 (2014:
HK$15,195,000) have not been recognised as deferred
tax assets since they have arisen in subsidiaries that
have been making losses for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement has
become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rates are 5%
or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2015, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it
is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
HK$987,993,000 at 31 December 2015 (2014:
HK$1,718,132,000).
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23. IBEHBIE(E)
AEBREFBHAEZRIEEEA
75 1163,662,0007T (—Z — P& ¢
7 #153,330,0007T) © A F 1? K
HEEEEZHB AR Z A KER
Fom Al - EBRAEFRER @ LR
BRBELERIBEE - ARNLER
HEBERE THHNREREEZEA
75 34,022,000 (=& — M4 :
75 #15,195,0007T) 73 2K B E 4 &
B—BERZMNB AR - I KiE
REBELEHREEE  URTEERE
1% 2R A B8 45 FE 2R it Jm Al DA 3K 85 7] B
AR IE B 18 o

BIER B SR E - FBARE
ZHBEEECEMIIRKESE D
K% S - 5 10% 2 B R Uk FE 40
FeZMER—_ZEZTN\F—HA—H
BEERTEAR-_ZZTLF+=
A=+—HZBELEZATF - W&
PR AERINEREEZHR S E
REREBEH S HE TEAZ
B EAI FRRIE - AEEZEB
i & B5%3510% ° B 7 &= F 78 51
EBFEEMAPEKREEZ B AR
H-_ZEZEN\F—HA—BRBREEXEZA
FlFT 2k T2 8% B &4 A R
it o

R-ZE—FRE+_A=1+—H " &
AN 2 B iz 1A AR B K BE 2 B B A A R
RRABHBRNZ M EMNR M
T WAREREMELERIE - ES
REEARLER  ZEWBAA
BTREDRZEF - R=ZFT—RF
+—A=+—H ERFEAEZ
MBARR R EEEcEREER
BE(EABREMELCHBEAR)
/& 7 987,993,000t (= Z — Y
£ : 7511,718,132,0007T) °
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23. EEHIH(F)
As at 31 December 2015, HK$93,539,000 deferred RZE-—RAF+=-A=+—8H"
tax included in the non-current liabilities of the EREAREAEED K IEEB
discontinued operation of the Group has been ERBAERRERELCR BB
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable 93,539,0007T ' A& EEH B A
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to HIF INBK A B B AR LE TS BT B A A
withholding taxes of the subsidiaries in the discontinued (eI B AR - MAmEFRBEA
operation of the Group established outside Mainland HEAMKZHRRESIERE - A&
China (the “Overseas Subsidiaries”) once distribution of B 5 ot i R B A AL F) - S4Bl
dividend to their shareholders incorporated in Mainland FEHE - EERE - BINMB AR
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is probable that 15 B] 88 PO B LR RAEH 3 AT 5 5
the Overseas Subsidiaries will distribute such earnings K °
in the foreseeable future.
There are no income tax consequences attaching RATMBRRZNZRE - T
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its BFEH®R -
shareholders.
24. INVENTORIES 24. &
2015 2014
—Z-8% —E-mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
Trading stock B5FE 812,451 6,175,416
25. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 25 HEME
2015 2014
—E-HE —T-F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At 1 January w—H—H 562,445 393,562
Additions NE 200,885 168,883
Transfers to completed EREREHEREN
properties held for sale WY (299,783) —
Exchange realignment IE 5 38 % (25,759) —
At 31 December RNt—-—A=1+—~H 437,788 562,445




25.

26.

27.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)

The Group’s properties under development are situated
in Mainland China and are held under medium term
leases.

At 31 December 2015, the Group's properties under
development with a carrying value of HK$205,450,000
(2014: Nil) were pledged to secure certain bank loans
of the Group (note 34(a)).

Further particulars of the Group’s properties under
development are included on page 271.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

The Group’s completed properties held for sale are
situated in Mainland China and are stated at cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
carrying amount of HK$85,727,000 (2014: Nil) of
the Group’s completed properties held for sale were
transferred to investment properties (note 13).

At 31 December 2015, certain items of the Group’s
completed properties held for sale with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$32,855,000 (2014: Nil) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to
the Group (note 34(a)).

Further particulars of the Group’s major completed
properties held for sale are included on page 272.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
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25. EEYE(E)

AEEZzERMEAMNRFTEAX
e WIARBBELNEE -

R-ZEBE—RE+=-_A=+—H K
S EER|E A8 205,450,000
(Z2E—UF BB ZEERMFEET
LAKHR - ERARSEERE TIRIT
B3k oz R (M 5234(@)) °

AEEERYMEZE-FFBERRE

MNE271E A °

26.

FIERERBMNRITME

AEEZFHFHERGNRTIYE
AR A B R BE - 3 LA B AN B 5

A o

REBEE_-_ZT —

AE+=-A=+

—BR - AEEEEEABEK
85,727,000 c (Z T — P4 : &) >
BEHERGNBRTYEDEES
& E W (K 5E15) °

R-ZEBE—RE+=-_A=+—H8 K
& Bl iR | 8 &% %32,855,0007T
—E-NFEE)CHEHEHERS
MZETYEETFUAER  EAEXE
EES—RBTEEZERE

34(a)) °

AEBRBEHERRNBIYEZ
E—TSHBRRENRE272ERA °

27. FEUER A & B E 1

2015 2014

—E—FF —Z—uF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Accounts and bills receivables JFE W BR 3R K FE I 4R 3,947,398 10,481,717
Impairment 1B (246,475) (879,794)
3,700,923 9,601,923




@ Digital China Holdings Limited 2015 Annual Report

Notes to Financial Statements B 75 3R 2= i &=
31 December 2015 —E—HAF+_-_H=+—H

27. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally 30 to 360 days, in which the credit period of
factoring and micro-credit loans in the New Business
Segment is generally 90 to 360 days. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by management. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s accounts and bills
receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its accounts receivable
balances. Accounts receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivables
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of impairment, is as follows:

7. FE W BR =R R FE W E R

(48)

AREBEZUEEFRBHERFE]
TR E—REeERFRFEN
FIE o EEH—H A30E360X -
HPHEB DB EERE RN
BEREBHEEH K AE90E360
X o NEBHE AR EWFHEE
MEEREZERE  YREEEEEE
M BREEERRREREK - &
BEe TR BHGRE - AEE
AEZEERFETANERRKE
MeE M hnsR{E EfE e o ER XA
aiE o BEE EASE 2 EUER K
HAESHZEFER  HEER
ST EF o EUBRRI EI B o

RBERR  HERBHFTERM
FRmER 2 BWERREEERE
ZERE DT :

2015 2014

—ZE—0F —E—MF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BYETT ST T

Within 30 days 30K 1,767,807 4,681,534
31 to 60 days 31E£60X 305,622 1,661,036
61 to 90 days B61Z90K 209,369 726,908
91 to 180 days 91£180XK 745,987 1,019,605
Over 180 days H @180k 672,138 1,512,840
3,700,923 9,601,923
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FE W BR 3 & K W E iR

27. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27.

(Continued)
The movements in provision for impairment of accounts
and bills receivables are as follows:

(4)
B LB R K B KSR R 2 BB R
ZEEHWT

2015 2014

—®-1F —EF-0EF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

At the beginning of year NN =) 879,794 921,998

Amount written off as RUCE 2 85

uncollectible k- (36,985) (81,450)

Impairment losses recognised HRZBEEIE 53,446 36,607
Impairment included in the BREEEEEE ZRE

disposal group (599,377) —

Exchange realignment PE 3% (50,403) 2,639

At the end of year RAREFE R 246,475 879,794

During the year ended 31 December 2014, included
in the above provision for impairment of accounts
receivables is a provision for individually impaired
accounts receivables of HK$47,067,000 with a carrying
amount before provision of HK$58,489,000.

The individually impaired accounts receivables related
to customers that were in financial difficulties or were
in default in both interest and/or principal payments
and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be
recovered.

The aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivables
that are not collectively considered to be impaired is
as follows:

REE-_Z—NWE+=-A=+—H
WEFER - A LS R BR X 2
ERGEREIKBENERERER
7 #58,489,0007T 2 1@ 5l & 4 B8R
K2 B B RS 47,067,000

JG °

& 5l FE W AR R 2 B TO R B P
REBIHBRRERERA B R, %
e NmE - BED B RR SR TR R
A g E e

TEEREEBRERRELER
B REDMAFRBOT

2015 2014

—E—HF —ZE—E

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired KREHARRE 2,771,052 8,462,710
Less than 30 days past due 8 HI D PRBOK 72,656 516,692
2,843,708 8,979,402
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27. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of
the balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.

Included in the Group’s accounts and bills
receivables are amounts due from joint ventures
and an associate of the Group of HK$1,4939,000
(2014: HK$43,349,000) and HK$179,000 (2014:
HK$1,802,000), respectively, which are repayable on
credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

Financial assets that are derecognised in their

entirety

At 31 December 2015, the Group endorsed certain
bills receivable accepted by reputable banks in the PRC
(the “Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers
in order to settle the accounts payables due to
such suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate
of HK$3,089,000 (2014: HK$370,047,000). The
Derecognised Bills have a maturity from one to
six months at the end of the reporting period. In
accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in
the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a
right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of
the directors, the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised
Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
accounts payables. The maximum exposure to loss from
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised
Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase
these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair
values of the Group’'s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills are not significant.

7. FE W BR =R R FE W E R

(48)

R B B RRE 2 & U iR R )
ZHETEFPER WREEOBY
B H R IR Z R % o

28R 1B I 8RB 2 18 U R K
DEETEYEFER ZFXFP
EAREEABRIFNEGRLE - 1R
BRELR ARREZRREH
REREHLERBFHRERE
ERRZEREFPZEELEYEE R
HEE R ER BRI R R IR A AT A 2 2K
Y[ o

AEEREKERMEREE S
BIEBURAEEZZEHAE £
M —MEEERR 2 KBS R A
#1,499,0007T (= Z — PO £F : /B #K
43,349,0007T) & 7% #179,0007T
(ZZ=—W4 : ##%1,802,0007T)
WEERDBBRETAEEEE
HEEZHEUEEKFEREE -

EEHARLBERACEHEE

R-ZBE—FAE+-_A=+—8" &K
SERNESTHESSETEHES
BORTEMANS TRKEE (K
IEERER])  LEERMNZE G
FERMEMEER  FEEAEAS
#3,089,0007t (=T — U4 : B
370,047,0007T) ° R R & B K -
RIIMEREENEREN T —Z
ANEA - MEFREEE  WxE
FEEITHER RIEBERZES
BASAEEHGERE(HEY
kD) - EEREB ASEEEEHR
R IEEREIREA RSG5 RR KD
e AL HEERIEFERZKILRE
REEMEERMNERNEZHER
B AEERFESRRIIERSE
B R BIBR FERERENRITIE
REenmES N RS EBERRES
REEEE - EFR5 - A&EE
BHERRITERERENATFEEL
TEK o



27.

28.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
Financial assets that are derecognised in their

entirety (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of
transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses
were recognised from the Continuing Invalvement, both
during the year or cumulatively.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

27.

28.
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FE W BR 3 & K W E iR

(48)

EEMRLEBR2EMEE

(%)

IEFER - RSB &R EEL
R AR TR - K%
0 4 3 45 4 2 2 AR AP P =

RitBas e

ARRIE - HERAEME
W+ I8

2015 2014
—E—REF —ET—F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
g3 BET T 7S ¥ F T
Current B
Prepayments AR 155,632 1,838,896
Due from contract customers [EWALHEF
Z A 29 646,727 463,838
Loans to joint ventures Aa g FEREM
ZE® 19 395,846 187,500
Deposits and other receivables & & & £ th JE Uk
A 385,368 1,192,865
1,583,573 3,683,099
Non-current FE 7 B
Prepayment for the acquisition E&A T {F AiE 2
of a land use right FE R IE 382,731 —
Prepayments for equity oA
investments SRR 256,746 —
639,477 —

None of the above assets is either past due or
impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balances relate to receivables for which there was no
recent history of default.

A EBEESEAIORE - FIA L
MESROTRHEERRTERINY
5 R B KRS B R UL KR -
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28.

29.

—HEF=H=+—§

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 28. FEffRIE - &R HtE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) W =K IE (48)
Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and RZZE—RF+-_H=+—8 B#
other receivables as at 31 December 2015 are (i) REBEZBNFHIE e RkAME
loans of HK$217,000,000 (2014: HK$125,000,000) Wk I8 A - (i) 78 #¥217,000,0007T
to joint ventures of the Group, which are unsecured, —F — Y £ : % ¥125,000,000
bears interest at rates ranged from 6% to 8% (2014: TABAAEEZHE & R ERME
9.50%) per annum and is repayable within one year B - RIEHR S ERLE
from the end of the reporting period; and (ii) loans of TR BFEATHE%ZEB% (=
HK$178,846,000 (2014: HK$62,500,000) to a wholly T —MF:9.50%) 2 F E&t 8 -
-owned subsidiary of the Group’s joint venture, Digital WK —FAEE ARG
China Technology Industry Investment Co., Ltd. (“DCTII"), 178,846,000 T (= & — M 4 : /%
which are secured by the entire interests of DCTII held #¥62,500,0007T) AR A& E & =
by another joint venturer of DCTIl, bears interest at TE%T‘W‘H%ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ@%?ﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
rates ranged from 15.10% to 16.15% (2014: 16.15%) ERARI(MEBRREZERED 22
per annum and is repayable within one year from the ERBEMBARIRHER - R&RE
end of the reporting period. HR 2EEFHABERREER
B2 R aBEENERFERGE
BEREEREN SRR ETER
ER - 8F1R1510%%16.15% (=
T—UF : 16.15%) 2 F| KT8 - &
BN —FANEE -
DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT 29 i (EfH)E&HEFZ
CUSTOMERS ;R IH
2015 2014
—E-—RF —
HK$°'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Gross amount due from contract & & A E b FE U 7%
customers included in other ZﬁuﬁlAﬁﬁxﬁ I
receivables 2 HBEE 646,727 463,838
Gross amount due to contract EET A B E FRIE
customers included in other ZERNEHEPHRIE
payables 2 #aE (185,712) (63,787)
461,015 400,051
Contract costs incurred plus Iﬁﬂfaﬁiz O
recognised profits less e R E ﬂﬂ
recognised losses to date EERERE 4,406,443 4,388,952
Less: Progress hillings B EE SRR (3,945,428) (3,988,801)
461,015 400,051
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30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. fTELFMTAH

Assets BE

Forward currency contracts REBEEEH

2015 2014
—E-hfF —Z—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
— 32,841

The Group has entered into various forward currency
contracts to manage its exchange rate exposures.
These forward currency contracts are not designated
for hedge purposes and are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Net fair value gains of
such derivative financial instruments amounting to
HK$6,276,000 were credited to the statement of profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: Nil).

The above transactions involving derivative financial
instruments are conducted with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

The Group entered into derivative financial instruments
with various counterparties, principally financial
institutions with good credit ratings. Derivative
financial instruments, including forward currency
contracts, were measured using valuation techniques
similar to forward pricing models, using present
value calculations. The models incorporated various
market observable inputs including the credit quality of
counterparty, foreign exchange spot and forward rates.
The carrying amounts of forward currency contracts
were the same as their fair values.

As at 31 December 2015, the marked to market
value of the derivative asset position is net of a
credit valuation adjustment attributable to derivative
counterparty default risk. The changes in counterparty
credit risk had no material effect on the hedge
effectiveness assessment for derivatives designated
in hedge relationship and other financial instruments
recognised at fair value.

REBEF L ZHRFEEEGHNE
BHEEXRR ZEHEEKEAL
SEASRAER - WIARAFEER
EEE A TIHESHIANATF
BB F Uk &= &5 %6,276,000 T 5
ARBZE_ZT—hFE+_A=+—
AltFERMBER(ZE—MF:
) o

/A

ERSRITESRIAZ X5 T8
8 B 47 I H 9 4 M0 R AR 88 7 3R
AT °

AEBETARZGHF(EERA
BEREGEFRZEBMBEBIL
TESRMIA - TESRIARRE
EZHMBERSL  NEBEUEHEER
B ERMZBRETE - 258
HEFAZHEMSABREZAE
BRRGUFZEATR EXZ
REBENREHE - EREBANZ
REEHESNREQFEE-

RZZT—AF+=-A=+—8 &
MEREZITEEERRTIIERT
ATARGHFEORREGE2E
EHEAE - XFUFEERARZ
SHUETBE AR IITETR
R FEERRZEMERTA
ZHHPUGEFELBEEATE -
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31. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

N RERBREFRURER

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

il £R 17 45 &R

2015 2014

—E-HF —E—mOF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Cash and bank balances R e RIR1T4 &% 3,197,300 3,864,524
Time deposits 7E B F R 144,566 255,033
3,341,866 4,119,557

Less: Restricted bank balances B SR IR 1T 45 fR (69,654) —
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEED 3,272,212 4,119,557

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
equivalents of the Group denominated in Renminbi
("RMB”) amounted to HK$2,960,038,000 (2014:
HK$3,923,610,000). The BMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day
and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

RBERR  NEBUARE(TA
RENEEZRERBELEEDE
H A& 75 #2,960,038,0007T (= &
— P4 : 5 13,923,610,0007T) °
ARBIBERHLBAEMEY
AT AR R R B K B 2 NEE B R
Bl R #EME - HEREESERT
ANEEE A BEREEITINGE
ER2RITHEARBEL B EEME
qqg, o

RITFERDRERARITERMEKIA
FBNRGFE - EHERERNE
RPE-—RE=BEAHETEF - &
AEBNERRSFLRME @ AR
FRAR & 19 55 HA 2 B3 13 KR & SR AR A
B o |RITHEMBRERI L EEART
SRS B R B ZIRTT o
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32. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLES 32. FEfT IR =R R FE 1 R 4R
An aged analysis of the accounts and bills payables as RB|BER  REZBHAFTHEEN
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice ERRENERZERITHT

date, is as follows:

2015 2014

—E-—AF —E—[UFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Within 30 days 30K 1,246,761 5,573,183
31 to 60 days 31E260X 245,030 2,181,120
61 to 90 days B1Z90K 108,376 1,020,765

Over 90 days B 3@90K 405,650 1,526,111
2,005,817 10,301,179
As at 31 December 2015, included in the Group’s R-EBE—FRAF+-_A=+—H ' &K
accounts and bills payables are amounts due to EERNERNENEESEORE
associates of the Group of HK$1,239,000 (2014: JENAEEZ ZRHEE Q5 ZKE
HK$478,000), which are repayable on credit terms A7 151,239,000t (ZE— M4 :
similar to those obtained from the major suppliers of 478,0007T) * W& TR B AR &
the Group. EFXrZHERMML T IEUGEER

IEE -

As at 31 December 2014, included in the Group’s R-ZTE—MNME+=—A=+—H ' ' &K
accounts and bills payables was an amount due to a EERNEREMENEESEORE
joint venture of the Group of HK$48,967,000, which ERAEE s —HaE ¥ ZRE
was repayable on credit terms similar to those obtained & 7B 48,967,000t * It 4 &2 Th
from the major suppliers of the Group. REAEBETEHEFMETZE

PUE B IR REE -

The accounts payables are non-interest-bearing and are ERBERATHE - —ARRI0E
normally settled within a period of 30 to 180 days. 180K BARNE A °
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33. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

33 HitEARIERTARE N

2015 2014
—E-RF —E-lEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

k3 BEET T BETT
Due to contract customers EREHRFEZFAE 29 185,712 63,787
Receipts in advance TE I BR 3K 840,791 1,362,003
Other payables H A FE S F0IB 569,269 983,717
Accruals TEIRE M 411,128 1,298,726
Payroll payables ENTE 200,151 206,236
Deferred income iR EUR A 12,087 106,376

Loan from a subsidiary of SEPEMBE AR

a joint venture RHIZER 19 35,769 —
Advance from a joint venture A& D E K 19 — 551
Advance from associates NS 20 26 38
2,254,933 4,021,434

Except for a loan from a subsidiary of a joint venture of
the Group included in the Group’s other payables with
an amount of HK$35,769,000 (2014: Nil) is unsecured,
bears interest at a rate of 4.6% per annum and is
repayable within one year, other payables are non-
interest-bearing and have an average term of three
months.

SrREREASBEEMEN KRB
35,769,0007t (ZZ — M4 : &) &
MAKBARECEZMBARREH#

ZER

ZERLEER  BFR

4B8%ZMEFE - WK —FRIE

BN

Ho Al B A SRIE X A FH LS R

KRFE=@ARERE -



34. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

Notes to Fin
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34. B RITER

2014
—E—mE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
L ¥k ERA=
(B2 L) A BETT (BH) 38A BEFT
Current b))
Bank loans, unsecured RITE - EER 0.05-6.09 2016 3,222,238 0.25-2.73 2015 5,510,139
Bank loans, secured RITER  BEA 5.06-5.64 2016 47,692 — — —
Current portion of long term REBAERZ RS
bank loans, unsecured 7 IR 1.67-2.41 2016 1,064,848 2.83 2015 1,550,000
4,334,778 7,080,139
Non-current *RE
Bank loans, unsecured RITER - |ER 2.34-5.06 2018-2020 775,000 1.67-2.41 2016 1,064,848
Bank loans, secured RITER - BEA 5.64-6.48 2017-2025 1,401,903 — — —

2,176,903 1,084,848
6,511,681 8,124,987
2015 2014
—z-ng e RNES
HK$’'000 HK$'000
B¥ETR BT T
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: EEBERTENR:
Within one year —FR 4,334,778 7,060,139
In the second year FE-FERN 107,308 1,084,848
In the third to fifth years, E=FEERF
inclusive (BEEEMSE) 1,389,980 —
Beyond five years FERF LA 679,615 —
6,511,681 8,124,987
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34. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) Mortgages over the buildings had an aggregate
carrying value at the end of the reporting period of
HK$427,632,000 (2014: Nil);

(i) Mortgage over the land use right had an aggregate
carrying value at the end of the reporting period of
HK$100,344,000 (2014: Nil);

(iii) Mortgages over investments properties had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of HK$1,305,524,000 (2014: Nil);

(iv) Mortgages over completed properties held for sale had
an aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of HK$32,855,000 (2014: Nil);

v) Mortgages over proportion under development had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of HK$205,450,000 (2014: Nil).

At 31 December 2015, except for the bank borrowings
of HK$650,000,000 (2014: HK$1,474,127,000),
HK$2,945,619,000 (2014: HK$6,650,860,000) and
HK$673,582,000 (2014: Nil) are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars and EURO dollars, respectively,
the remaining bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

34. BB RITER (&)

At

(a)

(b)

A& E

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

n=

ETRITERBATELA :

RBERREREEAES
#427,632,0007T (= — M
FE)ZBTIRER

REEHREREEER
100,344,0007t (= & — I
FoE)Z DB AR
#

RBEHARBEMEREBE
1,305,524,0007t (== — /1
Fom)ZIREYEEER

RERERAREEGRE B
32,885,0007T (= Z — Y4 :
EIZREHERRNETY
E (=i

REEHREREEER
205,450,000t (= & — ™
R ZERYRELRR -

Z-—RF+_RA=+—H »

7l & 7 #650,000,0007C (= & —

m o

7 #1,474,127,0007T) - #

#¥2,945,619,0007T (= T — [ 4F :
7 ¥6,650,860,0007T) Nk B #
673,582,000t (ZE — M4 : &) 2
SBITERUBE T - ETRBRELS
B #BTRITERUAARKTE -
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. k&
Shares Bz 15

2015 2014

—E-1f —T-mF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BET T

Authorised: EE:
2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000
(2014: 2,000,000,000) ordinary B (=E—eE

shares of HK$0.1 2,000,000,000f% )
(2014: HK$0.1) each FREEBE0IT
(ZZ—mFE: B

017L) 2 LB 200,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid: BETRBEBKRAK:
1,096,365,581 1,096,365,581
(2014: 1,093,738,581) ordinary (=T — e

shares of HK$0.1 1,093,738,581 %)
(P014: HK$0O.1) each FREESB0T
(ZZ—ME: B

01) 2 LB 109,637 109,374
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Shares (Continued)

35.

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued

share capital

and share premium account during

the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is as

B & (48)
B 4 (48)
REE-_Z—AFE_F—NF+
“A=+—HIEFER  XRAH
BE T IR K iR 10 5 18 BR & B 2t

follows: I
Number of Share
ordinary shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
21T
ZEREE CEBROTRE ROBER Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFT BT T BETFT
At 1 January 2014, 31 RZZT—mMFE—A—A8 -
December 2014 and —E-NE+ZA=1+—H
1 January 2015 rk=—Z—hF¥—H—H 1,093,738,581 109,374 2,060,433 2,169,807
Exercise of share options (note] 1715 B R % (41 i) 2,627,000 263 20,047 20,310
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RH%F
+=ZA=+—H 1,096,365,581 108,637 2,080,480 2,180,117

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the subscription
rights attaching to 2,627,000 share options were exercised
at a subscription price of HK$5.89 per share, resulting in
the issue of a total of 2,627,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1
each for a total cash consideration, before expenses,
of HK$15,473,000. An amount of HK$4,837,000 was
transferred from the employee share-based compensation
reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of
the share options.

Share-based incentive schemes

Details of the Company’s share option schemes and
restricted share award scheme are included in note
36 to the financial statements.

Hit: REBE-ZE-—HAF+=—A=+—AL
FEER - 2,627,000 f B 2 §E #
ZEREAE R A ES.89T 2 RE
BETE - ALt - 452,627,000
i% & 3% B 7S #04T 2 AR A
RS NREAKREBERN ABE
15,473,0007C T LAZE1T o R AERRE
BATERE - & 845 #4,837,0007T
WeBEAUROIHFREEZH S
EEEBEEROBER -

% fE 2 B 51 &

BB RR B S R X R B
1D ER BT B A FEIB B I BT TS 3R 3%
I 5E36 °



36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(a)

Share Option Schemes
The Company operates two share option schemes.
One of the share option schemes was adopted

on 18 July 2002

(the “2002 Share Option

Scheme”) and the other share option scheme was
adopted on 15 August 2011 (the “2011 Share
Option Scheme”) (the 2002 Share Option Scheme
together with the 2011 Share Option Scheme,
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Share
Option Schemes”).

The principal terms of the Share Option Schemes
are as follows:

n

(1

Purpose

The Share Option Schemes seek to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions
or potential contributions made or to be
made by the qualified persons (as defined
below) to the Group, to motivate the qualified
persons to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
and to maintain or attract business
relationships with the qualified persons
whose contributions are or may be beneficial
to the growth of the Group.

Gualified persons

Any part-time or full-time employee or
officer or director (including executive, non-
executive or independent non-executive
directors) of any member of the Group or
of any associated company, or any supplier,
agent, customer, joint venture partner,
strategic alliance partner, distributor,
professional adviser of, or consultant or
contractor to, any member of the Group,
or the trustee of any trust pre-approved by
the board of directors of the Company the
beneficiary (or in case of discretionary trust,
the discretionary objects) of which includes
any of the above-mentioned persons.
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36. B H#E 3 Bt &l

(a)

BRESTE
KRFEA W EERERE -
Hf—EBRESER=Z
T-F+ATNRB(ZEZE=
FHBREFSEDERN M5
—EEREFE R ——
FENATHAB(ZZE——F8
fREEDHER( T
EREFESR T ——FE
PREFEIETXHRBAIER
HETED o

BREAENE2ERET

M Bay

BRI ERRAR
EHEEBMAL(ER
RTXERNKBATE
e 2 ERIKA]
BEZER BUHBA
BRALTRAKEZF
SRS RKBER RS RS
LR W MR AR
HEEMALNELEH
% AEBALOER
EZEYAREONEEHE
FY B o

n BEE&EAL
AEBEERAIKE AR
(S CIN: RNl P e Gl
B RBREEISMA
BEREZ(EEANT
FERITHBLIEAITE
5) AKEEMKE
AR ZEMHER - K
B-EP -AERH
RESHEBBEMN - D
B BXREAALER
SAEBE  AARAE
EgRAHEMTRA
BELEREMALTZE
=7t (i B 2R
fEAlSEEREENY
RIZEFEA
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36. SHARE-BASED
(Continued)
(a) Share Option S

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

chemes (Continued)

) Maximum number of shares
The maximum number of shares available for

issue under

was 86,303
Share Optio
which

represent 7.86%

the 2002 Share Option Scheme
,308 and that under the 2011
n Scheme was 109,206,058,
and 9.94% of

ordinary shares in issue of the Company
as at the date of approval of the financial
statement respectively.

(i

person

Maximum entitlement of each qualified

The maximum number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Schemes
and any other share option schemes of the

Company to

each qualified person (including

both exercised and outstanding options) in

any 12-mont!

h period shall not exceed 1% of

the shares of the Company then in issue. Any

further gran

t of share options in excess of

this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval

in a general

meeting of the Company.
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36. SHARE-BASED

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)
(a) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(IV] Maximum entitlement of each qualified

(V)

person (Continued)

Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or any of their respective
associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors of the
Company (except when the independent non-
executive director is the grantee of such
options).

Any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates must, in
addition to obtaining the approval of the
independent non-executive directors of the
Company, be approved by the shareholders
of the Company in a general meeting if
such proposed grant of share options,
when aggregated with all options (whether
exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to such substantial shareholder or
independent non-executive director during
the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant of options, would (i)
entitle that relevant person to receive more
than 0.1% of the total issued share capital
of the Company for the time being; and (ii)
represent an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 based on the closing price
of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange at the date of such grant.

Timing for exercise of options

The period during which an option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Schemes shall be the
period set out in the relevant offer letter,
provided that such period must expire on
the date falling on the tenth anniversary of
the offer date.
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36. SHARE-BASED

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)
(@) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(V] Acceptance of offers

(Vi)

An offer of the grant of an option shall be
accepted by the grantee on or before the
last date for acceptance of such offer as set
out in the relevant offer letter, which must
not be more than 28 business days from
the relevant offer date. A consideration of
HK$1.00 shall be received by the Company
on acceptance of each offer.

Basis for determination of the

subscription price

The subscription price shall be the highest
of (a) the closing price of the shares on the
offer date; (b) the average of the closing
prices of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date;
or (c) the nominal value of a share.

(VIll) Life of Share Option Schemes

The 2002 Share Option Scheme and 2011
Share Option Scheme shall remain valid
and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from 18 July 2002 and 15
August 2011, respectively, being the dates
on which such schemes were deemed to
take effect in accordance with their terms.
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36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES 36. IR+ BEsHE|(8)

(Continued)
(a) Share Option Schemes (Continued) (a) HBIRESTE(E)
The following table shows the movements TREINEZZEZ-_FER
in the share options under the 2002 Share EETETHERERRNEEA
Option Scheme during the year and the options 2B AERFVNRER
outstanding at the beginning and end of the year: M AR AT 0 2 B AR #E
Number of share options
BRE%E
Outstanding ~ Granted  Exercise ~ Lapsed Outstanding  Subscription
as at during the during the during the as at price per
Grantee 1/1/2015 year year year 31/12/2015 share  Date of grant Exercisable period
WoB-1% R-2-3%
-B-B XEER AEER AFER TZAZt-H
ARA LESES i 1 F3:¢ HRTE SRARE RHEH A
(HKS)
(B%7T)
[note iif) [note ] [note i)
(# i) (i) (#ritii)
Directors &=
GUO Wei ) 960,000 — (960,000) - - 589  21/05/2008 21/05/2008-20/05/2016
LIN Yang i 1,000,000 — (1,000,000) - - 589  21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
YAN Guorong EEES 125,000 — (125,000 - - 589  21/05/2008 21/05/2008-20/05/2016
YAN Guorong BEX 668,000 - - - 668,000 15.04 11/01/2011  11/01/2012-10/01/2019
Other employees HitES 2,717,000 — (542,000 - 2,175,000 589  21/05/2008 21/05/2008-20/05/2016
3,487,000 - — (177000) 3,310,000 15.04 11/01/2011  11/01/2012-10/01/2019

In aggregate Eh 8,957,000

(2,627,000) (177000) 6,153,000
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36. SHARE-BASED

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The subscription price of the options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

(i) All options granted are subject to a vesting period of
four years with 25% becoming exercisable on the first
anniversary, 25% on the second anniversary, 25% on
the third anniversary and 25% on the fourth anniversary
of the respective dates of grant.

(iii) The weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share options exercised during the year was
HK$8.597 per share (2014: Nil).

(iv) No options were granted and cancelled under the 2002
Share Option Scheme during the year.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders
to dividends or to vote at general meetings.

Since the adoption of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme, no options were granted, lapsed or
cancelled under the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The fair values of the share options granted during
the prior years amounted to HK$53,000,000,
of which the Group recognised share option
expenses of HK$34,000 (2014: HK$1,401,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES
(Continued)

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The fair values of the share options granted under
the 2002 Share Option Scheme were estimated
as at the dates of grant, using a binomial model,
taking into account of the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

(a)
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36. B #E 3 BT 81 (&)

BRESEGAE)

E-_ZT_SBEREFET
IRt AFEED
RERREERRA-ZER

CEVIS

EPCA R ERE

2R BRI R AR - TR
SRR BRE 2 BB E #

Granted on: 11 January 2011 21 May 2008

% —BENE
RHR: —At+—8 EA=+—H
Dividend vyield (%) 3.5 per annum 3.5 per annum
REE(BADL) FE35 F435
Expected volatility (%) 48 per annum 45 per annum
FEHIRE (D) G 48 FF45
Historical volatility (%) 48 per annum 45 per annum
BEKE(EDL) 548 FF45
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.1 per annum 2.6 per annum
EREBRANE(AD L) FE21 FF2.6
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 14.98 5.89

g (E (B BE® )
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36. SHARE-BASED

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the
historical data over the past three years and is
not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had
6,153,000 (2014: 8,957,000) share options
outstanding under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of
6,153,000 (2014: 8,957,000) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$615,000 (2014: HK$8396,000)
and share premium of HK$72,025,000 (2014:
HK$89,879,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Company had 4,077,000 share
options outstanding under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 0.37%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

36. B #E 3 BT 81 (&)

(a)

B8 BB FE 3T B ()

W AR 2 TR R BB
E=EyBEERNE £
YRR ME 2 B -
T 50 500 I R 2 AL T R 2
BIE K B IR R R RS
e 1R B TR 4 B IS Ak AR
7o

RETERAFEERILEFA
AR ERENEMEE -

R=ZZFE—RAF+=A=+—
B ARERE_ZTZT_F
08 % % 51 8] T A£6,153,000
B ZE—mE+=A=+—
H : 8,957,000/ ) B A% 4 i
KRITHE - RIBARA R IR
BARZEE 2T EERE
1% %8 B 58 S 3% 176,153,000
f% (== — /0 4 : 8,957,000
%) A7) 38 AR % {5 AR AN 3%
$n76 #615,0007C (— = — MM
£ ¢ 3% #896,0007T) © M K&
H IR 78 #72,025,0007T (=
T — N4 : 5 #89,879,000
TO) M BR 15 i B (RN B 2 1T
) o

EhETBHRER 2IER -
AT HEAEA,077,0000 =
T _FEREEIET
RITEzERE HEAR
NAEEETRMA0.837% °



MBI ERAR 20156 ] @

Notes to Financial Statements 815 %k 7% i3
31 December 2015 —E— A+ -_HA=+—H

36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES 36. By HER Bt 2I(48)

(Continued)

(b)

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Company’s RSA Scheme was adopted on 28
March 2011 for the purpose of rewarding and
motivating, among others, directors (including
executive and non-executive) and employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Participants”)
with the shares of the Company. The RSA Scheme
is intended to attract and retain the best available
personnel, and encourage and motivate the
Participants to work towards enhancing the value
of the Group and the Company’s shares by aligning
their interests with those of the shareholders of
the Company.

Pursuant to the RSA Scheme, existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by the trustee
of the RSA Scheme from the market out of
cash contributed by the Group and be held in
trust for the relevant Participants until such
shares are vested with the relevant Participants
in accordance with the provisions of the RSA
Scheme. The shares of the Company granted
under the RSA Scheme and held by the trustee
until vesting are referred to as the RSUs and
each RSU shall represent one ordinary share of
the Company.

No RSUs were granted to the Participants during
the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2015.

A total number of 325,000 RSUs lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2014 and totally
5,993,718 RSUs vested in September 2014
because of fulfilment of certain performance
targets under the RSA Scheme.

(b)
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36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES
(Continued)

(b)

Restricted Share Award Scheme

(Continued)

The fair values of the RSUs granted were
calculated based on the market price of the
Company’s shares at the respective grant dates.
The expected dividend yield of 3.5% per annum
and the risk-free interest rates ranging from
0.633% to 1.154% per annum have been taken
into account when assessing the fair value of
these RSUs.

The weighted average fair value of the RSUs
granted during the year ended 31 March 2012
was HK$12.53 per share. The Group reversed
RSU expenses of HK$21,530,000 into the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2014 because
the performance and/or service conditions for
the RSU granted to certain employees are not
fulfilled.

37. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 85 to 86 of the financial statements.

Reserve funds

Reserve funds are reserves set aside in accordance
with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to the
Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China. These reserve
funds can be used to offset accumulated losses but
are not be distributable in the form of cash dividends.

36. B #E 3 BT 81 (&)

(b) PRI 1D 2R B =t &) ()

ERFIZBEHBROHATE
BEREBEAAFBRGOREE
LHABNTENE - RFTEX
BHBEOOAFEEBERBES S
BFEAREEXAEETFIENR
= B\ Al = AT 5§ F0.633%
Z1154% °

REBEE—ZT——F=A=1+—
BIEFER  ERHOZRES
R mEFHSRFEEE
FRE #1253 - REE—
T—FE+=—A=+—HIEF
ER - BAZZR RGO ES
FETEINKRR K HIR
HIEHEREEZ AEEER
BRABRRNERBEZRE
1 B% 17 B 52 78 # 21,530,000
=

37. i
FEBRAEER FEEIRER
ERZEHSE 2R SRR
Z8SE E8EE Y A RABHE
ﬁq °

HEES
REEE/ASERPEANEZ
B AT R EAREREL 2
e ZEHRBES AT MAEERG
BE - BTEAREBEZTAD
i



38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

On 22 July 2014 and 20 August 2014, Digital
China Information Service Company Ltd. (“DCIS”), an
indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a share purchase agreement and related
supplemental acquisition agreements (collectively
the “Acquisition Agreements”) with the shareholders
of Beijing Zhongnong Xinda Information Technology
Limited (“Zhongnong Xinda®), pursuant to which
the shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda (“the Original
Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda®) agreed to sell
and DCIS agreed to acquire 100% equity interests in
Zhongnong Xinda (the “Acquisition”). Zhongnong Xinda is
a private company with limited liability established under
the laws of the PRC and is principally engaged in the
rural information related services. The total purchase
consideration was settled by:

(a) issuance of 20,520,227 new shares of DCIS
to the Original Shareholders of Zhongnong
Xinda (the “Zhongnong Xinda Consideration
Shares”). After completion of the issuance of
the Zhongnong Xinda Consideration Shares, the
equity interests in DCIS held indirectly by the
Company was reduced from 45.17% to 43.12%.
The Zhongnong Xinda Consideration Shares were
listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited
on 25 December 2014. The fair value of the
issued Zhongnong Xinda Consideration Shares was
HK$846,460,000 which was determined using
the valuation technigue and is under Level 2 of
the fair value measurement; and

(b) cash of RMB213,000,000, which was raised from
issuance of 7,171,717 new shares (the “Placing
Shares”) at RMB33 per share (the “Placement”).
After completion of the issuances of the Placing
Shares, the equity interests in DCIS held indirectly
by the Company was further reduced from
4312% to 42.44%. The Placing Shares were
listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited
on 13 January 2015.
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 38 BHEXI EERIELSZIE

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

As part of the Acquisition, DCIS also entered into
a profit compensation agreement and related
supplemental profit compensation agreements
(collectively the “Zhongnong Xinda Profit Compensation
Agreements”) with the Original Shareholders of
Zhongnong Xinda, pursuant to which the Original
Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda agreed to pay a cash-
based compensation or a share-based compensation or
a combination of cash-based compensation and share-
based compensation to DCIS if there is any shortfall
between the cumulative actual net profit and the
cumulative committed net profit of Zhongnong Xinda for
the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and each
of the financial years ending 31 December 2015 and
2016. The payment methods would be fully decided by
the Original Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda.

The compensation for each of the relevant financial
years shall be calculated based on any shortfall between
the projected net profits of Zhongnong Xinda for each
of the financial years ended 31 December 2014 and
2015, and the financial year ending 31 December 2016
and the actual net profits of Zhongnong Xinda for each
of these financial years.

As at 31 December 2014 and 2015, no compensation
from the Original Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda is
considered necessary to be recognised in relation to
the Zhongnong Xinda Profit Compensation Agreements.
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

As part of the Acquisition Agreements, DCIS committed
to give rewards to the certain management who
were also the existing shareholders of Zhongnong
Xinda (the “Management Shareholders”) if certain
predetermined performance conditions are fulfilled
which included but not limited to (1) the cumulative
actual net profit exceeds the cumulative committed
net profit of Zhongnong Xinda for the financial year
ended 31 December 2014 and each of the financial
years ending 31 December 2015 and 2016; and (2)
the Management Shareholders do not resign from
Zhongnong Xinda as at 31 December 2017. The
rewards, which are considered as remuneration to
the Management Shareholders, are calculated based
on 50% of the surplus between the cumulative actual
net profits and the cumulative committed net profit
(the “Surplus®), should be accrued based on the best
estimation of the Surplus at every financial year end
of 2014, 2015 and 2016 in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

As at 31 December 2015, HK$4,480,000 (2014: Nil)
is accrued in relation to the expected rewards to be
given to the Management Shareholders.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s equity interests
in DCIS held indirectly by the Company was 42.44%
(2014: 42.44%), the Group still retained its rights to
nominate three out of the six non-independent directors
of the board of directors of DCIS. Taking into account
of the Group’s power to participate in the operational
and financial activities of DCIS, distribution of key
shareholders and their beneficial shareholders as well
as historical voting patterns, and the existence of any
contractual arrangement among the shareholders and/
or their beneficial shareholders, if any, the directors of
the Company are of the view that the equity holdings
in DCIS are dispersed in a way that other shareholders
have not organised and the practical risk to organise
their holdings to outvote the Group in the shareholders’
meeting of DCIS is remote so that the Group can
still exercise more voting power than the minority
shareholders. Therefore, the directors of the Company
are of the view that the Company still retains de facto
control over DCIS. Further details are included in note
3 to these financial statements.
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EFgREANEEBCEEFH=
& - ZREAEERENSTE L
ZEBRMEEES RS - R
BERFEEZI=BRENDE RiBE
M ERRN - ARBEERRE
KEZZZBRRZBEHFEETAEL
ZH(NE) RRRIEERE 1
15 B R R L= D AR R &
ERIAZBRBAAREERBTHER
BREHFZAZHNERRERRERD -
R A KB r] LATT 5 b D 8RR 3R
BEMERE Bt ARFEER
RARBHBEEEHEEEE LR
T o FABNBEE M EN
HME M EES o
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 38 BHEXI EERIELSZIE

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING NEEMBATE(E)
INTERESTS (Continued)

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material REERFERER 2 ANEEE
non-controlling interests are set out below: NAZFBEET

2015 2014
—E—FHF —ET—mF

Percentage of equity interest held 3FIERREREA X

by non-controlling interests: BEBDLL:
DCIS B R 57.56% 57.56%

2015 2014
—E-EF —T-OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BRI

Profit for the year allocated to DER IR E S

non-controlling interests: ZAREE A

DCIS and its subsidiaries BIEEEREWE QR 202,741 197,989
Accumulated balances of non- R¥REHA 2 FE IR =

controlling interests at the B 25T ERER

reporting date:
DCIS and its subsidiaries 74 185 AR 765 Ko EL B B 2 7] 2,316,521 2,200,984

i
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 38 B¥EEXI EERERZE

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

5 A M B A 5] ()
TRIRAEE Lt AR 2 A
BAKEES - REMEBERAED
AZEHN NS ERE

DCIS and its subsidiaries

BWEEEREWEAT
2015 2014
—E-hF —Z— 04
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue FEE N 8,200,071 8,178,632
Total expenses gk (1,255,947) (1,069,015)
Profit for the year REF E 5 F 423,624 351,457
Total comprehensive income for REE2EKS
the year B 241,706 323,238
Current assets mEE E 7,029,498 6,149,272
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,745,013 1,827,207
Current liabilities mBBEE 4,840,695 3,999,453
Non-current liabilities ERBARE = 300,000
Net cash flows from operating REZEMIS
activities WemEF58 93,455 628,917
Net cash flows used in investing HEEBFA
activities WemE 58 (43,533) (410,315)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mE RS, (FTA)
financing activities WeimE F58 161,407 (14,290)
Net increase in cash and cash HERREEEY
equivalents 1 nF EE 211,329 204,312
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION 39. ¥ &6

In July 2014, DCIS, an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the acquisition
agreement for the acquisition of the 100% equity
interest in Zhongnong Xinda. Further details are
included in note 38 to these financial statements.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities

R-ZFE—MFLH ARARZRHEE
FEEWBRREBEBLEE
195 58 W 8 7 = (5 3Z W9 100% A% # -
AABREREEEM S RERWE
38 -

REBEHPREEZENAIZRIEE

of the Zhongnong Xinda as at the date of acquisition REBEZATFEBENET:
were as follows:

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

RKERFERZ

AEEE

Notes HK$’000

k3 BT T

Property, plant and equipment mE - WE MR 14 3,829

Other intangible assets BEfmEEE 18 19,375

Available-for-sale investments AHEEZRE 25

Deferred tax assets RIETIA & &= 23 576

Inventories FE 839

Accounts and bills receivables JE W BR R K e W R 1R 114,379
Prepayments, deposits and other FERNFIE - EER

receivables H b fE W 5K I8 6,195

Cash and cash equivalents RekReZEED 6,866

Accounts and bills payables FE R R R BN R (35,296)

Other payables and accruals HMENREBERERER (16,617)

Tax payable JE @7 1E (17,267)

Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 23 (2,820)
Total identifiable net assets A B EEFREL

at fair value NFEE 79,984

Goodwill on acquisition AWEEErzEmE 17 1,032,726

Satisfied by: AR
— cash — BE 266,250
— issuance of shares — BEITRMD 846,460
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 39. ¥ & 6(8\)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the ERABBRREGEEZHERENN
acquisition of Zhongnong Xinda is as follows: T
HK$'000
BB T T
Cash consideration B REB (266,250)
Other payables on behalf of the Original HMENRIEBEARETREERE
Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda AR = 51,593
Cash and cash equivalents acquired TR RReEEY 6.866
Net outflow of cash and cash AAREESH
equivalents included in cash flows RenEgnRe &
from investing activities ReEBY R F5E (207,791)
Since its acquisition, Zhongnong Xinda and its BREE DREERBE_T—
subsidiaries contributed HK$37,919,000 to the Group’s MEF—_A=+T—HIEFEREXE
revenue and HK$12,457,000 to the consolidated profit B = & 5 5% 37,919,000 &
for the year ended 31 December 2014. #R A F) % #12,457,0007T °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning HMEHRERZZE—HFENEE K
of 2014, the revenue from operations of the Group SEREZE_ZT—WHF+_H=T
and the profit of the Group for the year ended 31 —BIEFE2WARERE = 5D 5
December 2014 would have been HK$68,482,904,000 1% 578 #68,482,904,000T & 7

and HK$952,584,000, respectively. ¥ 952,584,000t °
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40. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 40. H £ B 2 5
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group RE&EE_FTE-—RF+=-A=1+—H
entered into the a share transfer agreement for the EFEAR AEEEE—MHRHHE
disposal of its equity interest in a subsidiary for a total EHREHE—RMB AR ZIRHE -
considerations of HK$62,300,000. (B £ A5 ¥62,300,0007T °
Details of the net assets disposed of under the share BERNEZDZMINEEEE
transfer agreement and the financial impacts are FERAEVBZEMARNT

summarised below:

31 December

2015
—E-—AF
+=HA=+-—H
Notes HK$’000
M &t BET T
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE:

Property, plant and equipment W - WENEE 14 452

Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - Ze REAMER
receivables ;B 61,802
Cash and cash equivalents ReELREEED 11
62,265
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HIBAR 2 E 5 35
62,300

Satisfied by cash XNRER S 62,300




40. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
An analysis of the cash inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary
is as follows:
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40. HEMB AT (E)
HE—RNBRARIZRENBEE
EMRAFEZONOAT :

31 December

2015
—E—hF
+=ZA=+—8H
HK$’000
BT
Cash consideration ReRE 62,300
Cash and cash equivalents ERERERASCEED
disposed of (11)
Net inflow of cash and cash HE—MWBARZ
equivalents in respect of the RekReF
disposal of a subsidiary BY)m A F58 62,289

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had
no material contingent liabilities.

BAREMR
R_B-AFR-F—MF+=f
=t+—B ARELEEARAR

(I

41.
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note
15 to the financial statements) under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms of ranging from one to ten years. The
terms of the leases generally also require the
tenant to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

42 BEHELHE

(a)

EREEA
AEBRBELEHERHD
THE % & ¥ 5 (L B 75 S 5k B
i£15) - A E MO HE R T
—E+F - HAOKKRBETS
ERBEPXMNRES X7
A& iR 1% JE I T O E B R
B -

R_TE—AFE+=_A=+—
H BEASEEREBEFE
R A EEHE - 5
W E 2 R R =K E T
;T

2015 2014

—E2-1F —EF-0F

HK$°'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Within one year —F RN 65,765 22,422
In the second to fifth years, FFEEERF

inclusive (BREEREME) 169,081 73,815

After five year EFERF 22,871 17,719

257,717 113,956




42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office
properties and warehouses under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties and
warehouses are negotiated for terms ranging
from six months to ten years.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:
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42 EEHELHE)

(b) EABEHEA
AEERELEHELHM
EERTHAEMERER -
ek ERALHRE
AFRNERAETF -

RZZE—RAF+ZA=+—
B RERTTAHEZL
EHE  AEERAQAREH
BIXMZARZERERNK

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years, E-FEENF
inclusive (BEEEME)

PUNNE
2015 2014
—E—EF —ZE—E
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
111,434 100,081
66,646 52,136

178,080 152,217
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43. COMMITMENTS 43. #k iE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed B E X sTdom) st e &
in note 42(b) above, the Group had the following capital ZHN RBER  AEBEL
commitments at the end of the reporting period: LA & 2N A HE

2015 2014
—E-hfF —ZT—uF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Contracted, but not provided for: T 2418 KRB :

Land and buildings Ty R AEF 288,985 651,073
Capital contributions payable to mEEeEhtE

joint ventures EE 91,474 10,313
Capital contributions payable to BEAR TN

associates AE 26,231 —
Capital contributions payable [ —fAl

to an available-for-sale AfHEZ

investment RELTE 3,577 31,250

410,267 692,636
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with related parties (a)
In addition to the transactions and balances
detailed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group had the following material transactions
with related parties:

44 FHEANTR S
HEBA+TIRS

% b B 75 3R 25 H 4 2645 BT 2
P2 R EXSRESN K
EEEUTEAEMEAT
2R

2015 2014
= it Sk
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it BETT BETT
Digiwin Software Co., Ltd.* and its subsidiaries, FEECHERR  SEAHRA
associates of the Group: BERAARERBAR:
Provision of IT services by the Group KEBREITRYE 0} 2,910 6,243
Beijing Zhuoyue Xin Electronic Co., Ltd.", an associste ~ A£EZBALNE  tFEHER
of the Group: ETRHARAG:
Provision of IT services to the Group RIREE R E TR 0} 1,082 -
Digital China Chengdu Sobey Science & Technology FREZEERE  RAWMEE
Company Limited", a joint venture of the Group: ZEMRERLA:
Sales of goods and provision of IT services FEEHEZENR
by the Group RETRR TS (i), (i) 2,389 10,921
Purchases of goods by the Group rEBBEZEN ) 2,487 9,254
Interest income of a loan BRZHEMA iv) 391 1,486
China Information Development Co., Ltd, a joint venture ~ AEE7AS0% - BEMIES
of the Group: BRERLA:
Sales of goods and provision of IT services AEEHEZENR
by the Group RETRHE (. (i 38,446 -
Chongging Digital China HC Microfinance Co., Ltd., FREZRERE BEENMEE
a joint venture of the Group: ERNEERERAR:
Sales of goods and provision of IT services FEEHEZENR
by the Group RETRE (i), (i) 15,877 -
Interest income of a loan ERZMEMA ) 4,769 -
China-Thai Information Services (Beijing) Co., Ltd.", FREZRERE WNHRES
a joint venture of the Group: BB (R BRAA:
Sales of goods and provision of IT services FEEHEZENR
by the Group GRS (i), (i) 9,213 -
Weihai Wisdom Northern Information Technology Co., ~ ASEZA%M%  BERELE
Ltd*, a joint venture of the Group: BEERMARAR:
Sales of goods and provision of IT services AEEHEZENR
by the Group RETRE (i), (i) 5,403 -
Suzhou Digital China JieTong Technology Co., Ltd.*, a joint ~ KEEZASME - BMNEE
venture of the Group: RENRBRAR:
Sales of goods and provision of IT services FEEHEZENR
by the Group RETRS (i), (i) = 4,927
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44.

(Continued)
(@) Transactions
(Continued)

with

Digital China Technology Industry Investment Co., Ltd."
and its subsidiary, joint ventures of the
Group:

Interest income of loans

Beijing China New Energy Co., Ltd.", a joint venture of
the Group:

Interest income of a loan

FEALRXS(E)

related parties (a) EEEEALZRZ(E)
2015 2014
—E-1f —ZT-mE
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
i3 BETT BRETL
FEEZAELE  BHEBEHE
EEREBEREAAH
LEWBAR:
ERZHERA (iv) 25,135 23515
FEEz A4S
ERENIERER AR
BRzMalmA (i) 7,380 5,875

Notes:

B et

0]

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

The prices for the provision of IT services/services were
determined at rates mutually agreed between the Group
and the corresponding related parties.

The sales were made with reference to the listed price
and conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

The purchases were made at prices mutually agreed
between the Group and the corresponding related
parties.

The interest income is calculated with reference to
market interest rates.

The English names of these companies are direct
transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

REITIRTS, R 2 BRIIIR
BASEEEMEEALE
77 1% FE T EE TE e

S HETIRB AR E R E
ERFREZ THERIE TS
7 o

REWEDREAKERR
BB A % 5t 2 (B A
17 -

R B R 8K A B E 535
PR -

FZERBAZEXBEIERR
EMARZHXEE -



44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Details of the Group’s trade balances
with the joint ventures and associates as
at the end of the reporting period are
included in notes 27 and 32 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Details of the amounts due to the joint
ventures and associates included in the
Group’s other payables and accruals as at
the end of the reporting period are included
in note 33 to the financial statements.

Details of the loans to the joint ventures
included in the Group’s prepayments,
deposits and other receivables as at the end
of the reporting period are included in note
28 to the financial statements.

Details of the balances of the discontinued
operation with the joint ventures and
associates of the Group as at the end of the
year are included in note 11 to the financial
statements.
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a44. FAEANLT X5 (E)

(b)

EHEEALTZERERE

() REEHPR AEEHR
BELERBERNAZ
BHEHRZFT DB
A LB 75 R R M i 27 &%
32 °

(i) MMEHR BEIXRE
EAEPEREE QR
ZRERREAEEZ
HtmENRERBERE
B2 B E A I B R
&M £33 -

(i) RAIEHR G maEd
EREERBEEASE
BErEMHRE - Be Rk
H b BRI 2 5 A
B It B 7S 3R K M A
28 °

(iv) RAFER - AN&EBH
EREREERZAE
¥ RBE NG 2 &5
2R BH R B ®RER
B 5E11 o



@ Digital China Holdings Limited 2015 Annual Report

Notes to Financial Statements B 75 3R 2= i &=
31 December 2015 —ZE—HAFE+=-_HA=+—H

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44 FAEALTRS(E)
(Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management (c) AEERAREBEAEZR
personnel of the Group )

2015 2014

—E—REF —E—pE

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BEETT BEET T

Short term employee benefits REEERA 29,043 13,958
Post-employment benefits B 1E & %E T 164 150
Share-based compensation ARt 212 Bl & 5 (3,618)

Total compensation paid to key S{J#ARIREEAE

management personnel =1 FEE 29,212 10,490
Further details of directors’ emoluments are EHREEMe 2 E—FPFHEBE

included in note 8 to the financial statements. B A Lt B 7S 3R < BT RE8 o
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45 RfEEIS 22T E

CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RMERR - SBTREER 2K
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting HEMT:

period are as follows:

2015
Financial assets

—_E—IF

Available-

for-sale

Loans and LHOGERHE]
receivables assets Total

EXRER AHEEZ
ME SHREE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BE¥®TRT BETR BT

Finance lease receivables FE U B & & KB 371,703 — 371,703
Available-for-sale investments AHEECERE — 596,603 596,603
Accounts and bills receivables FEWERR kR EWKEE 38,700,923 — 3,700,923
Financial assets included in BERBERMFIE -
prepayments, deposits and = K& Hth FE UK
other receivables HPZoREE 1,395,635 — 1,395,635
Restricted bank balances PR 88 17 45 fR 69,654 — 69,654
Cash and cash equivalents BekREeEFEEY 3,272,212 — 3,272,212
8,810,127 596,603 9,406,730

Financial liabilities

THEE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

BEEKATE

Accounts and bills payables

& IR &% R R &

Financial liabilities included in other BEREMEMNRERIERE BT

payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

ZERAE
M B ERITER

ZEMAE
HK$'000
BETR

2,005,817

1,402,029
6,511,681

9,919,527
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 45. B fER eIy 2E£mIT A

(Continued) (48)

2014 —E-M0mF

Financial assets T EE
Financial

assets at fair
value through

profit or loss Available-for-
— held for Loans and sale financial
trading receivables assets Total
BATEE
AEEEMN
TREE — Rk  AHHEZ
HIEEE JE WA TREE st
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BET T BETT

Finance lease receivables Ed R E R EHRE — 7,686 - 7,686
Available-for-sale investments AHHEZRE — — 2,916,433 2,916,433
Accounts and bills receivables FEUBR A & R R 4 — 9,601,923 — 9,601,923
Financial assets included in BERENKIE -
prepayments, deposits and Ee R EAMmER
other receivables RERZ 2/
BE — 1,054,836 — 1,054,836
Derivative financial instruments $T4 € R T E 32,841 — — 32,841
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEEY — 4,119,557 — 4119,557

32,841 14,784,002 2,916,433 17,733,276

Financial liabilities ZTHEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REHEKANGE
Zemas
HK$’'000
BT T
Accounts and bills payables JERBR R K JE T R 1B 10,301,179
Financial liabilities included in other BEREMENRIERERERAHR
payables and accruals ZERAasE 2,552,466
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BB RITER 8,124,987

20,978,632




46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERABRCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments not measured at fair value, other
than available-for-sale investments measured at cost
included in non-current assets, of which the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the directors are of the opinion that fair value cannot
be measured reliably, and those with carrying amounts
approximated to their fair values largely due to the
short term maturities or floating interest-bearing of
these instruments, are as follows:

Carrying amounts

fREE

2015
—EB-RE
HK$’'000
BT T

TRMEE
J& W B A T B FOR

Financial assets
Finance lease receivables

371,703
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46. AFBEEREMIAZA
FEEFR

RESRFERBEE ZIRKAGE
MAHEEZRENGENAF(E
ERFHEERN  EFERAREQT
EETEASEFE  ARHENEH
AR BB ST A
ZEREE SRR FEEREAIN
AEBEARRZIFARFEER
EZeRMITAZEREEREQTE
BHIRIT

Fair values
AFHE
2015 2014
ZE-IF pEmlguks
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT

2014
—E-mF
HK$'000
BT

7,686 377,268 8,414

The fair value of the financial assets are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair value:

The fair value of the finance lease receivables have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

TREEZAFEENLZTIARA
BR57 (MFREARFRIHE)E
AIXZTZAIRZEBARK ° AT
TERBRERREE A FEE:

EUBMEBEERENLFEESE
BRRBEERR  EERRENG
B HAHAR AR AT 5t T AL 2 Ay T 3R
KTRBARKRERAE -
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 46. AFEBERERESMIEZA

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL FREREFLRE)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs LNTAERZE—AF+=A=+—
to the valuation of financial instruments together with A e TEAENERNTIBE
a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December FMEEREACHRED T
2015: 2
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable input Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
BREPA EATTBRERINER #E EREHQAFEENHBE
Finance lease receivables Discounted cash flow Discount rate method 7% 50% increase (decrease) in discount rate

would result in decrease (increase) in fair

value by HK$16,371,000 (HK$18,433,000)
e R & BRBEREE BRIR % 7% BRER =IO 2)B0% - HERIEL FE

{8 #5238 hn) 7% # 16,371,000 7T (75 #

18,433,0007T)

Fair value hierarchy AFEESR

The following tables illustrate the fair value TRITNASEECHMTIAZ R FE
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial B EER:

instruments:

Assets measured at fair value /5("-‘72 BlETENEE

As at 31 December 2015 —FE-aFt-HA=1+—H

Fair value measurement using

AFREHBEA

Quoted prices  Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

HEBHSE EATERE EXTITBRRZ

H]RE Lol ES EOlSES At
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(&) (B&=) (BH=)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETR BT T BETR

Listed equity investments included in BEITHEEZREN
available-for-sale investments ErRgEREE 186,926 = = 186,926
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 46. AFEEESHTIAZA

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL TEEEZFR(E)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEFEBESHRGE)
Assets measured at fair value (Continued) R FEETENEE (&)
As at 31 December 2014 RZFE—WEf—H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
NREEBEFEEH
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observahble unobservable
markets inputs inputs
EEHME EAUTERI EATATHRE
B W E WHEE MEZx et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(Z4—) (EH=) (E%=)
HK$000  HK$'0OO HK$000  HK$'0OO
BT BEFT BT BEFT
Listed equity investments included in BEAFEHEZREN
available-for-sale investments FEERE 355,298 - — 355,298
Derivative financial instruments ThEemIA — 32,841 — 32,841
355,298 32,841 — 388,139
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured RZE—hER-ZF-—MNFE+=A
at fair value as at 31 December 2015 and 31 =t—H AEEBWEFAARFE
December 2014. EBEFEMAE -
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RAFERN 2MEENRER—
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no FEZ—_2HABEEBAFEE
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial assets 2 MRER=ZMEE A E L

(2014: Nil). (ZE—mF:F)-
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

CAFEEEEMIAZA
FREEFRER)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed

As at 31 December 2015

Quoted prices
in active
markets

EEBHE

B ] E
(Level 1)
(B&-)
HK$'000
BETT

Finance lease receivables

e E & ROR —

AFEEZRE)
N
—F-AEt=A=t—H

Fair value measurement using
AT EEFEER
Significant
observable
inputs
EATERE
HEZ
(Level 2)
(E&=)
HK$'000

Significant
unobservable
inputs
ERTUHED
HEE
(Level 3)
(B&=
HK$'000
BETR

HK$'000
BRI

— 377,268 377,268

As at 31 December 2014

R-F—F+—H=+—H

Fair value measurement using

NFEENELEA

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

EEHTIE EAUBRESN EXTAHET
H R E R x B A% @t

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(FH—) (FH) (FH=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB TT BETT BETT
Finance lease receivables FEU Bl & A E B — — 8,414 8,414




47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s capital expenditure and operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
accounts and bills receivables and accounts and bills
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions,
including principally forward currency contracts. The
purpose is to manage the currency risks arising from
the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, market risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.
The Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives
are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
borrowings with floating interest rates.

At 31 December 2015, HK$5,556,893,000 (2014:
HK$7,711,223,000) of the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings bore interest at floating rates. The Group
believes that the exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates is minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings).

MBI ERAR 20156 ] @
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47. UHEBEEERERBUE

BROTEmIN  AEEZEEEHT
HEBRMERTERERE RS
HFEY - ZFeRTANTIZAE
ERAREZERAAXREESS
B  AKEERZREAMBEHME
ERBE fIEEBRRETERE
EZREERR R ERERIALE
NEREENERE -

AEBFFLMETARS - Hep
TEERENMERSL  FTUAM
REFAREEXGEERBRERE
ERINER R

AREBSRIAERMELEZEZIER
B AT =R  mBERE - INER
B EERBRETREMERER - EF
eRITLEEAEESBERR 2K
RABABRERBLOT - KEBEN
EETETEM ST BERE A I
KM E2.4 o

A = & b
AEBFEG 2T SN EZEHE R
TREARNKEZFIPNEABZE
REW -

R—ZE—RF+_A=+—
H AEBEZ2HMEERAEBE
5,556,893,000 7t (= & — /g 4 :
FE#£7.711,223,0007T) 31557 8 7
KETE o A BREEER 2 TS T
RSB R B EMY -

REBEMA  TRERA DAL
FI2 58 (77 H A 2 BURSS F 2)
4 B BT % FI G B BRI %
B2 M B NHE -
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

47. UHEEEEERERBUE

(48)
R 2 @, B ()

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit before tax
basis points for the year

EREHA - TEERBANE
(BEAK) FU4E 0, (Rl 2)

HK$'000
BT T
31 December 2015 —E-hF+=ZA=+—H
HK$ borrowings BB ER 100 (55,569)
HKS$ borrowings BB ER (100) 55,569
31 December 2014 —E-NUFE+=_A=+—H
HK$ borrowings BEER 100 (46,231)
HK$ borrowings BEER (100) 46,231
Market risk ™ % & k2

The Group trades in financial instruments including
derivatives.

Market risk represents the risk that the fair values
or future cash flows of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in market variables, such as
interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The Group is
exposed to market risk through its derivative financial
instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
These exposures mainly arise from purchases by
operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. Approximately 22% (2014:
28%) of the Group’s purchases were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of
the operating units making the purchase. In order to
minimise the impact of foreign exchange exposure, the
Group has entered into forward currency contracts
with creditworthy banks to manage its exchange rate
exposure.

AEEEESRTABRENAT
Ao

AR IR R TR B BRI
SHNERBTERSMIAY ATE
ERARR S REBHEE A
SRES Y PO IR eIl
A -

SN R By

REBAERSGEBRR o £ il[E
B BRNEEEMIAEMNINEE
BLANEEEITTZHREE - AEEAE
#22% (ZZ— U : 28%) 2 K&
ARBE S BB I RE AN &
¥EDIME - A s R EINERR 2
& AEBEHENERZRITRIL
RHEESAONEBEEERER



47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the RMB exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the continuing operation of
the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the
fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).
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47. UHEEREEBERBR
(48)
5h 5 B (4)
TEBRRREBAEA DR ET

BOEAT  AEBFEQELE

A B 2 7
ENATEESH)WRARKE
BRI RN -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit before tax

RMB rate for the year
ARBER KEERBADET
EH (B 21, O 4)
% HK$’000
B BT T
31 December 2015 “E-RF+-A=+—H
If RMB weakens against US$ EARBHEEETRER (1 (32,589)
If RMB strengthens against US$ # A R % £ T2 1 32,589
31 December 2014 —F-MmE+-A=+—H
If RMB weakens against US$ EANREBHEEETRER (1) (49,414)
If RMB strengthens against US$ # A R ¥ 0¥ 3 T B2 #E 1 49,414
Credit risk EERE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEBEEEERAREEBEZD
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers NBEETRS c NEBZHE =

who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-
for-sale financial investments, other receivables and
certain derivative instruments, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

HEMBEERERIZEFP#ET
FERZERIN - 1ty BURIELE
BRI IS B E R EEITEE -
AEEEH 2 ERRRIRK o

AEBEMBEREE (BFRE MR
SHEEY AHRLEZSRERE -
HitBUWHKBARE TITETA)Z

EREN BEEE’%&%;T?L%’]F)?
B MATAE 2 & R REEE
E’\\uZﬁI,E:ZEEETE
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47 HERAKEEBERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral. Over 90% of the Group’s customers
and operations are located in Mainland China.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by industry
sector and customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts and bills
receivables of the continuing operations are disclosed
in note 27 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers
the maturity of both its financial instruments and
financial assets (e.g., accounts and bills receivables)
and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank borrowings and other available
sources of finances. In addition, banking facilities have
been put in place for contingency purposes.

The maturity profile of the continuing operations of the
Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

(4&)

=&k (E)
HRAREERERTMEEBE
ZWHAMEETRS  HERREH
HR - AEEBBIONZ TP KX
B RFEKE - EEETEAR
RITEBOREFER -

Hth B ARBERECEXBEY
SRR E LY ST ES
BEANGEERRZELCHESR
T Lk B 75 R AR M 527 e

B R R

AEEXRAEREEUERDE 5T
FTAERESHRNER - % T
EERESLSMTARSHMEE
(WM ERR M EKRRE) 2 2IHA
UERELEFH2ANEERS

RZESTE
/ﬁi"

AEEZBEREBERNERT
ERUAREMATBRSGZERRIR
HBESEEERERFE 2T E -
AN - AREBIEEIS R 1T R E LA
ERZR e

ATHIIAEERFBEREEEBRER
THRRzZEMBEINHERER
RIHMEARR IR KA E) ¢

2015
—¥-1fF

3 to Less Over
Less than than 12 1to5
On demand 3 months months years 5 years Total

=z

BE  =EANT t=EAR —ZR% BBEF it
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT EETFR BET T BET T BET T EETFR

Interest-bearing bank borrowings MHERITER — 1,707,256 2,776,531 1,798,524 855,689 7,138,000
Accounts and bills payables Y ET 1,621,240 384,430 147 - — 2,005,817

Financial liabilities included in other B & A HALfE( FIE R TE IR
payables and accruals BERTZeMAR 826,584 201,593 373,852 — — 1,402,029

2,447,824 2,293,279 3,150,530 1,798,524 855,689 10,545,846
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47 HEERKEEHERBSE

- ==
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (#8)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B L B ()
2014
—T-puE
3 to Less
Less than than 12 Over 1 to
On demand 3 months months 5 years 5 years Total
=z
BN R ZEANUT  TZ@EAR —ZRF BBRF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BB T BB BB BEFT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M2 RITER — 3,694,626 3,445,951 1,080,729 — 8,221,306
Accounts and bills payables AT BR T BT R B 1,643175 8,533111 124,862 31 — 10,301179
Financial liabilities included in other &5 R H {58 R HE iR
payables and accruals BERTZOMERE 1,713,793 222,214 616,459 — — 2,552,466
3,356,968 12,448,951 4,187,272 1,080,760 — 21,074,951
. Py~ =t
Capital management ERERE

AEEEAEEZEERNERT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital

management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristic of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

R AR EAR 215 R EME
FZBEALEUSBEEBERLEE
RERREE-

RNEEEIRE AN A RIBIRE
R 2 B R A E R R B A R E
AR o REER LB BAZ YR
RRZEZRSE - MRREEELAR
BT ARF AR E AL -
RNEEW ENBETHINIEARE
ke REBEE-_ZE—RAFR_-_ZT—
F+-A=+—BItFEER &2
RIZEAEEBEE BRERRFIT
mEE A o
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. The
Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio as low
as possible. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, accounts and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital represents equity attributable to equity holders
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

MHEEREEBEERBR
(48)

BAEE ()
AEBERAESBERERAS
e T B AR HE R A B A AN
8 R 2 A H - AR BB R
EAEREBTRGAEABLEER
HIEAE - AEFEEEN SRS
B EAERRENER - Hi
EAREREREARESRAS
@Y - BRRNG AR FEL
- RIRER 2 AERERD

=
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—F-AF —TmeF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Mt ERITER 6,511,681 8,124,987
Accounts and bills payables JE BR R 2 JE T R 1R 2,005,817 10,301,179
Other payables and accruals H b JE T 3RIE
BRREM 2,254,933 4,021,434
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BoReMBSEED (3,272,212) (4119,557)
Restricted bank balances PR 6 4R 17 45 BR (69,654) —
Net debt BEFHE 7,430,565 18,328,043
Equity attributable to equity holders £} AR &8
of the parent JE {5 #EE 2% 8,872,567 8,600,356
Total capital FERE /N 8,872,567 8,600,356
Total capital and net debt MERNMBEFHE 16,303,132 26,928,399
Gearing ratio BEAEGBE 46% 68%




48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) On 8 March 2016, the Company was confirmed
by Shenxin Taifeng that the required procedures
for change of shareholders of Digital China Group
have been completed on 7 March 2016 and
therefore the disposal of Digital China Group has
been completed on 7 March 2016 in accordance
with the terms of the share transfer agreement
signed by Digital China Limited, the Company
and Shenxin Taifeng (the “Completion”). Upon
Completion, the Digital China Group ceased to be
subsidiaries of the Company. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 8
March 2016.

(b) On 21 March 2016, the Company has
received the consideration (after deducting the
applicable tax] of BMB3.76 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$4.46 hillion) for the disposal of
Digital China Group and a special cash dividend
(the “Special Cash Dividend”) of HK$3.20 per
share of the Company, amounting to approximately
HK$3.5 billion in total, was declared and will
be payable on or around 19 April 2016 to
shareholders of the Company. The details of
Special Cash Dividend have been disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 March
2016.

49. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial
statements, due to the implementation of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the
current vyear, the presentation and disclosures
of certain items and balances in the financial
statements have been revised to comply with the
new requirements. Accordingly certain comparative
amounts have been restated to conform with the
current year’s presentation and disclosures. In
additions, the comparative consolidated statement
of profit or loss has been re-presented as if the
operation discontinued during the current year had
been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative
period (note 11).
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48. HEHAREIE

(a) RZZT—R"F=ANB ' AR
RIERERERER  EE
MEBHEERENTSE FE
ERZE—A"F=ZAEHE
B Bt R IRA N SRS A R
RE] - ARRRREREEE]
MR EEERENER B
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ARBI7BEIT(HE RN B
44618 T) MARE &K
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50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 50. AASHBEKRRR
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of R ERRERAR T BB AR EK
the Company as the end of the reporting period is as ZER:
follows:
2015 2014
“E-1% —Z-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
(Restated)
(ZE5)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BRERSE 97 163
Investments in subsidiaries REBAR KRB 847,969 847,937
Total non-current assets BIETEBAEE 848,066 848,100
CURRENT ASSETS TBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRI FE - & K E A EWRZIE 56,389 45,652
Due from subsidiaries FE Y B B 1 R 3R B 5,871,337 5,414,885
Cash and cash equivalents e RhBsEEY 336,753 3,641
Total current assets BRHEE 6,264,479 5,464,178
CURRENT LIABILITIES TEBAE
Other payables and accruals HERRERERER 18,969 16,828
Due to subsidiaries ERHBARHRE 80,634 3,169,122
Interest-bearing bank borrowings MEHRITER 1,628,750 —
Total current liabilities ATEERE 1,728,353 3,185,950
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 4,536,126 2,278,228
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBERE 5,384,192 3,126,328
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EHITER 387,500 —
Total non-current liabilities BIERBAE 387,500 —
Net assets EERE 4,996,692 3,126,328
EQUITY iR
Issued capital BRIRA 109,637 109,374
Reserves [note] (2) 4,887,055 3,016,954

Total equity BRAE 4,996,692 3,126,328
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50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 50. AASHBEIKRRTR(E)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Bt
A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows: KRB 2 REERIEQOT :
Employee
Share share-based
premium  Contributed Employee compensation Retained
account surplus share trust reserve profits Total
(Restated)
BRBXZM
BERE EEZ
IR 13 5 18 IR BAER g MemE REEF fkay
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT BT BT T
(Restated)
[€:3=-27)]
At 1 January 2014 R-ZT—HFE—-A—H 2,080,433 623,689 (369,897) 132,685 603,837 3,050,747
Loss for the year and total FEEBEBRRAFE
comprehensive loss for the year 2HEBEBE — — — — (3,656) (3,656)
Share-based compensation MOz e - - - (20,129) - (20,129)
Vesting of shares under the R PRI AR 17 52 B 5t B 69
restricted share award scheme BERMN — — 67,440 (77.448) — (10,008)
At 31 December 2014 R-F—NF
+=ZRA=+—8 2,060,433 623,689 (302,457) 35,108 600,181 3,016,954
Final 2014 dividend declared ZZ-MEBEIR
REBE - - — — (214,454)  (214,454)
Profit for the year and total AEEEBR
comprehensive income for the rEELHE
year BReE — — — — 2,069,311 2,069,311
Exercise of share options TEBRE 20,047 = = (4,837) = 15,210
Share-based compensation ABRHZE 2z - - - 34 - 34
At 31 December 2015 RZT—hF

+ZA=+—H 2,080,480 623,689 (302,457) 30,305 2,455,038 4,887,055
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50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

91.

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of
the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to a corporate reorganisation in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
Under the Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended) and the Bye-
Laws of the Company, the contributed surplus can be distributed to
the shareholders, provided that the Company will be able to pay its
liabilities as they fall due, and subsequent to the distribution, the
aggregate amount of its total liabilities as well as the issued share
capital and premium is less than the realisable value of its assets.

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair
value of options or RSUs granted under the share-based incentive
schemes which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for employee benefits in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options/RSUs are exercised/
transferred, or be transferred to retained profits should the related
options/RSUs expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2016.

FINANCIAL

50. ZAB M F KA R(E)

o91.

Hiat: (%)

KRB ZBANBBRIEBRBEREHEARF RN
EEBRAER EMMETZ-RAAREAM
WHERBARZRHEAFEESNRART
EARBMETZBRMABELEHE - BRER
RERBEREFD RARB ZAFHAE -
BABRKRADIKTRR  HEARBLABRE
NEEFNRZEY  MEZBAD KR AR
Az BERARBETRAREEDERE
EEMAEHRME-

VARR 1 32 15 8 B 2 B & (&% ff el AR R AR BB =1 81
TZBET i ARTT AR R SR R I AR
Rz AFEEBK  FBEH LB HRRMN
H2AH AR NN ZE A BRNEE -
HRIRE A/ RRBIRODTE/BER &
RETEESESAROGRER  XEHH
B/ ZIRBIRR D B ik R AR - EA
REMEF o

MEBERRZ2EE

HHBRRER-_ZT—RF=A=
THhEKEEHEREET % -



Particulars of Properties #7% &

Investment properties as at 31 December 2015:

Location

i 2h

Usage
A7
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==
B

R-E—RF+_A=+—"HzZzE&EY

E

Tenure

F 1

Attributable
interest of the
Group

FE 15 % 52

Digital China Xi'an Science and
Technology Park,

No. 20 Zhangba 4th Street,
Xi'an Gaoxin Technology
Development District,

Xi'an, Shaanxi Province,

The PRC

hERAEE
AXmeMRMERMER
SO\ #5205
NS B R E

Digital China Wuhan Science and
Technology Park,

North of Da Shu Road East,
East of Guang Gu Road,

Wuhan Donghu Technology
Development District,

Wuhan, Hubei Province,

The PRC
REHIEE
REMRBHRMAER
HEBRENR

REF R

A48 M B BUE B R E

Office building
NN

Office building
NN

Medium term lease

RHEIE X

Medium term lease

PHEIE X

100%

100%
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Particulars of Properties #1% =15

Attributable
interest of the

Location Usage Tenure Group
Ho B Ag F 5 iR
Digital China Qilin Street, Office building Medium term lease 100%
Science and Technology Innovation Park, #% /2 K1 R ERAE 4

Jiangning District,

Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
The PRC

BT # A

EARTIER

BB BN BB REHE

Digital China Chongging Science and Office building Medium term lease 100%
Technology Park, E/NYN = Hr BR AR 49

No. 24 and 26, Science and
Technology Innovation Park,
Hong Hu Road West,

Yubei District,

Chongging Province,

The PRC

hEEET IR

8 78 24 2 265K B X Bl ¥ B
MNBEEERRE

Digital China Kunshan Logistics Park, Logistics and storage Medium term lease 100%
No. 1 Shuang He Road, Yk E RERAR A

Dian Shan Hu Town,

Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province,
The PRC

REL & A

B2 WL TR ORR 1L 8 $R

S FER15%

NS B L in B

Digital China Shenyang Logistics Park, Logistics and storage Medium term lease 100%
No. 2 Cangchudongyi Street, i & B f ERH 40

Hunnan District,

Shenyang, Liaoning Province,

The PRC

TEREESR
LEmERRAFR—EH25%
MBS OLIS) BEF BB EFXEH
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Particulars of Properties )% 5£15

Attributable
interest of the

Location Usage Tenure Group
o B Az F bR
Digital China Wuhan Logistic Park, Logistics and storage Medium term lease 100%
No. 81 Gaoxin 4th Street Road, W & B & AR A
Donghu Technology Development District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province,
The PRC
FEBIEE
% T BREA R B 1 B 3 R
= #T U B 615
MINBBEREZEFEABERXRE N
Digital China Jinan Logistics Park, Logistics and storage Medium term lease 100%
No. 1459-2 Keyuan Road, DTSR ] FERFE A9
Sun Town,
High-tech Industrial Development Zone,
Jinan, Shandong Province,
The PRC
PEILRE
7 TH = BT R 1 R 3 R
BRI BEEXE
BHE B 1459-25%
BNBBEEEFRBERE
Properties under development as at 31 December 2015: RZZE—RAF+ZA=+—HZEEY
g
Total GFA
attributable
The to the Group’s Expected
Group’s interest date of
Property interest Location (’000 sq.m) Usage completion
FENAEER
rEE BEEEE
LIS EiEER LE (FFFHK) HBE FEH 5T THFR
Digital China 100% Digital China Qilin Street, 161  Office building 2017
Information Service Science and Technology WAKRE
Industry Base Park, Jiangning District,
fe | B Ik T A B Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
RISEXE M The PRC
FETEA

MR ER
BB 15 B 1 N B B R B
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Completed properties held for

sale as at 31 December

R-B-—RAF+ A=+ —HZFHEHE

2015: FZERRTY %
Total GFA
attributable
to the Group’s
The Group’s interest
Property interest Location (000 sq.m) Usage
BERLAEEN
EEEE
LIE S EihEz LB (FEEXK) AR
Guanggu Zhihui Park 100% Digital China Wuhan Science 75 Office building
RARBEER and Technology Park, WARE

North of Da Shu Road East,
East of Guang Gu Road,
Wuhan Donghu Technology
Development District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province,
The PRC

HREH L&

BOE MR E R
KARBIUAR

K EF R EE AL

B 2RES EUE R R
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Five-Year Financial Summary AFEHEE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities REBBARAETBREEREEE QM
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last KEEZMBFERZEE BAE BER
five financial years, as extracted from the published JEERERBENAT -

audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as

appropriate, is set out below.

==
RESULTS e
Year ended Year ended Nine months ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March 31 March
2015 2014 2013 2013 2012
BECZ-1F kgl HE-Z-=F HE-T-=Ff HZ2-T—=F
T=EETr=F +-A=+-H +-A=+-H =A=1+-AH =R=+—H
tEE IEFE IEAMEA EFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BETT BETT BETT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(B E75)) (B E75)) (E7) (=30)
REVENUE FROM CONTINUING RESEEY
OPERATIONS ZBA 10,630,672 12,156,231 8,355,200 9,860,768 9,038,842
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BREAMER(F8) 670,879 599,985 (794,994) 517,015 471,66
Income tax expense FEHER (207,371) (89,904) (57,187) (99,874) (43,580)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR/ HECEER
PERIOD FROM CONTINUING AEE /48
OPERATIONS wH/ (B8) 463,508 510,081 (852,161) 47141 427,586
Profit for the year/period from a  JFHELLEK 2
discontinued operation KEE/BAREF 462,207 392,169 389,517 1,102,011 911,102
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR/ rEE/
PERIOD BEEF 925,715 902,250 (462,644) 1,159,152 1,338,688
Attributable to: GER:
Equity holders of the parent BRARBRRER 661,676 700,953 84,103 1,367,369 1,244,813
Non-controlling interests FERER 264,039 201,297 (546,747) 151,783 93,875

925,715 902,250 (462,644) 1,518,152 1,338,688
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

EE BRAE ERER

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March

2015 2014 2013 2013 2012

—g-5f ~“E-mEF ZE-ZFT —F-=F —E-Cf

+=A=t+-H TZA=t-H ZA=t-H =A=t+-H ZA=t-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

TOTAL ASSETS BEE 37,486,363 33,707,772 30,099,973 28,407,870 26,821,783
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEE (26,192,046) (22,843,597) (21,053,585) (19,736,736) (19,298,356)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERES (2,421,750) (2,263,819) (1,320,511) (844,636) (702,240)
8,872,567 8,600,356 7,725,877 7,826,498 6,821,187
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman)
Mr. LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer]

Non-executive Director
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter

Dr. LIU Yun, John

Ms. YAN Xiaoyan

Mr. LAl Daniel, BBs, JP

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. WONG Chi Keung

REGISTERED OFFICE
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Suite 2008, 20/F., Devon House, Taikoo Place
979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

CITIC Bank International Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
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{52 4T /)N 48
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Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda
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LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong law:

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton (Hong Kong)
Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong

As to Bermuda law:
Appleby

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young (Certified Public Accountants)

SHARE REGISTRARS

Bermuda

Appleby Management (Bermuda) Ltd.*
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

Hong Kong

Tricor Abacus Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

PLACE OF LISTING OF SHARES AND STOCK

CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 00861

Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation
Taiwan Depository Receipts
Stock Code: 910861

WEBSITE

www.dcholdings.com.hk

* Change of name to Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited with effect
from 15 April 2016

ERERE
B
£ 7| (55 75) 22 6 26 75 P
HRERKEHREES

B REZXE:
Appleby

1% B3 B
2% Sl ESICES S

% 38 5 & 5L 2

BRE

Appleby Management (Bermuda) Ltd.*
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

58
BERBHER AT
BEBERNERI83%
& A 2RE

Rz 3 b i 3t B % Bk 5 X0 50k

EEBMAERIMERRQA
Bt 5% : 00861

ABBERFMBABRAR
£ 17 R

f% 17 X 5% : 910861

4t

www.dcholdings.com.hk

* H-E-—AFHOATHAR ZWERE

[Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited]



Suite 2008, 20/F., Devon House, Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
&R B FOBRE BI795 K & U1 2 2 K E20#22008%F

Tel & 7% +852 3416 8000

Fax{E & +852 2805 5991

www.dcholdings.com.hk
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